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Iziko is an isiXhosa word, meaning
‘hearth’, traditionally and symbolically the social
centre of the home; a place associated with warmth,
kinship and ancestral spirits. Here food is prepared and shared,
stories are told and knowledge passed from one generation to
the next. Similarly, the museums that make up Iziko are spaces for
cultural interaction. We are proud to ignite connections between our
shared history, our heritage, and each other.
– South African Museum and Planetarium
– South African National Gallery
– Maritime Centre, including the museum ship, SAS Somerset
– Slave Lodge Museum
– William Fehr Collection (at the Castle of Good Hope)
– Michaelis Collection (at the Old Town House)
– Rust en Vreugd Museum
– Bertram House Museum
– Koopmans-de Wet House Museum
– Groot Constantia Museum
– Bo-Kaap Museum
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Visitor viewing Igshaan Adams’ work in Filling in the Gaps, an exhibition drawn from more recent acquisitions
of the permanent collections of ISANG.
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1  |  G E N E R A L
I N F O R M AT I O N
Lusanda Dymani during the performance of UmHa: I am here to report a crime, curated and directed by Chuma Sopotela,
the 2018 Standard Bank Young Artist Award (SBYAA) winner for performance art. Museum Night 2019 at ISANG.
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– SUNRISE / BIRTH

1.1 Strategic Overview
1.1.1 Foundation

Iziko Museums of South Africa (Iziko) is a Schedule
3A Public Entity and an agency of the national
Department of Arts and Culture (DAC), bringing
together the national museums of the Western Cape
under a single governance and leadership structure.

Iziko was thus envisaged as a space for all South
Africans to gather, nourish body and soul, and share
stories and knowledge passed from one generation
to the next. Iziko seeks to celebrate our heritage
whilst generating new cultural legacies for future
generations, and a society that has moved beyond
the shackles of the past.

In terms of the Cultural Institutions Act, 1998 (Act No.
119 of 1998), five national museums in the Western
Cape - the South African Cultural History Museum,
South African Museum, South African National
Gallery, the William Fehr Collection, and the Michaelis
Collection - were amalgamated as the Southern
Flagship Institution (SFI).

The three ‘flames’ in our hearth logo represent the
three collections brought together in our museums:
Social History (ochre); Art (red); and Natural History
(green). These are made accessible to learners and the
public through education and public programmes.

Iziko comprises the following museums, each with its
own history and character: • South African Museum
& Planetarium and Digital Dome • South African
National Gallery • Maritime Centre, SAS Somerset
being de-accesioned and decommissioned • Slave
Lodge Museum • William Fehr Collection at the Castle
of Good Hope • Michaelis Collection at the Old Town
House • Rust en Vreugd Museum • Bertram House
Museum • Koopmans-de Wet House Museum • Groot
Constantia Museum • Bo-Kaap Museum
In addition, the renovated Social History Centre on
Church Square provides a state-of-the-art facility
to accommodate our Social History collections and
library. The Natural History Library is located at the
South African Museum, and the Art Library in the
Annexe adjacent to the South African National Gallery.
Iziko has successfully operated a Mobile Museum
outreach programme for the past 16 years.

1.1.2 Vision
Iziko museums are African museums of excellence
that empower and inspire all people to celebrate and
respect our diverse heritage.

1.1.3 Mission
• To manage and promote Iziko’s unique combination
of South Africa’s heritage collections, sites and
services for the benefit of present and future
generations.
• To continuously innovate and transform our heritage
institutions to meet the needs of our democracy and
serve our public.

1.1.4 Values
•
•
•
•
•

In July 2001, the SFI was officially renamed Iziko
Museums of Cape Town, and in September 2012,
renamed Iziko Museums of South Africa. The name,
Iziko, an isiXhosa word, meaning ‘hearth’, embodies
the spirit of a transformed institution and our vision
of ‘African Museums of Excellence’. The hearth is
traditionally and symbolically the social centre of the
home; a place associated with warmth, kinship and
the spirits of ancestors.

•
•
•
•

Ubuntu - ‘I am because of you’
Community engagement and social responsiveness
Batho Pele - ‘Putting people first’
Empower and inspire our visitors through education
and research
Communication and information sharing – Ongoing,
open and honest communication and sharing of
information
Develop and sustain mutually beneficial local and
international partnerships
Professional, dependable and consistent
service excellence
Mutual trust, respect, equality, honesty and dignity Treat everyone fairly and uphold human dignity
Good and transparent financial governance

1.1.5 Strategic Outcome Orientated Goals of the Institution
Iziko’s goals are:

Strategic Outcome
Orientated Goal 1
Goal Statement

Strategic Outcome
Orientated Goal 2
Goal Statement

Strategic Outcome
Orientated Goal 3
Goal Statement

Administration
To ensure that Iziko is governed and managed efficiently and effectively to provide an enabling
environment for our core functions departments to successfully manage, develop, showcase and
transform our collections in terms of our heritage mandate and long-term vision.

Collections (Business Development)
To manage, grow and improve access to our collections, address unethical collection practices and improve
capacity, productivity and relevance of research. To digitise collections as a means to register heritage
assets for GRAP 103 and for providing online access. To present diverse public events, and develop and
improve corporate services to ensure an enabling environment to deliver on our heritage mandate.

Audience Development (Public Engagement)
Working together to refine and enhance communication with our visitors, to grow our audience and
sustain it, to enhance access and offer multiple visitor experiences, to involve and engage visitors.
To develop and execute an exhibition and public programmes plan that responds to the needs of
our diverse audiences through enriching and enabling programmes in the areas of art, natural and
social history. To train and offer teacher enrichment support. To increase our audience through
greater awareness of what Iziko has to offer through outreach and special needs programmes,
commemorative day campaigns, integrated marketing and communication, and the development of
our website as a knowledge resource. Furthermore, Iziko seeks to position itself to attract further
investment from public and private donors and sustain and develop strategic partnerships in support
of our temporary exhibitions and programmes, as well as the transformation of museums and
permanent exhibitions.

1.2 Legislative and Other Mandates
This report is submitted in compliance with the Constitution of the Republic of South Africa, 1996 (Act No. 108 of
1996); the Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999, as amended by Act No. 29 of 1999); Treasury
Regulations, 2001; the Cultural Institutions Act, 1998 (Act No. 119 of 1998), and other applicable Acts and Regulations.

Constitutional Mandates
The following sections of the Constitution of the Republic of South Africa, 1996 (Act No. 108 of 1996) are
relevant to Iziko:

Section of Constitution

Responsibility of Iziko

Section 31: Rights of persons belonging to a cultural,
religious or linguistic community

Iziko must ensure that its programmes and projects respect the
cultural diversity of South Africa.

Legislative Mandates
National Legislation

Responsibility of Iziko

Cultural Institutions Act (Act No. 119 of 1998)

Iziko is governed by a Council appointed by the Minister of Arts
and Culture, with duties prescribed in this Act.

Policy Mandates
Policy

Responsibility of Iziko

National White Paper on Arts, Culture and Heritage, 1996

Iziko develops its policies based on the principles set out in the
policy paper.
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Iziko Excutive Management Team, clockwise L to R: Ms Rooksana
Omar, Chief Executive Officer; Dr Bongani Ndhlovu, Executive Director
Core Functions; Ms Ronell Pedro, Chief Financial Officer;
Ms Denise Crous, Executive Director Operations.

1.3 Organisational Structure
1.3.1 Governance

Iziko is governed by a Council, appointed for a three-year
term by the Minister of Arts and Culture.
The sixth Council of Iziko was inducted in August 2016.
The Council members are:
Ambassador Dikgang Moopeloa (Chairman);
Mr Themba Wakashe; Professor Sadhasivan Perumal;
Mr Andy Mooke; Advocate Judith Leshabane;
Advocate Rod Solomons; Mr Tshimangadzo Nemaheni
(resigned from Council on 26 January 2018);
Ms Sijabulile Makhathini; and Iziko Chief Executive Officer,
Ms Rooksana Omar, is an Ex Officio member
of Council.
The duties of Council, as described in the Cultural
Institutions Act, 1998 (Act No. 119 of 1998), are to:
• formulate policy;
• hold, preserve and safeguard all movable and
immovable property of whatever kind, placed in
the care of, or loaned, or belonging to the declared
institution concerned;
• receive, hold, preserve and safeguard all specimens,
collections or other movable property placed under
its care and management under Section 10(1)
[of the Act];

Back row, L to R: Ms Fahrnaaz Johadien, Director Support Services; Ms Susan Glanville-Zini,
Director Research and Exhibitions; Ms Thembisa Maqeda, Director Human Resources;
Mr Paul Tichmann, Director Collections and Digitisation; Front row, L to R: Mr Hylton Arnolds,
Director Education. Inset bottom: Ms Melody Kleinsmith, Director Advancement (Acting).

• raise funds for the institution;
• manage and control the monies received by the
declared institution and to utilise those monies for
defraying expenses in connection with the performance
of its functions;
• keep a proper record of the property of the declared
institution; submit to the Director-General any returns
required by him or her in regard thereto, and to cause
proper books of account to be kept;
• determine, subject to this Act and with the approval of
the Minister, the objects of the declared institution; and,
• generally, carry out the objects of the declared
institution.
In addition, the Council appoints, in consultation with
the Minister, the Chief Executive Officer (CEO); and may
determine the hours during which, and the conditions
and restrictions subject to which, the public may visit the
declared institution concerned, or portion thereof, and
the admission charges to be paid.

Sub-committees of Council
The following Committees report to the Council:
• Audit and Risk Committee
• Finance and Budget Committee
• Core Functions Committee
• Operations Committee

Members of the Iziko Council, Back row L to R: Mr Andries (Andy) Mooke; Prof. Sadhasivan Perumal; Ambassador
Dikgang Moopeloa (Chairman); Mr Themba Wakashe, Deputy Chairman; Front row, L to R: Ms Rooksana Omar,
Ex Officio member; Ms Sijabulile Makhathini. Inset top: Advocate Rod Solomons. Inset bottom: Advocate Judith
Leshabane.

1.3.2 Management

1.3.2.1 Executive Committee (EXCO)
The Corporate Governance and Compliance Committee (Exco) consists of the Chief Executive Officer (CEO),
the Executive Director Core Functions, the Executive Director Operations, and the Chief Financial Officer, with
the Director Advancement in the Office of the CEO playing a supporting role.

1.3.2.2 Senior Management Team
Iziko has three business units, namely Core Functions; Operations; and the Office of the CEO, comprising the
departments of Advancement, and Finance and Administration.
The Core Functions unit includes the departments of Collections and Digitisation; Research and Exhibitions;
and Education.
The Operations unit includes the departments of Support Services and Human Resources.
The Directors of the Core Functions and Operations units - along with the Chief Financial Officer, the Director
Advancement and the Executive Directors - constitute the Senior Management Team (SMT) of Iziko, under the
leadership of the CEO.

Iziko Management Structure

DAC Minister
Council

Council Secretary
PA to Chief
Executive Officer

Chief Executive Officer

Audit & Risk
Committee
Internal Audit Activity

PA to the
Executive Director
Core Functions

Executive
Director Core
Functions

Chief
Financial
Officer

Director Research
& Exhibitions

Director Collections
& Digitisation

Director
Education

Director
Advancement

Executive
Director
Operations

PA to the
Executive Director
Operations

Director Support
Services

Director Human
Resources
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1.4 Foreword by the Chairman
In July 2019, the
term of the sixth
Council of the Iziko
Museums of South
Africa will come
to an end. I have
been honoured and
privileged to serve
as the Chairman
of this Council of
the Iziko Museums
of South Africa
(Iziko) for two terms,
Ambassador Dikgang Moopeloa,
providing the
Chairman of Council
institution with the
strategic and policy
direction which is necessary to fulfil the objectives
of the Cultural Institutions Act, 119, 1998. Iziko has
flourished and fulfilled its mandate as the flagship
museum in the southern part of South Africa. As the
Chairman of Iziko my emphasis has been to steer
this conglomeration of museums into focussing their
energies to plan for the future so that the institution
continues to be viable, relevant and attractive to all
who use our resources. Our relevance and product
positioning is of paramount importance to the issues
and trends that museums have to deal with nationally
and globally.
The Strategic Plan of Iziko, 1 April 2015 to 31 March
2019, has been aligned to the National Development
Plan - Vision 2030. This plan dovetails with the
philosophy of the Council, which is to:
Support quality basic education:
• Contribute to a skilled, capable workforce to
support an inclusive growth path for South Africans
• Create a better South Africa and contribute to
a better Africa and a better world
• Move towards efficient, effective and developmentorientated public service
•	Endeavour to become a diverse, socially cohesive
society with a common national identity

The Ministry and Executive Authority of Arts and Culture
support “A dynamic and transformed Arts, Culture
and Heritage Sector, leading nation building through
social cohesion and socio-economic inclusion. Iziko has
been realising this vision through our multiple activities
and programmes as outlined in the Strategic Plan and
Annual Performance. At the core of Iziko’s drive to
realise this vision are new ways of presenting heritage,
new thinking about heritage value creation and the
social benefits of our collective undertakings.”
During our tenure as the sixth Council of Iziko, our
emphasis has been to shift the Iziko Museums into the
21st century. While we recognise that the museum will
always perform certain core functions, the Council
has firmly supported the path to address the issues
of decolonisation, inclusion of our visitors and publics
in our narratives, recognising the inequities of the
past and to reclaim our powerful histories (natural,
social and artistic). We have shifted our focus to build
collections to speak and represent our collective past
and not to amass collections that represent an elite.
This Council has worked hard with the Management to
change the narrative of Iziko and to support the vision
that museums provide an important social compass.
They are vital platforms for innovation, preserving our
past, providing forums for dialogue, knowledge generation
and creative thinking, and serving as vessels to promote
human rights, social inclusion and innovative thought.
The Council, the Chief Executive Officer, Rooksana
Omar, her Senior Management Team and staff at Iziko
have worked diligently during this fiscal year to make
a number of the institution’s strategic objectives come
to fruition with the following achievements:
• the Council worked towards realising the strategic
vision of this institution;
• the São José slave ship site has been declared a
National Underwater Heritage site;
• ensured that realigned structure has been adopted
recognising the impetus of the decolonisation agenda;
• improved governance and compliance;
• the Council has vigorously supported research
and consultations with experts for Iziko to become
financially sustainable to support the operations of
the museum;

• recognised that the Iziko South African Museum
will be 200 years old in 2025 and a variety of plans
and strategies have to be put in place to mark this
momentous occasion;
• supported all initiatives to upgrade and modernise
the museum by creating new agendas for exhibitions,
research, collections, education and Information
and Technology;
• continuously improving heritage management
by fulfilling the requirement for the Generally
Recognised Accounting Practice for Heritage
Assets 103 and accounting for the collections that
the institution holds;
• more much needed emphasis has been directed
towards matters pertaining to restitution and
repatriation, preparing this organisation to
participate for the international movement;
• undertook a five-year review of Iziko’s
accomplishments.

Finally, I would like to thank the members of my Council
and Audit & Risk Committee for their unstinting support,
commitment and hours of deliberations over issues
that matter to contribute to the making of Iziko.
My sincere thanks go to the CEO and the staff for their
attentiveness in the delivery of their work in making
Iziko a museum that inspires all people to celebrate
and respect our diverse heritage.

Ambassador Dikgang Moopeloa
Chairman of Council

The sixth Council continued to fast-track the pace of
change at the Iziko Museums and deepen our core focus
of social transformation, socio-economic development,
nation building and social cohesion. Our primary intention
is to contribute to showcasing our nation’s collective
heritage and diversity by supporting the agenda that
museums and collections are fundamental and valuable
resources to collective memory and activities of
our society.
Therefore, it is with great pleasure that I submit the
2018/2019 Annual Report of the sixth Council of Iziko
which is reflective of accomplishments of this Council’s
tenure. My hope is that this Annual Report clearly
demonstrates the vision my Council has created for
this institution by exploiting all the resources at our
disposal to make the Iziko Museums African Museums
of Excellence.
On behalf of myself and the Council that I have led
over the past three years, I wish to thank all for their
commitment and future thinking to make this institution
a productive asset to the nation. My heartfelt appreciation
to the Minister of the Department of Arts and Culture,
Honourable Nkosinathi Mthethwa, together with his
Director-General and staff for their ongoing support
and encouragement.
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1.5 Chief Executive Officer’s Overview
Introduction
Museums globally are undergoing rapid changes by reframing and redefining
the scope of their work, evaluating the value that they are creating for society,
breaking down the silo’s that they have previously operated within and steadfastly
evaluating their impact on visitors. The 21st century museum is becoming bold
and beginning to mirror current day issues more vehemently.
At the Iziko Museums the same dialogues have emerged and we take our audiences
and communities seriously by giving them a voice which has taken centre
stage in exhibitions, learning activities, programmes, collections and partnerships.
We pursue, embrace and forge sustainability programmes to intensify the relevance
and value of the work we do. Our undertakings are framed by the social, economic,
political, environmental and educational frameworks to support social justice,
social cohesion and life-long learning.

Ms Rooksana Omar, CEO of Iziko
Museums of South Africa

The main focus at the Iziko Museums is the creation of new thinking, new
references and new touch points to inspire all our users to unlock the path to the treasures we have in our
museums and create new collections that represents narratives that have previously been excluded from the
museum.
We aim not be dormant: we want to soar and enliven everyone’s aspiration to value and be proud of their
heritage whether this is our natural, social or artistic legacy. Iziko is working in a context where we see the
fragility of our environment, witness the challenges communities are facing and give voice to the stories that
have to be heard and our team aim to show our interconnectedness to our world.
We recognise that there are huge splits that are being formed between those that have access to education and
those that do not. Our education and public programmes are aimed at closing this divide and our staff have
made a concerted effort to ensure that the next generation understands where we come from so that they are
equipped to build a promising future. The Me Too movement and other #hashtag movements are gaining rapid
momentum and everyone is lobbying for more opportunities, funding and recognition which is underpinned by
questioning yesterday’s discourse and practice for relevance.
The decolonisation agenda of museums continues at great speed. Iziko has been preparing for how we are going
to change these narratives to deal with issues of repatriation, reparations and restitution. More than ever before,
we are aware that we exist for the public good rather than valorising the collections that have little relevance to all
of our publics.
Our strength in the sector rests in the fact that we can make changes in our thinking and offerings to enable
an equitable future for our users.
Iziko has had to become nimble and learn new ways of acting swiftly in order to be relevant and respond to wider
trends expected of arts and culture in South Africa.
Our focus is to broaden the scope of our work and embed social inclusion in our everyday operations.

Curatorial research demonstrates the value of natural
science in the current research about climate change
and, for example, the impact of increased litter on our
environment, how over-fishing is depleting fishing stocks,
etc. Through the results of careful scrutiny of our
collections, Iziko is working diligently to be a conduit for
new information.
Our museums are not just a place for nostalgia and
elite possessions or a place to showcase the exotic.
These museums are valuable byways to grapple and
engage with topics that affect our world. As a nonprofit organisation, our value is to show how the results
of our work have larger denotations and how all of
the results contribute to a just and equitable future.
We have used our repositories, social banks and intangible
wealth to pursue public good and to redistribute this
to provide meaning and value to our users and visitors.
It is within this context that I present the Iziko Museums
of South Africa’s (Iziko) Annual Report 2018/2019 which
illustrates the work that this conglomerate of museums
has accomplished over the past financial year.

1. Audience development and education
Iziko is committed to continually improving and
transforming its exhibitions, education, public programmes,
community outreach, online portals and other
offerings to meet the needs and expectations of
existing audiences, while developing and engaging
new audiences.
Expanding access for youth to our knowledge resources
and collections in support of educational imperatives
while ensuring experiential and inspired learning
experiences is fundamental to this process.
In March 2019, a unique new exhibition, aimed at
proactively contributing towards audience development
and education, entitled Tribute, opened at the Iziko
South African National Gallery. This exhibition was
curated from a selection of artworks that feature both
in the school curriculum, as well as in the Iziko art
collection. Thus, engaging artists, art educators, social
scholars and curators and providing learners with a

unique opportunity to interact with original artworks
that they may only otherwise have encountered in
textbooks.
Tribute adopts a thematic approach, covering topics
relevant to youth and their personal and intellectual
development such as gender issues; post-1994 democratic
identity in South Africa; and socio-political art - including
resistance art of the 70s and 80s, to name a few. These
themes reflect and also compliment those that are
covered in classrooms across South Africa. This exhibition
seeks to actively engage youth in the arts by making artistic
practice more accessible, engendering an appreciation
of the role of art in society and highlighting that art
and creativity is a meaningful and intrinsic element in
all our lives.
During the reporting period Iziko research staff and
curators presented 19 public lectures, 28 seminars and
11 workshops that further supported the imperatives
of audience development and education. The acquisitions
purchased and acquired by Iziko during the period
enable Iziko to showcase a wide range of South Africa
artists’ work.
Iziko is currently working on the Constantia Heritage
and Education Project, facilitating an oral history project
linking narratives of forced removals in the Constantia
valley to high school teachers and learners. This project
will benefit the institutions working partnership with
the CCE-WCED Education museum in Wynberg.
Iziko hosted participants from the Helen Keller Society,
a society who assists the aged and visually impaired, to
participate in the Meaningful Access Project (MAP) workshop.
It involved the blind participants accessing braille
learning materials around the ‘Kemet’ exhibition. The MAP
participants donated braille learning materials to the Iziko
Museums. Iziko Art Education and the Meaningful Access
Projects (MAP) have for the past 52 years facilitated
classes and workshops for the differently abled. The
first Sculpture for the Blind exhibition was held in the
South African National Gallery in 1967. Adults with visual
impairments were invited to tactile walkabouts and
encouraged the concept of an inclusive welcome for
visitors who live with disabilities to take root in regular
visits. The Touch Gallery opened officially in the Annexe
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in 1971 and welcomed visitors with a wide range of
abilities. Access Awareness included both physical and
conceptual access through wheelchair accessibility,
signage, height of pedestals, and safety of both works
of art and visitors and multi-sensory walkabouts
extended through related practical art workshops as
well as further explorations of creative expression
through movement and or music. The Touch Gallery
hosted a series of exhibitions of works of art from
the Iziko Permanent Collection and works created by
students at the Michaelis School of Fine Art, Natal
University and CAPAB. This was pioneering work, part
of a movement which now sees Access Awareness as
an integral part of most major museums.
Touch Gallery approaches to art appreciation found
expression in a Special Needs component budgeted for
in major exhibitions like the William Kentridge Exhibition,
supported by NAC, and Picasso and Africa through
international assistance. The movement grew into MAP,
Meaningful Access Projects, which is kept alive through
sponsorship for learners by Truworths Social Involvement
Trust and through generous on going help and support
in kind from Iziko. Adults are welcomed on a voluntary
basis.
This work has received National and International
recognition through publications that include, for instance,
ICOM News and Imfama. Participation in conferences
in Potchefstroom, Rio and New York, workshops in
Shoshanguve and Stellenbosch and exhibitions at
JAG, DAG and PAM also helped to raise awareness.
None of it would have been possible without the
involvement of many dedicated committed people
through the years. Museum professionals, volunteer
guides, educators, artists, Art Centres and participants
from all walks of life who have inspired and encouraged
these explorations. Support from stake holders and
input from people like Dr William Rowland, past
President of the World Council for the Blind, proved
essential.
Foundations laid by, to mention but two of the legendary
teachers, August Hopley and Victor Honey, continue to
enrich our projects. The legacy of work done lives on,
currently still being coordinated by Sandra Eastwood

who has been involved since 1967, and through indispensable
gifted stalwarts like Helen Binckes, Mariechen Schimmel
and Bevil Spence.An art exhibition was installed at
The SA National Gallery Annexe STILL LIFE and LIFE
DRAWINGS, A Moment Captured or Preserved? It opened
in November 2018 and a donation of school textbooks
was given to our arts education division. These textbooks
will go a long way in enhancing our current programmes
and assist the arts educators in structuring and aligning
our programmes with the current curriculum.
Through access to the internet, and social media channels,
we have become citizens of the globe, virtually linked
to each other across time, oceans and continents, living in
a fast-paced hyper connected age of instant access.
Who we are, and how we perceive ourselves within this
international context is informed by our cultural identity,
history and heritage – and thus the International Museum
Day theme looked at new approaches, new technologies and
new publics within this hyper-connected world. Therefore
the Local Area Network (LAN) project, necessitated by
the newly renovated constructed space constructed at
the South African Museum, has been structured as a layered
model in terms of access, distribution and core layers to
ensure that a highly available, fault tolerant and resilient
network is built. This well designed local area network
infrastructure, aimed at improving speed, bandwidth
and reliability of Iziko’s network, has been was successfully
installed in the newly constructed building and will be
rolled out to all spaces, including public spaces, at the
South African Museum in a move to become hyper
connected.

2. Social cohesion and community
development
Contributing to social cohesion, nation building and
community development features strongly in Iziko’s
strategic priorities. Iziko seeks to use its spaces to
benefit all South Africans by providing relevant and
inclusive exhibitions that reveal and celebrate histories
and diverse cultures that were previously marginalised
and ignored under colonial and apartheid rule. These
exhibitions are anchored on encouraging active
citizenry and in building a socially cohesive South Africa.
Via our exhibitions, Iziko seeks to create spaces of
engagement where our collections are curated to make

meaningful the historical, natural, social and aesthetic
context in which we live. Iziko’s exhibitions serve to amplify
conversations around social cohesion and create platforms
for redress while also empowering the ongoing project
of decolonisation. Many of Iziko’s exhibitions embrace
diversity so that the memories, identities, histories and
cultures of all South Africans are given voice and showcased.
During 2018/19, Iziko presented 19 new exhibitions that
endeavoured to provide audiences with a meaningful
perspective on the contemporary world, their heritage
and identity – most notably:
This year marked the centenary of the birth of Utata
Nelson Rolihlahla Mandela, (Ah! Dalibhunga) and in
keeping therewith, Iziko’s centenary commemoration
kicked off with the relaunch of the upgraded exhibition:
Tata Madiba, Father of our Nation, Father of our Democracy,
on International Mandela Day. This exhibition was curated
by a multi-disciplinary team lead by Dr. Wayne Florence
working with Dr. Charlene Janion-Smith, Iziko exhibition
designer Amy Sephton and the Iziko exhibition display team.
Tata Madiba is a multi-media and interactive exhibition
intended to stimulate conversation about Mandela’s life,
struggles and specifically his extraordinary efforts to
protect South Africa’s rich biodiversity while also connecting
this contribution to contemporary issues around conservation
and sustainability. The exhibition includes as its central
piece the iMadiba installation that aims to stimulate
dialogue, memory and reflection about Madiba’s life as
part of an international, participatory art project. The
iMadiba installation was conceptualised and created by
artist Erhardt Thiel. The Tata Madiba exhibition and the
iMadiba Project art installation viewed together celebrate
the centenary of this great statesman and will continue
to make his legacy tangible and inspire our visitors at
the Iziko South African Museum for some years to come.
Unshackled History: The Wreck of the Slave Ship, São
José, 1794, an exhibition curated by Jaco Boshoff,
opened at the Iziko Slave Lodge in December 2018.
This seminal exhibition is the culmination of years of
dedicated research on the São José slave ship, the
first known shipwreck, with enslaved Africans on
board, to be identified, studied and excavated. This
research forms part of an international initiative, the
Slave Wreck Project (SWP), and was made possible

through multiple local and international partnerships
and further supported through a grant of R7, Million
from the US Ambassadors Fund. The exhibition explores
the story of the “human cargo” – the people who were
violently uprooted from their homes and sent to various
destinations from the trading port of Delgoa Bay
(Maputo, Mozambique), to suffer displacement, disaster
and death on the shores of the Cape of Good Hope
more than 200 years ago. The story of the São José
is more than an African, American, Asian or European
story. It speaks about our shared histories, compared
to the constructed notions of separateness perpetuated
in, and throughout time. Many of the ancestors of those
who survived the wreck are now an integral part of
contemporary South African society, thus making the
exhibition specifically poignant and relevant to local
communities and audiences, reinforcing the deep routed
connections we have with Southern Africa.
The artefacts – never seen before in South Africa –
recovered from the wreck site, form the central element
of the exhibition.
The wreck site, off Clifton’s 4th beach, was declared
a national Heritage site, in terms of Section 27 of the
National Heritage Resources Act No. 25 of 1999 by the
South African Heritage Resources Agency.
Justice Albie Sachs became the patron of this groundbreaking initiative. In 2018/2019 Iziko’s Maritime
Archaeology and Marine Biology units teamed up to
initiate the first multi-disciplinary research project
on the archaeology, biology and physical oceanography
of a slave shipwreck in South Africa.
Filling in the Gaps, curated by Andrea Lewis, opened
at Iziko South African National Gallery in mid-February
2019. This exhibition showcases recent acquisitions and
highlights the remarkable diversity of local artistic
production – underlining the continued relevance of
this institution as a national platform of excellence in
the visual arts. It also further serves to reaffirm Iziko’s
commitment to building a national collection that is
inclusive and more representative of the overlooked
and marginalised artists of the past. As the gallery
edges towards its 150th anniversary in 2022, it will
continue to acquire new works to expand not just its
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Iziko staff at the launch of the West Coast Fossil Park Visitors Centre.

holdings, but our understanding and appreciation of
the culture of the South African experience, along
with global perspectives of life from around the world.
Not the Usual Suspects, hosted at the Iziko South African
National Gallery, celebrated South Africa’s rich cultural
and artistic production. This exhibition paid tribute to
the Market Photo Workshop (MPW), an important
cultural institution that has served as an “incubator”
space for many of South Africa’s leading photographers
over decades. Curated by Iziko Curator and MPW graduate,
Ingrid Masondo it showcases more than 100 artworks
by more than thirty artists, featuring an intergenerational
group of practitioners who have contributed to the MPW’s
vibrancy and evolution. The exhibition interrogates
issues of access and visibility. Engaging boldly with the
politics and ethics of representation. Not the Usual
Suspects expands on the roles and uses of photography
in society and is a timely and critical intervention on
contemporary debates about education and the curriculum,
histories and archives. Through the images and reflections,
this exhibition engages complex issues pertaining to
our understanding of community and nation, race and
class, patriarchy, the environment, technology, migration,
and the urban condition.
Under the Cover of Darkness, hosted at the Iziko Slave
Lodge and is presented in partnership with Centre for
Curating the Archive, University of Cape Town with
Josie Grindrod and Carine Zaayman. The exhibition
brings to light the many untold stories of women forced

into slavery and oppressive labour under colonialism,
raising questions relating to invisibility, the female body
and slavery. The challenge of the exhibition was to
find meaningful ways to bring these women’s lives and
untold stories out of darkness and connect them to
present day struggles, providing a lens on a colonial
legacy that persists to this day. These [her] stories of
injustice and abuse resonate strongly within contemporary
society, as similar horrors are still perpetuated, as seen
in the ongoing challenges of human traffickingand
“enslaved” sex workers. Through a specific focus on the
lives and stories of three women, ‘Susanna of Bengal’,
Krotoa and Zara van der Caab; as well as nine others
who were also incarcerated at the Slave Lodge, the
exhibition lays bare and critiques distorted patterns
of race, gender, land and labour. Under the Cover of
Darkness opened to the public at the Iziko Slave Lodge
on 26 September 2018 and was central to Iziko efforts
during this month dedicated to heritage, to activate
social cohesion and nation building.
Moreover, Iziko contributed significantly to the project
national building in 2018/19 via the exhibition ‘Uniqueness
and Convergence’, the international joint exhibition of
BRICS Art Museums and Galleries was from 10 – 23 April
2018. This exhibition was hosted at the National Art
Museum of China (NAMOC), in Beijing, to commemorate
the 20-year anniversary of the BRICS Alliance, and
to encourage cooperation between art museums and
national galleries of BRICS countries. The exhibition
hosted 12 of South Africa’s distinctive artworks from

Children participating in a holiday programme activity
in the Discovery Room, at the Iziko South African Museum.

Visitors to the Iziko South African National Gallery,
viewing the exhibition: Hidden Treasures.

Iziko collections alongside notable art pieces from China,
Brazil, India and Russia. These pieces showcased South
Africa’s unique heritage and culture and offered visitors
a glimpse into the regions ancient and modern artistic
traditions. Objects on display included, among others,
a replica of the Blombos Ochre, rock art, fine pottery, and
paintings by Walter Battiss and Irma Stern. The exhibition
offered great opportunities for far-reaching artistic
comparison and exchanges, promoting future collaborations
and international art exchanges.

In order to bring and build new audiences to the Iziko
Museums, we received a generous donation from the
HCI Foundation towards the Community Transport
Programme. This programme goes a long way to bringing
individuals from marginalised communities to experience
what Iziko has to offer.

Museums are vehicles of unification and nation building,
geared towards celebrating the rich diversity of language,
cultural heritage and traditions. Iziko has a prolific
international profile and partnership collaborations in
Europe, China, Africa, and the United States of America.
A special international exhibition, held at the National
Art Museum of China (NAMOC), in Beijing, in April 2018
to commemorate the 20-year anniversary of the BRICS
Alliance. The exhibition themed ‘Uniqueness and
Convergence’ showcased 12 distinctive South African artworks
from Iziko collections, alongside notable art pieces from
China, Brazil, India and Russia. The exhibition offered
great opportunities for far-reaching artistic comparison
and exchanges, promoting future collaborations and
international art exchanges and encourage cooperation
between art museums and national galleries of BRICS
countries. Iziko hosted meeting between a group of art
professionals aimed at stimulating international dialogue
around the role of public and private arts institutions
and their synergies.

The first Careers at Iziko workshop for school learners
ranging from grades 9 – 12 hosted by the Slave Lodge,
Social History Centre, SA National Gallery, Rust en Vreugd,
Natural History Museum and the Planetarium and
Digital Dome. The programme was aimed at exposing
school learners to all the possible career fields which
museums world-wide has to offer. At the culmination
of the well-attended workshop, participants were very
proud to receive a ‘Certificate of Participation’.
Iziko Museums of South Africa also celebrated International
Mother Tongue Day, on 23 February 2019. The hosting
of the programme was premised on the fundamental
principle of promoting the use of South Africa’s indigenous
languages as advanced by the South African constitution.
A public discussion on the importance of revitalising
indigenous languages, especially through language
activism, took place at the Iziko South African Museum
Human Rights Day: 21 March 2019. This public programme
was collaboration between Iziko Museums and a number
of partners.
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L to R: Mr Sam Hendrickse,Ulambile Consulting; Ms Virginia Blaser, Consul General, U.S. Consulate
General, Cape Town; Dr Bongani Ndlovu, Executive Director Core Functions; Ms Felicity Purchase, Mayco
Member, Cape Town; Dr Wayne Florence Natural History Manager and Lead Curator of H2O Today, having
fun at the interactive large format 3D Artwork of Victoria Falls at the opening of H2O Today.

On 25 May 2018, Iziko Education in close collaboration
with Africa Arts and the Premier’s Office (Western Cape
Government) organised an Africa Day programme. Under
the theme ‘The Africa Re-imagined: Mandela Tribute’,
the programme focused on a different African instrument,
the mbira, with special guest composer and mbira player
Martin Scherzinger, collaborating with composer Bongani
Ndodana-Breen. Scherzinger is a South African composer,
currently associate professor at New York University.
Projects such as these enable Iziko to continue to play
a meaningful role in building a better Africa and a
better world.
Iziko’s Mobile Museum, despite being outmoded, continues
with its important mandate of being a museum for
the people, by taking the museum to them, especially
in marginalised communities. During the past financial
year, the Mobile Museum reached 17208 people.
The Iziko Outreach & Planetarium team participated
in the Scifest Africa 2019 (South Africa’s National
Science Festival) hosted at the 1820 Settlers National
Monument in Makhanda (Grahamstown). Hands-on
activities using museum collections and planetarium
programmes were offered to leaners and the public who
took part in this annual event. The festival is organized
by the Department of Science and Technology where
different institutions involved in Science and Technology
participate to offer workshops, presentations, programmes,
exhibitions around Science and Technology to school
learners and the public.

3. Reflective and engaged citizens
Iziko encourages proactive engagement and dialogue,
even around sensitive and controversial issues. We strive
to ensure that our offering explores issues that are
critical within contemporary society, and relevant to a
diverse audience.
In 2017/18, the worst water crisis in living memory afflicted
the Western Cape, echoing the global reality of increasing
drought and water shortage. In response, Iziko presented
the exhibition; H2O Today, in partnership with the U.S.
Consulate Cape Town. The exhibition explores the essential
nature of water, the planet’s lifeblood and examines
the diversity and challenges of our global water sources.
Organized by the Smithsonian Institution Travelling
Exhibition Service (SITES), H2O Today promotes conversation,
creativity and innovation through art, science and
technology as part of the Smithsonian’s #ThinkWater
Initiative. Using immersive content, interactive activities,
and digital media, this international exhibition was
supplemented with Iziko curated African content and
collections objects and clearly demonstrates how
museums, through our exhibitions and programmes,
are able to create awareness of relevant societal issues.
As a people, we have the right to see our histories, formerly
untold and under-represented narratives, included in
our museums and contemporary conversations. As a
people, we also have a responsibility to discover these
spaces, to explore these narratives and to proudly,

Special guest composer, Martin Scherzinger, performing
at ‘The Africa Re-imagined: Mandela Tribute’ event, hosted
in partnership with Africa Arts and the Premier’s Office
(Western Cape Government) on Africa Day.

Prof and Mrs Kotze, in exhibition space, during the opening event of
Inter-RESTING Times at the Castle of Good Hope.

promote and share opportunities to access our museums
and histories.

Evocative and thought provoking exhibitions such as
Inter-RESTING Times begin to unveil and confront the
realities of these collections by using devices such as
archival records, poetry and symbolism as ways to bring
complex issues to the fore respectfully, and in a manner
that creates a safe space for discussion and engagement.
Iziko is the only South African museum and one of few
on the continent, which has a formal policy on the
dignified care and management of human remains. Iziko
is proactively seeking ways, in collaboration with DAC
and diverse stakeholders and descendants of those who
must be appropriately reinterred, to return not only
the physical remains of people collected over centuries,
but also to restore the humanity of these people and
the dignity of their descendants. This is a complex and
costly task that will require significant additional
resources. In this regard a public engagement entitled
“Towards the Museum Truth, Repatriation and Reparations
Commission (#MuseumTRRC)” was held at the Iziko
South African Museum. Built on the principle of full
disclosure and historical justice, the discussion invited
members of the public to critically engage with the
history of Human Remains Collection in museums,
universities and scientific institutions in South Africa
and elsewhere in the world.

Iziko also heeds the call to assess, transform and
de-colonise our museums. We actively listen, engage,
and are open to re-imagining the spaces within the museum.
Exhibitions such as Inter-RESTING Times, curated by
Annelize Kotze, hosted at Iziko at the Castle of Good
Hope, was one of a few exhibitions curated by Iziko in
2018/19 that stepped bravely into the arena in which
the transformation and de-colonisation of our museums
must take place and be enacted. This sensitive exhibition
honestly foregrounded the fact that the South African
Museum collected human remains as early as 1872.
Although some human remains were assembled via
legitimate archaeological excavations and permitted
development in with heritage legislation, many items
in this collection were taken illegally and unethically
from their graves in the last two centuries, before the
establishment of Iziko, for race-based “scientific” research.
This history is a source of imperial and colonial shame.
It is also a history that cannot remain hidden, no matter
how painful or controversial it is to engage. It must be
faced directly, through community engagement, public
discussion and research – as well as engagement with
the diverse role-players who must act cohesively to
bring about redress and healing.

In a similar vein, Objects Ecologies, an exhibition presented
in partnership with the Centre for Curating the Archive
at the University of Cape Town, Professor Pippa Skotnes
and Professor Fritha Langerman at the Iziko South African
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Visitors to the Iziko South African National Gallery,
viewing the exhibition: Print Promises.

Museum. The exhibition explores, critiques and creates
conversations around past and present museological
practices with a view to opening discussions orientated
on decolonisation and transformation. Objects
Ecologies presents several mobile museums, which
refer to the complex world of images and objects:
their making, their circulation, and the issues at
stake when they are moved from one place and time
to another. In this set of cabinets, students from the
Honours in Curatorship programme at the Michaelis
School of Fine Art in collaboration with Iziko, subject
museum objects to contemporary scrutiny, asking of
them how they may speak to issues of today as well as
those that accrued to them in the past.
Through exhibitions such as Inter-RESTING Times and
Objects Ecologies, Iziko is helping to create a generation
of reflective and engaged, proudly African citizens. As
part of the initiative of sharing the history and the
collections of the institution with the communities from
which many of these objects were taken, in February
2019 the Collections and Digitisation Department
hosted a week-long workshop with four of the leadership
of the ǂKhomani Bushmen focusing on recording
indigenous knowledge and narratives linked to the
artefacts and photographs collected from the Kalahari
region which were previously collected for their aesthetic
value instead disregarding the deep meaning and
elevance they have for this community.

4. Human capital and professional capacity
building
Iziko is at the forefront of art, cultural and natural
heritage research in South Africa and therefore is a
unique hub for knowledge generation and capacity
building of scarce museological skills. Iziko prioritises
optimising human capital and professional capacity
building opportunities using our existing research
infrastructure, staff and extensive collections.
Among our highly specialised and skilled curatorial
staff, Iziko is proud to have three NRF rated staff,
and a host of established and emerging curators.
In 2018/19, Iziko also hosted several internationally
recognised, associate researchers, five post-doctoral
fellows, seven post-graduate students and five NRF
funded interns. The foundational knowledge that is
generated by this cohort of researchers contributes to our
understanding of the world through supporting applied
research and decision making in the areas of cultural
heritage and preservation, food security, climate change,
biodiversity conservation, bioprospecting and
the green economy.
In 2018/19, there were over 78 active research projects
underway at our museums, and in addition, 34 field
trips were undertaken by Art, Social and Natural History
researchers. Iziko generated 30 peer-reviewed publications
and also curated and digitised 15,644 Social and Natural
History artefacts, specimens and object records that

Guests attending the Emancipation Day public programme event.

were added to our research databases. Many of these
outputs (publications and data) were also made available
online through publication and cooperation with
government departments and agencies responsible for
disseminating foundational information online; making
our high-level research outputs universally accessible
to global audiences. Research and the dissemination
of knowledge are the foundation of our museum work,
underpinning our innovative exhibition programme and
flowing into educational activities both at primary,
secondary, tertiary, post-graduate and professional
levels. Locally and internationally Iziko’s research (both
in the field and laboratories) is recognised for its relevance
regarding indigenous knowledge, redress and historical
review as well as the compilation of key scientific data
that pertains to the natural world and the environment.
Research, therefore, not only plays a critical role in the
development of Iziko’s exhibition offering, it also
contributes significantly to the knowledge economy
of the country.
During 2018/2019 Iziko Museums hosted 33 interns on
various programmes throughout our museum spaces.
These were local and global internship opportunities,
who in collaboration with Iziko Museums, partnered
in various fields to enhance research, innovation and
education.
Emerging researchers continued to make significant
progress with their research in 2018/2019. Three are

Installation view of Object Ecologies an exhibition in collaboration
with UCT Centre for Curating the Archive at the Iziko South
African Museum.

completing doctoral degrees and all are building their
NRF-linked research profiles. Claire Browning is working
under the mentorship of Prof Roger Smith, while Dylan
Clarke, Eugene Bergh and Nokuthula Nhleko have
Dr. Wayne Florence, Prof John Compton (UCT) and Dr.
Simon van Noort as their doctoral supervisors and
mentors respectively.
Other key examples of Iziko research projects include:
• The SeaKeys and BioGaps Projects: two large, 		
collaborative, NRF Foundational Biodiversity 		
Information Programme funded, and South African
National Biodiversity Institute supported projects
that were co-investigated by Dr. Wayne Florence
and Dr. Simon van Noort respectively. The projects
entail large-scale and ongoing collaborative 		
research and digitisation projects that 			
mobilise vast amounts of metadata derived from
Iziko’s marine biodiversity and entomology 		
specimens. These large, high quality, datasets 		
will be freely disseminated online through the Global
Biodiversity Information. These projects also 		
resulted in significant on-the-job parataxonomy and
digitisation training for opportunities for staff and
interns.
• Paleontological research conducted by Dr. Romala
Govender, Dr. Thalassa Mathews and Professor 		
Roger Smith (emeritus associate) continued with 		
collaborative research that is supported by the Wits
Centre of Excellence in Palaeosciences and the NRF
African Origins Platform.
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Honours in Curating students actively participating in an art
conservation process.

• Curators Dr. Simon van Noort and Nokuthula Nhlekho,
supported by postdoctoral fellow Dr. Charlene 		
Janion-Scheepers continued with proactive field
work and acquisition of specimens for the Iziko 		
collections, conducting ongoing continuous inventory
surveys of invertebrates in diverse habitats in South
Africa. These surveys are critical for documenting
the unknown invertebrate diversity in poorly collected
areas in South Africa. Their work is supported in
the laboratory by a host of interns and collections
assistants who have been trained as parataxonomists;
meticulously sorting through bulk insect samples,
imaging specimens, and cataloguing into our Specify
database. Dr. Van Noort is involved in numerous
collaborative international research initiatives that
pertain to critical issues such as biodiversity and
environmental conservation.
The research outputs on Iziko’s entomology collections
are made universally available via Iziko microsites sites
such as Biodiversity Explorer, Figweb and Waspweb. In
2018/2019 the digitisation of Iziko’s Collembola collection
was made available as a virtual museum (see www.
collembolan.co.za). In addition, Dr. Simon van Noort
continued with his high output of scientific publications
based on research conducted on the Iziko entomology
collections, having published 10 peer reviewed scientific
papers and two books during the 2018/2019 financial year.
Published research conducted by Dr. Gerald Klinghardt
investigated how similarities as much as differences

in attributes and symbolic representations can become
the source of conflict when they appear to have been
appropriated and alienated, and how enculturation
affects the portrayal of cultural and religious diversity
in South Africa. In combining concepts from religious
studies with contemporary anthropological theoretical
and field studies, this constituted a new approach to
the history of Christianity in South Africa. The theoretical
structure derived from this, together with the broader
formulation set up in his earlier research work, can offer a
new framework for historical exhibitions being considered
for Iziko, especially in the Slave Lodge.
Connecting cultural identities through oral histories and
genetics (NRF funded) intends to evaluate the ancestry
of unethically collected human remains in museum
collections. This is connected to research done by
Archaeologist Dr. Wendy Black, entitled “Examining
evidence for genetic continuity among Holocene Khoesan
skeletons.” With participation from indigenous communities,
oral histories on possible connections to the collection
are explored. These histories will then be compared
to osteological and genetic investigations on these
individuals. It is hoped that this investigation will help
answer questions about population diversity and admixture
during a tumultuous period in our history. Such collections
often represent a painful legacy within indigenous
groups and understanding the cultural and ancestral
affiliations of these human remains will help heal
wounds introduced by past practices.

Learners from St Mary’s Primary School showcasing their artworks
during a World Refugee Day education programme at the Iziko
South African National Gallery Annexe.

Zamani Brothers Cultural Group performing during the in_herit FESTIVAL
Heritage Day event.

In-depth research into the June 1976 student uprisings
was conducted by Lynn Abrahams over the past year,
focusing specifically on the spread of the uprising to
the Western Cape and other provinces. Through this
research project, this narrative is being foregrounded
and inserted into the collective memory of the student
uprisings of 1976. A wide range of research material
(documentaries, articles, academic papers and oral
histories) has been collated with the intention of
articulating this research into an exhibition entitled
Aluta Continua! This exhibition will commemorate the
1976 student uprisings in the Western Cape and
the consequent wave of grassroots resistance
organisations that lead to the downfall of apartheid
and will open at the Iziko Slave Lodge in the next
financial year.

both locally and internationally. The development of
an exhibition catalogue is now in its final stages and
this important publication will serve to create further
access to the extensive research conducted into this
iconic South African cultural institution.

Research conducted by Ingrid Masondo on the Market
Photo Workshop (MPW) focused on paying tribute to
this key institution and foregrounding the significant
contributions made via MPW to photography training
and visual cultures in the country and the region.
The research was conducted at the MPW to engage
with their living histories and archives and expanded
to include MPW alumni, trainers, project managers
and other staff members who had been associated
with the institution since its inception in 1989. This
research project culminated in the seminal exhibition
Not the Usual Suspects and is anticipated to travel

The Collections and Digitisation team collaborated with
the University of Cape Town’s Centre for Curating the
Archive (CCA) to provide access to the CCA’s Honours
students to the Iziko collections and to have selected
objects digitised for the CCA’s Object Ecologies website,
an honours student project.
CATHSSETA continues to fund interns to be hosted by
Iziko in various departments where they receive practical
training for a year. Many of these interns are either
employed by Iziko after successfully completing this
internship or continue to find employ in museums as
well as the government and private sector.
Iziko encourages its staff to attend various conferences
and workshops both nationally and internationally, to
expose them to the changing trends of the museum
world. Ofentse Letebele attended a conference at the
University of the Free State in Bloemfontein during
March 2019 and subsequent to this, he assisted with
technical issues and a film shoot and also produced
three art films which will be shown at the Iziko
Planetarium and Digital Dome in the next financial year.
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Despite significant environmental impacts, Iziko
welcomed 528,409 visitors to its museums during
the 2018/19 fiscal. Factors beyond human control,
including the impact of the drought, and subsequent
dwindling number of domestic, local and international
visitors to the Mother City; increased competition
within the cultural attraction industry, as well as the
general economic downturn contributed to the 3%
negative growth in visitor numbers. Iziko implements
a diversified pricing structure that includes free entry
on 15 days annually. This is to ensure access specifically
to those who lack the means to afford entrance fees.
During the fiscal 31,493 people took advantage of this
opportunity.

The Celebrate Summer Campaign specifically positions
Iziko as a cool place for visitors to explore during the
hot summer days. Key audiences of the campaign include
local families and tourists. The campaign communications
rolled out with an online campaign, advertising Iziko
via social media platforms, Facebook and Twitter. This
was also supported via a radio campaign on regional
and community radio stations. During the campaign
period from 1 December 2018 until 28 February 2019,
Iziko welcomed a total of 127,504 visitors to the museums.

Three promotional campaigns were implemented during
2018/19. International Museum Day, 18 May; the in_herit
Festival, which ran from 24 September until 30 September
2018; and Celebrate Summer, which ran from 1 December
until 28 February 2019. These campaigns promoted half
price holiday discounts and free entrance on
commemorative days.

The realignment of departmental structures was approved
by Council in the fourth quarter. The Human Resources
Department procured the services of Consultants to
assist with the drafting of new and the review of current
job descriptions, to grade new positions and to review
the grade of revised positions as well as to benchmark
Iziko staff salaries. Vacant and new positions were
advertised and the shortlisting of applicants commenced
in the fourth quarter.

Related to this campaign the Advancement Department
negotiated a partnership with the HCI Foundation,
linked to the in_herit Festival. The media relationship
with Media24’s People’s Post also grew to include
TygerBurger, subsequently ensuring weekly editorial
coverage in all these community titles. A total number
of 20,164 visitors gained free entry to our museums
during heritage week. The effective marketing and
communication roll-out resulted in a 54% increase in
Heritage Day (24 September) 2018 visitor numbers.
The advertising value equivalent of the media coverage
received by Iziko for the period 2018/19 equalled a
phenomenal R56,634,129.90. Thus reaching a national
audience, across print, broadcast and online media
platforms in excess of 26,037,276.50. Highlights
included featured coverage in Art Africa, Mail & Guardian
and Sunday Times as well as Radio Sonder Grense,
SAFM and SABC News, ETV Spotlight and ENCA.
The media relationship with Media24’s community
newspaper People’s Post and TygerBurger, resulted in
weekly editorial content for the duration of Heritage
Month.

Iziko provided tertiary training courses for 8 staff
members as well as training opportunities for 338
staff members.

5. Inclusive economic growth and
sustainability
Many of Iziko’s research projects are made possible
via significant external funding. In 2018/19 a total of
R5,876,401 in research related donor funding was
banked from sources such as the National Research
Foundation (NRF); South African Biodiversity Institute
(SANBI); Paleontological Scientific Trust, (PAST)
and the University of the Witwatersrand Centre of
Excellence as well as the U.S. Ambassadors Fund. The
Natural Science Collections Facility (NSCF) is a network
of South African institutions holding natural science
collections, established as part of the Department
of Science & Technology’s Research Infrastructure
Roadmap and co-ordinated by SANBI. In 2018/19 with
the assistance of multi-year funding (totally ZAR6.8
million over 3 years) from the NSCF, Iziko was able
to strengthen its research infrastructure and facilities
through the procurement of high-end microscopic imaging
equipment for its planned Biodiversity Laboratory. A new
Scanning Electron Microscope and Digital X-ray system
were also procured with these funds positioning Iziko as

a hub for specimen imaging in support of regional
researchers. With this new equipment, Iziko will be
positioned as a leading regional facility for contemporary
taxonomy training and high-throughput curation
of biodiversity collections; taking our collections
from the shelves in our stores to the digital realm in
support of science and society.
In addition, to research and equipment project funding,
substantial investments have been made by DAC and
other partners into Iziko’s research infrastructure via
the Courtyard Project and the digitisation of the Iziko
Planetarium and Digital Dome, in recognition of the
significant role the institution plays via its research
programmes. Iziko’s partnership and collaborations
with the Department of Arts and Culture, Department
of Science and Technology and with the universities
of Cape Town, Western Cape and Cape Peninsular
University of Technology and NRF, revolutionised Iziko’s
Planetarium and aligned it to the notion of the 4th
industrial revolution. The Iziko Planetarium and Digital
Dome offers unique big data capability to the scientists
and researchers of our project partner universities.
The facility’s research value in addressing various
millennial challenges is enormous.
A digitisation project, funded through the Mellon Grant,
commenced in art collections at the beginning of June
2018, with the aim of digitising 600 paintings over a twoyear period. By the end of March 2019 a total of 535
artworks had been digitised. This project aides Iziko
in providing broader access to its collections to the
communities it serves.
The Specialist Conservation Workshop, funded though
the Mellon Foundation Project, was presented by
Anupam Sah, Head of Art Conservation, Research
and Training at the Chhatrapati Shivaji Maharaj Vastu
Sangrahalaya, (CSMVS) in Mumbai. This workshop
enhanced the training of the Iziko conservation staff to
ensure the sustainability of the invaluable collections
cared for by the institution.
The Friends of the ISANG kindly sponsored Iziko Art
Education R20 000 in support of education activities
and the Goethe Institute sponsored the IPDD with
three full dome presentations

The extent of the support Iziko continues to attract,
despite challenges, is a testimony to the importance
and quality of the extensive research produced as well
as the prestige Iziko enjoys with professional scientific
and academic communities.The institution ensured
that a five-year Conservation and Maintenance Plan
as well as an As-built Plan, Existing Building Condition
Report and a Conservation Management Plan for the
nine state-owned buildings managed by Iziko were
completed by 31 March 2019.
This will assist in improving the integrity of the current
state of these heritage buildings in an attempt to
restore them to their former glory.
In August 2018 the Minister of Arts and Culture approved
that the Museum Ship, SAS Somerset be de-accessioned
due to the potential environmental threat that the vessel
posed. The Director Support Services once again took up
the challenge and consulted various role-players to mitigate
the risk to the environment. The risks identified have
been successfully mitigated and the preparation of the
vessel for the scrapping process has been completed.
Iziko’s financial management is a central element to
the functioning of the organisation, underlying all
its activities. It encompasses the mechanisms through
which resources are collected, allocated, spent and
accounted for. Iziko recognises that sound, transparent
and accountable financial management is fundamental
to achieving and securing economic transformation,
financial stability and sustainability and overall operational
efficiency. All of this is of vital importance for the
provision of good quality services to the institution and the
communities which we serve. As such, Iziko continues to
integrate and improve on effective financial management
and governance by means of sound budgeting practices
aimed at achieving policy priorities as well as transparent
procurement practices in which compliance is enforced,
expenditure controlled, and revenue collection strategies
aimed at improving income generation. Financial reports,
which record and account for expenditures or revenues
collected, and which show how budgets have been
implemented, are subjected to internal audits and
external and legislative oversight.
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Highlights and Achievements for 2018/19 include:
• The submission of quarterly reports to the Department
of Arts and Culture. The submission of the Medium
Term Expenditure Framework (MTEF) and Estimates
for National Expenditure were made as required by
the Treasury Guidelines.
• Successfully addressing 100% of the audit outcomes
stemming from the previous financial year as outlined
in the Audit implementation plan.
• Meeting the challenge of improving the focus on
compliance with procurement processes by liaising
with the Office of the Chief Procurement Officer at
National Treasury and conducting organisation-wide
workshops with staff, thereby reducing incidences of
irregular expenditure and fraud.
• Building on the positive health report issued by the
Auditor-General of South Africa in its management
report in July 2018, by improving the creditors’ payment
period as well as decreasing the debtors’ collection
period.
• Improving heritage management and ensuring 		
compliance with the Generally Recognised Accounting
Practice (GRAP) 103 accounting standard on Heritage
Assets by developing procedures, setting budgetary
and staff resource priorities, reporting on heritage
asset information and coordination of heritage 		
management activities in a process of
continual improvement.

In terms of Information and Communication Technology
(ICT), advancing ICT governance during the year
under review with the official establishment of a fully
functioning ICT Steering Committee with defined
roles and responsibilities, which meets regularly. The ICT
Steering Committee oversees ICT plans and initiatives,
allocates resources and provides critical strategic
oversight by allowing operational heads to communicate
strategy and priorities.

Ms Rooksana Omar
Chief Executive Officer
Iziko Museums of South Africa

1.6 Statement of Responsibility for the Annual Report
To the best of my knowledge and belief, I confirm
the following:
All information and amounts disclosed in the annual
report are consistent with the annual financial
statements audited by the Auditor-General.
The annual report is complete, accurate and free
from any omissions.

The external auditors are engaged to express
an independent opinion on the annual financial
statements.
In our opinion, the annual report fairly reflects
the operations, performance information, human
resources information and the financial affairs of the
entity for the financial year ended 31 March 2019.
Yours faithfully

The annual report has been prepared in accordance
with the guidelines on the annual report, as issued
by National Treasury.
The annual financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with the GRAP Standards applicable
to the Public Entity.

Ms Rooksana Omar
Chief Executive Officer
Iziko Museums of South Africa
Date: 31 July 2019

The Accounting Authority is responsible for the
preparation of the annual financial statements and
for the judgements made in this information.
The Accounting Authority is responsible for
establishing and implementing a system of internal
control that has been designed to provide reasonable
assurance as to the integrity and reliability of the
performance information, the human resources
information and the annual financial statements.

Ambassador Dikgang Moopeloa
Chairman of Council
Iziko Museums of South Africa
Date: 31 July 2019

PAGE

27

2 | PERFORMANCE
INFORMATION
Madosini Latozi Mpahleni’s musical performance for the Department of Arts and Culture budget vote event,
at the Iziko South African Museum.
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2.1 Overview of the Public Entity’s Performance
2.1.1 Service Delivery Environment
The amalgamation of previously separate museums
into the Southern Flagship Institution (SFI), now Iziko
Museums of South Africa (Iziko), took place five years
after the end of apartheid and at the dawn of a new
millennium. The integration of these diverse museums,
collections, their staff and leaders was intended to act
as a catalyst for the transformation of national museums,
forged during both colonial and apartheid eras, into
dynamic heritage institutions able to serve the needs
of our new democracy, and adaptive to the rapidly
changing landscape of the 21st century.
Established in 1825, the South African Museum is the
second oldest scientific institution established in South
Africa, and one of the oldest museums in the country.
Iziko is therefore deeply rooted in a long tradition of
generating and disseminating knowledge. Our 11 museums,
Planetarium and Mobile Museum are important showcases
for our nation’s diverse tangible and intangible heritage.
Our vast collections, comprising more than 2,26 million
artworks, and natural and social history artefacts, are
invaluable to the national estate. They not only provide
a substantial archive and knowledge resource, but
enable the generation of new knowledge, culture
and heritage.
Since it was established, Iziko has emerged as a leading
player in the heritage sector. We are held in high regard
on the continent and internationally, and acknowledged
as an innovative institution that has embraced the
challenge to transform and set new benchmarks for
South African museums.
Historically, museums have been perceived as being on
the margins of economic, political and social debates.
However, Iziko’s performance, as outlined by the Iziko
Council Chairman and our Chief Executive Officer in
Chapter 1, clearly shows that we have embraced new
priorities appropriate to the 21st century South African
context. A key priority for Iziko is to change the perception
of museums as exclusive spaces, and ensure that our
diverse heritage and knowledge resources enrich the
lives of all South Africans, and are accessible to everyone.

Our primary areas of focus are: audience development;
increased access to culture, heritage and knowledge;
and ensuring our museums benefit all South Africans.
Many of our programmes therefore engage historically
disadvantaged communities and youth. We say to our
visitors, ‘our museums are your museums’.
One of Iziko’s key strategies is to ensure that we
continuously redefine our role within the heritage
sector, so that we not only build a permanent public
record of our natural, cultural and artistic world, but
also create spaces that allow our public to engage,
explore and shape their understanding of the world.
As a national museum, we are not passive custodians
of the nation’s rich art and heritage, but active participants
in our society, making our collections and knowledge
accessible. Through our offering and programmes,
we proactively contribute to audience development
and education, the imperatives of social cohesion and
nation building, the evolution of engaged citizenry,
the development of human capital, and contributing to
economic growth, as well as our own sustainability.
What is clear from reviewing this Public Entity’s
performance, is that Iziko contributes strategically in
diverse ways, and is a highly successful and dynamic
institution. Our outputs are aligned with the Department
of Arts and Culture (DAC) defined Monitoring and
Evaluation Framework, and our impacts are significant
and continue to show steady growth.
Through our commitment to employment equity (EE)
priorities, Iziko is now far more representative of the
diverse audiences it serves than what it was at the time
of amalgamation, 19 years ago. It is our aim to create a
more inclusive Museum that reflects the diversity of our
citizenry. We proactively encourage skills development
and the study of contemporary museum practice by
our staff, and facilitate engagement with best practice
locally and internationally.
Since our amalgamation, Iziko staff has worked
passionately to integrate our museums and collections,
and transform mindsets and practices entrenched in
previously separate institutional histories and collections.

To date, significant progress has been made towards
building a more dynamic and responsive Museum.
The realignment process that is currently underway
supports concretising these changes and streamlining
our human resources – ultimately resulting in a more
integrated and effective institution.
Iziko is navigating a time of significant change, both
internally and externally. During 2017/18, Iziko’s
leadership and Senior Management Team was, therefore,
particularly focused on interactive and innovative
planning processes, as well as change management.
The key challenge Iziko faces is an increasing lack of
adequate resources. The DAC subsidy has not been
reviewed, except for a small annual increase, since 2002,
and currently this subsidy is only sufficient to cover
our personnel budget. To address this challenge, Iziko
proactively raises a significant portion of the annual
operational budget through fundraising and income
generating activities. Despite this significant achievement,
the organisation remains severely affected by increasingly
limited funding and resources, and the impact of budgetary
constraints on our strategic delivery is cause for concern.
Impacts and constraints that affect our ability to deliver
on our core mandate and strategic objectives include:
• Downscaling of core function activities and
dependence on external funding or partnerships
to implement programming and research;
• Increasingly reduced spending on the growth of
collections, digitisation, conservation, exhibitions,
research, education and public programmes, as well
as fewer marketing and communications activities
in support of audience development since 2010;
• Limited funding to implement transformation of
permanent exhibitions and displays;
• Lack of capacity to implement new technology,
including more efficient, automated systems in
support of our day-to-day operations;
• New tasks of compliance from government,
including adherence to Generally Recognised

• Accounting Practice (GRAP) 103 on Heritage Assets,
• must be met,requiring resources to be redirected
from other key deliverables;
• Significant investment in built infrastructure (such
as the Social History Centre and the Courtyard
Project) is not matched with funding to cover the
additional operational costs;
• and Insufficient funding to implement basic and
long-term maintenance of historic buildings and
public amenities.
Furthermore, the significant post-retirement medical
aid liability inherited from the previous dispensation
escalates annually, creating an additional financial
burden.
Iziko’s vision is to further transform our museums and
implement a redevelopment plan that will ensure that
our flagship national museum continues to be equal
to international best practice, and serves the needs of
our developing democracy. Adequate resources and
funding to achieve these are, however, crucial to realising
this vision.
Iziko must strive both to optimise income generation
and fundraising activities and lobby for increased subsidy
from government, to address current challenges to our
delivery, and achieve the growth and development
trajectory that is envisaged.
Investment in socio-economic developmental priorities
is a national imperative. It is essential that our important
cultural resources continue to receive sufficient public
support and funding to sustain the momentum of the
transformation that government first initiated. Adequate
funding will enable us to create spaces for the generation
and sharing of knowledge for public benefit. Investment
in these resources will add value to the cultural economy,
and ultimately secure our nation’s legacy for future
generations.
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2.1.2 Organisational Environment
The requirement by the Accounting Standards Board (ASB) to implement the Generally Recognised Accounting
Practice (GRAP) 103 on Heritage Assets has placed a huge burden on Iziko’s resources. This is an enormous
challenge, considering the size and scope of our collections, and the fact that many of our museums were established
at a time when objects were accessioned on a card system. The natural history collections started to be captured on
an electronic database from about 1990, while the other museums started to capture the art and social history
collections much later. Although significant progress in implementing GRAP 103 has been made over recent years,
the project will continue to place an additional strain on Iziko’s already limited human resource capacity.
The Senior Management level has been realigned, and Iziko has made a commitment that there will be no
retrenchments. As such, even though there is one less Senior Management position, retrenchment did not result,
as one of the positions remained vacant when a Senior Manager retired. Where positions remain vacant pending
the implementation of a realigned structure, staff members who are seconded to those positions following a
selection process, are paid an allowance.
Senior Managers conducted extensive consultations regarding the development of departmental structures.
The realignment of the structure will be completed in the financial year 2019/2020.
Iziko is not in a position to allocate funding for additional positions, so the aim of the realignment process is
to ensure that Iziko has an efficient workforce that will deliver on our heritage mandate, improve our ability
to appropriately utilise technology across our business practise, and increase financial sustainability, but also
meet the ever-increasing compliance requirements legislated from time to time.

2.2 Performance Information by Programme
2.2.1 Programme 1: Administration
Purpose
• Ensure sound governance and compliance by communicating business practice strategies by means of sound
policies
• To implement a strategy to ensure that compliance with the Generally Recognized Accounting Practice (GRAP)
accounting framework, including GRAP 103 on Heritage Assets is maintained
• To implement the Information and Communication Technology (ICT) Strategy to provide an enabling environment
by improving the ICT infrastructure – with up-to-date and current software and hardware technology
• To facilitate the development and implementation of an Existing Building Condition Report and a five-year
Conservation and Maintenance Plan for the following 9 sites managed by Iziko:
o Bertram House and Bertram House Annexe, (early 19th century)
o Bo-Kaap Museum (early 19th century)
o Koopmans-de Wet House (18th century)
o National Mutual Building (20th century) housing the Social History Centre
o Old Town House (18th century) housing the Michaelis Collection
o Rust en Vreugd Museum (late 18th century) and Rust en Vreugd Annexe
o Slave Lodge (foundation was laid in 1679, but sections were added in 17th and 18th centuries)
o SA Museum (late 19th century) and Planetarium (20th century)
o SA National Gallery (20th century) and SA National Gallery Annexe
Iziko does not manage the maintenance of the Groot Constantia museum complex, the William Fehr Collection at
the Castle, or the Maritime Centre in the V&A Waterfront.

PROGRAMME
PERFORMANCE
INDICATOR

ANNUAL TARGET
2018/19

ACTUAL ACHIEVEMENTS
2018/19

PROGRAMME 1: ADMINISTRATION
Sub-programme: Governance
Strategic objective: Ensure sound governance and compliance by communicating business practice strategies
via Iziko policies
Number of policies
developed and reviewed

Review and approve two
employment-related
policies

Two Human Resources policies were reviewed

Sub-programme: Finance
Strategic objective: Ensure that Iziko is compliant with legislation and accounting standards
Complete the GRAP
103, Heritage Asset
implementation project

Update the Heritage Asset
Register with acquisitions
for the 2018/19 financial
year, for the purpose of
complying with the GRAP
103 Accounting Standard

Achieved, the Heritage Asset Register was updated with
acquisitions for the 2018/19 financial year

Sub-programme: Facilities maintenance
Strategic objective: Improved conservation and maintenance of facilities to ensure the maintenance and
development of the facilities placed in the care of Iziko
Improved conservation and
maintenance of facilities

Develop a 5-year
Conservation and
Maintenance Plan for 9
sites

The five-year Conservation and Maintenance Plan for 9 sites
were completed by 31 March 2019

Sub-programme: Information and Communication Technology (ICT)
Strategic objective: Effective Information Technology (IT) governance through development of policies and
procedures
Implement the Iziko ICT
Strategic Plan

Develop policy in terms of
ICT Governance Framework
requirements

Achieved, policies in terms of ICT Governance Framework
requirements developed and approved by Council in March 2018

Sub-programme: Information and Communication Technology (ICT)
Strategic objective: Effective access and communications through development and maintenance of the IT
infrastructure
Complete the network
infrastructure installation
for the Courtyard
renovation (Block C&D at
the ISAM)

Expand and improve ICT
infrastructure according to
the Implementation Plan

Partially achieved. The hardware is installed and functioning
and cabling at 90% completion, due to power distribution in
the riser cables and wire ways on certain floors not installed by
building contractors
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2.2.2 Programme 2: Collections (Business Development)
Purpose
• Nation building through growth and development of collections that reflect South Africa’s rich artistic,
cultural and natural heritage
• Promotion of social cohesion, healing and reconciliation through building collections that represent
the social history of South Africa
• Addressing past injustices through de-accessioning of unethically collected human remains
• Knowledge generation through research to contribute to an educated, informed and empowered society
• Conservation of collections to ensure that these are preserved for future generations
• Digitisation of collections to provide access and to reduce risk of information loss

PROGRAMME
PERFORMANCE
INDICATOR

ANNUAL TARGET
2018/19

ACTUAL ACHIEVEMENTS
2018/19

PROGRAMME 2: COLLECTIONS (BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT)
Sub-programme: Collections management
Strategic objective: Digitisation of collections
Number of new records
entered on collections
databases

21,200

15 644
Underachieved by 26% due to the ongoing Courtyard Project
at ISAM which resulted in collections having to be packed
and strapped for moving to alternative storage areas as the
contractors proceeded with the construction work

Sub-programme: Collections management
Strategic objective: Growth of collections
Number of new
acquisitions

2, 055

13 337
Over-achieved. During the course of the year opportunities
arose for growing the Art and Social History Collections, while
ongoing fieldwork in the Natural History Collections also
resulted in the acquisition of more specimens than projected

Sub-programme: Research
Strategic objective: : Improve capacity, productivity and relevance of research
Number of peer-reviewed
research publications

21

30
Annual Target exceeded due to the large number of active
research projects i.e. 78 during 2018/19. Refer to appendix 6.7

Number of other research
publications, including
guides

14

7
Annual Target partially achieved by 50% due to the focus on
peer-reviewed publications during 2018/19 emanating from the
large number of active research projects (78) that have not
yet been translated/ expanded into popular publications. The
Courtyard Project also had an impact and the Department also
operated without a Director for 8 months. Refer to appendix 6.8

2.2.3 Programme 3: Audience Development (Public Engagement)
Purpose
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Enhance access
Offer multiple experiences to visitors
Create a vibrant museum atmosphere
Provide interactive museum programmes and outreach activities
Attract people from diverse communities
Connect people, encourage public participation and promote inter-generational dialogue
Implement strategy to increase Iziko’s online presence and enrich the website content, to ensure
this functions as a key knowledge resource
• Implement effective marketing and communication to increase visitor numbers, as well as market
the product to support the growth of self-generated revenue
• Develop and implement an Advancement Strategy to position Iziko to attract investment and increase donorand self-generated income to enable public engagement initiatives and other strategic objectives
• Develop and sustain strategic partnerships to facilitate collaboration and synergy with other organisations
for mutual benefits

PROGRAMME
PERFORMANCE
INDICATOR

ANNUAL TARGET
2018/19

ACTUAL ACHIEVEMENTS
2018/19

PROGRAMME 3: AUDIENCE DEVELOPMENT (PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT)
Sub-programme: Exhibitions and public programmes
Strategic objective: Development and execution of an Exhibition and Public Programmes Plan
Number of new exhibitions

15

19
The Annual Target was exceeded due to the fact that during the
course of the year Iziko Museums received invitations for new
exhibition projects from its partners.
See Appendix 6.4

Sub-programme: Public understanding of arts and culture
Strategic objective: Enriching and enabling education and public programmes (museum education programmes)
Number of museum
education programmes
conducted

4

18 special museum programmes were conducted. During
the period under review each section delivered one special
education programme per quarter but Art delivered 6 in total.

Sub-programme: Public understanding of arts and culture
Strategic objective: Enriching and enabling education and public programmes
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Number of public
programmes presented

12

14
One special programme was offered in response to a request
from a partner institution.

Sub-programme: Public understanding of arts and culture
Strategic objective: Outreach programme (Mobile Museum)
Number of outreach
programmes implemented

52

53
The education department over-achieved by 1 outreach
programme due to an extra request for an outreach programme.

Sub-programme: Marketing and communication
Strategic Objective: Effective marketing and communication implemented to increase the total
visitor numbers, website visitors and social media followers
Total number of visitors
(excluding outreach) as
calculated on 31 March
2019

A minimum of 556,157
(excluding outreach)
visitors as calculated on 31
March 2019

Iziko welcomed a total of 528,409 visitors during the 2018/19
fiscal. Despite significant environmental impacts, Iziko visitor
numbers had a marginal decline of 3% compared to 2017/18.
Factors beyond human control, including the impact of the
drought, and subsequent dwindling number of domestic, local
and international visitors to Cape Town; increased competition
within the cultural attraction industry, as well as the general
economic downturn contributed to the negative growth in visitor
numbers. Thus the total visitor figures 2018/19 fell 5% short of
the projected annual target.

Total number of website
visitors as calculated on 31
March 2019

A minimum of 242,106
website visitors as on 31
March 2019

244,591 website visitors. The new Drupal Iziko Website went live
on the 31st March 2019.
Overachievement of target is due to increased frequency in
public stakeholder communications, which directly positively
impacted the increased number of visitors to the Iziko websites.

Total number of online
followers (Facebook and
Twitter) as calculated on 31
March 2019

A minimum of 8,500
Facebook followers and
5,000 Twitter followers as
of 31 March 2019

Facebook Fans 11,487
Twitter followers 5,850
Over-achievement of target is due to the successful
implementation of the Heritage month communications roll-out
which directly impacted the increase in online followers.

Sub-programme: Advancement
Strategic Objective: Implement Advancement Strategy and position Iziko to attract investment; and optimise
fundraising and income generation capacity
Implement promotional
campaigns and promote
access in order to support
social cohesion and nation
building

15 free commemorative
days promoted annually

15

Donor income banked by 31

Increase of 15% or more
over previous year’s total
donor income banked.
(Est. R11,500,000)

Donor income banked in the year ended 31 March 2019
amounted to R7,870,064 resulting in an increase of 16%
or R1,103,076 compared to the actual total donor income of
R6,766,988 banked in the year ended 31 March 2018.

March 2019

Overachievement of target in actual terms is due primarily to
a large once - off donation for a travelling exhibition received
during the year.
Self-generated income
banked by 31 March 2019

Increase of 10% or more
over previous year’s total
self-generated income
by 31 March 2018.
(Est. R20,826,269)

Self-generated income banked in the year ended 31 March 2019
amounted to R11,089,030 resulting in a decrease of 5,73% or
R674,245 compared to the actual income of R11,763,275 banked
in the year ended 31 March 2018.
The marginal drop in self-generated income is due to external
environmental factors beyond management’s control, including
the decline in visitor numbers and other income sources.
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Annual Performance Summary
PROGRAMME 1: ADMINISTRATION

100%

80%

20%

Total
Achieved
Not achieved

PROGRAMME 2: COLLECTIONS (BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT)

100%

50%

50%

Total
Achieved
Not achieved

PROGRAMME 3: AUDIENCE DEVELOPMENT (PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT

100%

80%

20%

Total
Achieved
Not achieved

OVERALL PERFORMANCE TOTAL

100%

70%

30%

Total
Achieved
Not achieved

2.3 Auditor’s Report: Predetermined Objectives
The AGSA/ Auditor currently performs the necessary audit procedures on the performance information to
provide reasonable assurance in the form of an audit conclusion. The audit conclusion on the performance
against predetermined objectives is included in the report to Management, with material findings being
reported under the Predetermined Objectives heading in the Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
section of the Auditor’s Report.
Refer to page 86 of the Report for the Auditor’s Report, published in Chapter 5: Financial Information.
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3 | GOVERNANCE
Guests listening to welcome speeches at the opening of Not the Usual Suspects exhibition in October 2018 at ISANG.
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3.1 Introduction
In the reporting period, Council and Management addressed the impact that the environment, in particular the
economic climate, has had on the delivery on our heritage mandate. Over the past few years, the increase in
operational costs has resulted in Iziko having to generate a larger percentage of the annual operating budget,
which has been a challenge, as many donors and funders are faced with the same economic challenges.
To this end, Iziko commenced the review of the organisational structure a few years ago to ensure a workforce
that would deliver more efficiently on Iziko’s strategic and operational objectives.

3.2 Portfolio Committees
No meetings were held with the Department of Arts and Culture (DAC) Parliamentary Portfolio Committee
during the 2018/19 financial year.

3.3 Executive Authority
The following table provides commentary on reports submitted to the Executive Authority, the Department of
Arts and Culture, dates issued, and issues raised by the DAC.

Submission date

Report

Issues raised

2018/02/13

1st Draft Shareholder’s Compact

2018/02/18

Table final APP for 2018/19 in Parliament

N/A

2018/03/18

Final two copies of printed Shareholder’s Compact

N/A

2017/03/31

Financial year-end 2017/18

N/A

2018/04/01

Start of financial year 2018/19

N/A

2018/04/13

Submit Procurement Plans to the DAC

N/A

2018/04/27

Submit final Quarterly Report to the DAC for 2017/18 financial
year

N/A

2018/05/29

2. Submit list of all banking accounts to Treasury via DAC
Corporate Governance Unit
3. Submit Annual Report performance measurement details
to Auditor-General.

N/A

Before 31 May 2018

Audit Committee meeting to approve AFS for 2017/2018
submission to AG for audit

N/A

2018/05/30

Submit signed financial statements for 2017/2018 and
management reports to Treasury and Auditor-General/
External auditor for 2017/18

N/A

2018/05/31

Submit signed Treasury AFS Template to Treasury

N/A

2018/05/31

Submit the unaudited AFS to DAC

N/A

2018/05/31

Submit applications for Deficit and retention of Surpluses to
Governance Unit

N/A

2018/06/20

Submit the 1st draft of the Annual Report

It is suggested that the report must include
the summary of Annual Performance in
a pie chart in the section of Performance
Information. The Annual Report must be
quality checked for any possible errors
or mistakes which may be missed. All
attachments as per the Framework are
also to be included

2018/07/11

Audit Committee meeting to evaluate annual financial
statements and finalise AC report for inclusion in Annual
Report for 2017/18

N/A

2018/07/15

Submit Procurement Plans to DAC

N/A

2018/07/27

First Quarterly Report to Department for 2018/19 financial
year:

N/A

1. Audit Report issued for 2017/18
2. Audited financial statements to Treasury for 2017/18 and
Final AFS consolidation template (Reviewed by AG/Auditors)

N/A

2018/07/31

1. Submit the Auditors-Report,
2.Submit Management Report, Audited AFS to Corporate
Governance Unit DAC
Submit 2nd Mock -up signed Draft 2016/17 Annual Report to
DAC

N/A

2018/08/31

Submit the Final Printed Annual Report 2017/18 to DAC

The Annual Performance Plan for
the 2019/20 financial year must
fulfil the Strategic Plan which was
tabled in 2015/16 financial year.
Targets on the APP are reconciled
to the Strategic Plan.
Targets are to adhere to a SMART
principle. All targets to be
attainable for the entity to avoid not
achieving at the end of the year.
The Annual Performance Plan is
to be aligned to the DAC strategic
goals and objectives.
The budget of the lziko Museums of
South Africa is covering a period of
three years (MTEF). The Department
has noted the surplus projected by
lziko Museums of South Africa in
the next three years. lziko Museums
of South Africa has included the
full budget as part of its first draft
Annual Performance Plan

Submit a consolidated Audit Improvement Plan
Submit 1st draft Annual Performance Plan for 2018/19 to the
Department

2018/09/28

Submit the 2017/18 Irregular Expenditure

N/A

2018/10/03

Submit the revised MTEF Database to DAC /Corporate
Governance

N/A
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2018/10/31

Second Quarterly Report to Department for 2018/19 and the
Audit Implementation Plans

N/A

2018/10/31

Submission of the Disciplinary cases 2017/18 to DAC

N/A

2018/11/07

Submission of the 1st Draft ENE Database and Chapter to
DAC/Corporate Governance

N/A

2018/11/30

Submit 2nd Annual Performance Plan to Dept. for 2018/19

2018/12/04

Submit the revised ENE Database to DAC/Corporate
Governance

N/A

2019/01/30

Submit final Annual Performance Plan to Dept. for 2018/19

N/A

2019/01/30

Submit third quarterly Report to Department for 2018/19
financial year and the Audit implementation Plans

N/A

There are no significant issues
which were identified in the second
draft. It is therefore recommended
that the final version of the APP
takes the first draft’s inputs in to
consideration and must include all
the required Annexures as per the
Framework for APPs and Strategic
Plans.

3.4 Accounting Authority/Council
The Iziko Museums of South Africa Council Charter was presented to the incoming Council and approved in November
2016. The following table sets out the roles and responsibilities of Council, and commentary and progress in
complying with this charter. IZIKO MUSEUMS OF SOUTH AFRICA.
The term of the previous Council concluded on 31 July 2016, and the term of the new Council is 1 August 2016 to
31 July 2019.

3.5 Council Charter
Purpose of the Council Charter
The purpose of this document is to set out the mission, duties and responsibilities of Council Members of the
Iziko Museums of South Africa.

Misson of Council Members
The mission of Council Members is to represent the interests of the shareholder (the Government) in perpetuating
a successful business that ensures the achievement of the vision of the Museum.
The Council is ultimately accountable and responsible to Government for the performance and affairs of the
Museum. The Council must therefore retain full and effective control over the institution and give strategic
direction to the management of the Museum. The Council is also responsible for ensuring compliance with all
relevant laws, regulations and codes of business practice.
In addition, the Council has a responsibility to the broader stakeholders which include the present and potential
beneficiaries of the Museum’s products and services, clients, lenders and employees, to achieve continuing
prosperity for the Museum.

Selection and Composition of the Council
• Council Members shall be selected and appointed or removed by the Minister, in accordance with the applicable
legislation1.
• The Council may form committees consisting of Council Members, and such committees may take independent
professional advice with the consent of the Chairperson at the Museum’ expense as and when necessary
However, it must be noted that the Council is not precluded from the Supply Chain requirements when
procuring these services. These committees should report regularly to the Council on their activities. The
committee structure, membership and mandates should be reviewed regularly

Council Leadership
The chairperson of the Council should not be the CEO or any other executive Council member. The role of
the Chief Executive Officer and chairperson should accordingly be separate and the chairperson should be
an Executive Council Member.

Orientation of new Council Members
Council Members have a responsibility to acquaint themselves with their fiduciary duties, and responsibilities,
as well as with the issues pertaining to the operations and business environment of the Museum so that they
are able to fulfil their duties. To assist them, the Council should establish a formal orientation programme for
new Council Members which includes background material, meetings with senior management and visits to the
Iziko Museums.
Further, briefings on relevant new laws and changing commercial risks should be held periodically.

Conflicts of Interest
• A Council Member is disqualified by virtue of his/her office from contracting directly or indirectly with the
Museum.
• Full disclosure of the nature of a Council Member’s direct or indirect interest on any matter before the Council
is required.
• A Council Member may not vote on any matter in which they have an interest. Additionally, they should be
recused from any meeting when such matters are discussed.
• A register of declarations of interest should be kept.
• A Council Member who applies for a management position within the organisation must first resign as a
Council Member before doing so. In the event that the application is unsuccessful, such a Council Member may
not be re-appointed to the Council.
• Executive Council Members must distinguish between their role as Council Member and that of the Chief
Executive Officer. Should they be unable to reconcile the two roles they should withdraw from the discussion.
• The chairperson may for good reason request the Chief Executive Officer to leave the Council room for any
part of the Council meeting. This is especially so during deliberations relating to executive performance or
remuneration.
• A Council Members’ Code of Conduct shall be codified and disclosed in the annual report.
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3.5.1 Segregation Roles
In the execution of its fiduciary obligation the Council
will ensure a segregation of roles between itself (policy)
and management (implementation) without abdicating
its accountability role as imposed on it by applicable
legislation.

3.5.2 Committees

Audit, Finance, Human Resources, and
other committees
The Council should appoint an audit committee, core
functions committee, operations committee, Institutional
Advancement committee and should set out their purpose.
Each committee should have at least three members
and non-executive members should be in the majority.
The Council may also establish other committees and
should determine the functioning of those committees,
and delegate powers to such committees.

Officer annually. The evaluation should be based on
accomplishment of long-term strategic objectives,
development of management, etc. For this purpose the
Chief Executive Officer may be called to an interview.
The committee should provide a report for deliberation
to the full Council sitting without executive Council
Members and may modify its findings based on such
deliberations.
The evaluation will be used by the Operations Committee
in the course of its deliberations when considering the
compensation of the Chief Executive Officer.

Formal Evaluation of Council committees
The Council should evaluate the performance and
effectiveness of the Council Committees on an annual
basis, to determine areas in which the functioning of
the committees requires improvement.

Assignment and rotation of committee
members

3.5.4 Council Relationship to
Staff and External Advisors

The chairperson, considering of the desires of individual
Council Members, should annually propose the assignment
of Council Members to various committees. Subject to
any requirements for specific skills and experience,
it is good practice to rotate the membership of the
various committees.

Attendance of non-Council Members
at Council meetings

A summary of the charters of all Council committees
shall be disclosed in the annual report, together with
the composition of each committee.

The chairperson may permit members of the Museum
staff and outside parties to attend all or part of Council
meetings at specific or regular times. The purpose for
such attendance is to provide the Council with expert
insights to their deliberations or as capacity building for
potential Council Members. The Museum Chief Executive
Officer should propose such attendance and should
consult the chairperson of Council before reaching a
decision.

3.5.3 Evaluation of Council
Members

Council access to senior staff and
the books and records

General
The collective assessment of the Council should
evaluate the Council’s contribution as a whole
and should specifically review areas in which the
functioning of the Council could be improved.

Council Members in consultation and permission of
the Chairperson, may consult the Museum’s senior
Managers, through the Chief Executive Officer, regarding
information about the operations of the organisation,
records, documents and property, which they may require
to make competent decisions on behalf of Council.
Such contact should not be distracting to the business
operation of the Institution and be in writing, sent to the
office of the Chief Executive Officer and the Chairperson
of the Council. Council members shall refrain from
contacting staff directly.

Council Committee Charter

Formal evaluation of the Chief Executive
Officer
The operations committee, sitting without executive
Council Members and in consultation with the chairperson,
should make a formal evaluation of the Chief Executive

Council access to external experts
Council members may collectively or individually consult
external professional advisors with the permission of
the Chairperson on any matter of concern to the Museum
after having advised the Museum Chief Executive Officer
and Chairperson as appropriate. The Museum shall be
obliged to bear the costs of these consultation services.

3.5.5 Succession and Emergency
Planning
The chairperson should determine in consultation with
the Museum Chief Executive Officer, a succession plan
for the Museum Chief Executive Officer and one for
executive management. Similarly, acting arrangements
for when the Museum Chief Executive Officer is away
or indisposed should be pre-planned. Should the Museum
Chief Executive Officer be indisposed for an extended
period or indefinitely, the chairperson should consult
with the Council on acting arrangements, before an
acting Museum Chief Executive Officer is appointed.

3.5.6 Council Meetings
• Council meetings shall be held as determined by the
Council, in accordance with applicable legislation
specifying the Council’s reserved powers.
• The Council shall make decisions by a majority of votes
which is fifty percent plus 1 additional member’s vote.
• A record should be kept of the attendance of Council
Members at Council meetings. Council members must
attend not less than fifty percent of the annual subcommittee and council meetings.
• The chairperson, with the assistance of the Secretariat,
shall establish the agenda for each Council meeting
and in doing so should consult with other Council
Members and the Museum Chief Executive Officer
where necessary. The chairperson should place any
item on the agenda that is proposed in writing by a
Council Member.
• The Museum Chief Executive Officer shall, with the
assistance of the Secretariat, ensure that information
and data that is important to the Council’s understanding
of the business to be distributed in writing
before the Council meets. This material should be
as brief as possible while still providing the
essential information.

• Presentations should be sent to the Council
Membersin advance so that the Council’s meeting
time can be conserved, and the discussion time
focused on questions that the Council has about
the material. On those occasions when the subject
matter may in the opinion of the chairperson be
too sensitive to record, the presentation will be
discussed at the meeting.
• Minutes of all Council meetings shall record the
proceedings and decisions taken, the details of
which shall remain confidential.

3.5.7 Secretarial Role
The Council, assisted by the Museum Chief Executive
Officer, is responsible for the selection and appointment
of the Secretariat. The Council Secretary is responsible
for the delivery of secretarial services and adequate
Council meeting logistics for the successful running
of the Council’s business. The Council Secretary shall
attend all Council and Council Committee meetings to
record the proceedings and decisions.

3.5.8 Reservation of Powers
Except as reserved for in terms of applicable legislation,
the Council has unfettered powers to govern the
Organisation. The Council shall adopt a strategic plan
for the business. In addition, all material matters reserved
for decision by the Minister and the Council, and those
powers that have been delegated to management are
set out in the museum Delegated Powers document,
2006.

3.5.9 Risk Management and Internal
Control
The Council is responsible for determining the policies
and processes necessary to ensure the integrity of the
internal controls and risk management. Specifically,
the Council must ensure that a formal risk assessment
is undertaken annually to identify and evaluate key risk
areas. The Council must also ensure that it continually
reviews and forms its own opinion on the effectiveness
of the risk management process.
The Council’s risk management policy should be clearly
communicated to all employees to ensure that the
risk strategy of the Council is incorporated into the
language and culture of the Museum.
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A Council committee may assist the Council in reviewing
the risk management process and the significant risks
facing the Museum.

3.5.10 Monitoring of Operational
Performance
The Council should ensure that procedures are in place
for monitoring and evaluating the implementation of its
strategies, policies and business plans, as a measure
of operational performance and management.

3.5.11 Public Communications
Public communications on the affairs of the organisation
should normally be dealt with by management. The Council,
may by exception, decide to communicate directly, in
which case only the chairperson or his/her deputy should
make such communication. No Council Member is permitted
to make any public statements about the museum in
any public forum or in the press. All communications
that Council members want to make about the institution
has to be sanctioned by the Chairperson.
An individual Council Member however has fiduciary
responsibility to a wide range of stakeholders. Where
such Council Member is compromised by a serious matter
of conscience and feels compelled to make a public
communication, he or she should first discuss the matter
with the chairperson and on the chairperson’s advice,
with the stakeholder.

3.5.12 Integrated Sustainability
Reporting
The Museum Council should identify, monitor and report
at least annually, on the nature and extent of its social,
transformation, ethical, safety, health and environmental
management policies and practices. The disclosure of
this information should be governed by the principles
of reliability, relevance, clarity, comparability, timeliness
and verifiability.

3.5.13 Code of Ethics
The Council should establish the values of the Organisation
in support of its mission, and establish principles and
standards of ethical business practice in support of
such values. These principles and standards should
be communicated to affected stakeholders in codified
form, and the Council should assume responsibility
and accountability to stakeholders for compliance with
these.

Quorum
The Council’s quorum will be fifty percent plus one to
make decisions on behalf of the Iziko Museums.

Reversal of the Charter (Amendments)
The Museum Council may choose to amend the whole
Charter or sections of the Charter. This can only be done
at a meeting of the Iziko Museums Council where the
Council Member motivates for the amendment. All
Council Members will be expected to vote on accepting
or rejecting the change or changes. Any amendments
to this Charter will be done by majority vote.

3.6 Appendix 1 – Council Code of
Conduct
3.6.1 Introduction

The Council is accountable for the governance of
the Organisation. It is also responsible inter alia,
for strategic vision, setting policies and procedures,
monitoring operational performance, sustainability
and communications.
In order to be able to carry out their duties, the Council
Members must:
• know and understand the regulatory environment in
which the organisation operates;
• ensure that they have sufficient facts at their 		
disposal to make informed decisions; and
• identify on an ongoing basis the risks in the management
of the Organisation and ensure that there are 		
appropriate systems to manage such risks.

In addition to exercising due prudence and skill, Council
Members must conduct their fiduciary duties loyally
and in the best interests of the organisations they serve.
These standards form the foundation of this code.

3.6.2 Governing Principles
The following twelve principles, grouped into the two
overriding standards of diligence and good faith, govern
Council Members’ conduct:
Diligence (duties of care and skill)
• Induction and training
• Regulatory compliance
• Preparation and attendance at meetings
• Access to information and expert advice
• Disciplined, proactive and courageous participation
• Performance evaluation
Council Members should not only act with integrity
but they should also ensure that they know their
duties and responsibilities. They should exercise a
higher level of care than they would exercise when
carrying their own affairs.
The standard of care required is greater than that of a
reasonable person; the duty is to observe the utmost
good faith and to exercise proper care and diligence
in the safe custody, control or governance of
the Organisation.
A Council should understand its duties and responsibilities
and it should ensure that it acts in accordance with the
organisation’s rules as well as all applicable legislation
and other laws.
The Public Finance Management Act 1973 and equivalent
legislation only prescribes minimal criteria for being
elected or appointed as a Council Member. Subject to
its Articles of Association or rules of establishment, a
Council can establish its own guiding principles for such
elections and appointments. However, it is essential
that Council Members should be persons of integrity
who are competent to carry out the duties required of
a Council.

No person should be appointed as a Council Member who
has been found guilty of an offence involving dishonesty
or is an unrehabilitated insolvent.
Good Faith (fiduciary duties)
• Honesty and integrity
• Personal transactions
• Payments, gifts, entertainment and travel
• Disclosure of interests
• Confidentiality of information
• Abiding by the law
The Council has a fiduciary responsibility to the organisation
and its stakeholders and should protect their interests
above the interests of any third party or the personal
interests of Council Members individually or collectively.
It is the duty of the Council to protect and serve, impartially
and with due care and consideration, the equitable
interest of all stakeholders such as employees, suppliers,
customers and regulators. Councils are required to
ensure competing interests of the active and passive
(e.g. the environment) stakeholders, are balanced in
an equitable and fair manner, and that no individual or
group of stakeholders is given preferential treatment
over others.
The Council’s discretionary powers have to be exercised
in terms of its rules, the provisions of the Act and other
regulations. In the exercise of its discretionary powers,
Councils must act reasonably and fairly. The Council
may not do anything, which will fetter its discretion,
and may not delegate a fiduciary responsibility to those
whom that responsibility is owed. A Council is always
accountable for decisions it makes, as well as the actions
and decisions made by those to whom the Council has
delegated responsibility.
Disclosure is an inherent aspect of this fiduciary duty
to act with due care diligence and good faith. The Council
is required to disclose adequate and relevant information
to institutional stakeholders and beneficiaries in
an institution.
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3.7 Code of Conduct

3.7.1 Induction and Training
Council Members must be aware of their accountabilities
and responsibilities, and must attend training programmes
and workshops to assist them in executing their duties.
Induction training needs to cover general governance,
as well as organisation specific legislation and operations.
As the regulatory environment continually evolves, it
is essential that each Council Member learns about
the amendments or new laws and regulations that
impact on the organisation and future decisions that
will be taken by the Council. Formal update sessions
must be conducted and attended by all Council Members
on a regular (at least annual) basis to discharge
this responsibility.

3.7.2 Regulatory Compliance
• Council Members will abide by the law at all times.
• The Council Members must also always act within
limitations imposed by the Council on its activities.
• Council Members’ responsibilities and limitations
are primarily set out in the Public Finance Management
Act or other rules, and Council resolutions.
• The Council Members are expected to strictly observe
the provisions of the statutes applicable to the use
and confidentiality of corporation information.

3.7.3 Preparation and
Attendance at Meetings
Council Members need to be aware of the procedures to
be followed at Council meetings as provided for in its
Charter or other the rules of the organisation. Council
members must ensure that they attend not less than fifty
percent of their meetings.
Council members are required to prepare for each Council
and committee meeting. Sufficient information shall
be distributed to them before hand to enable each Council
Member to prepare adequately.
Council Members must ensure that they make every effort
to attend all Council meetings as scheduled and notified.
Where they also serve on Council committees, the same
level of commitment applies.

Minutes should be kept reflecting all decisions taken
and the basis on which such decisions were made. The
minutes must also reflect which members attended
each meeting.
Where consensus is not achieved, dissenting views should
be recorded in the minutes and, in the case of Council
committee meetings, communicated to the Council through
the institution’s secretary or Council chairperson.

3.7.4 Access to Information and
Expert Advice
The Council is entitled and in fact is obliged to obtain
expert advice from professionals such as lawyers,
actuaries and auditors in matters where its members
lack sufficient expertise. Council Members should
give the advice due consideration, and make decisions
based on the assessment of the advice obtained.
Where the management, administration and investment
functions of the Institution are delegated, Council
Members remain responsible for the actions of those
to whom these functions are delegated. The mandates
in terms of which these functions are delegated must
clearly set out the delegated responsibilities and the
rights of recourse by the Council or the Institution against
those to whom these responsibilities are delegated.
There must be a process of regular reporting to the
Council by those to whom the responsibilities have been
delegated. Where investment functions have been
delegated, the Council should ensure that there are
appropriate benchmarks for performance and that the
risk profile matches that of the stakeholders of the
Institution, where appropriate.
The Council Members are entitled to have access, at
reasonable times, to all relevant business information
and to senior management to assist them in the discharge
of their duties and responsibilities and to enable them
to take informed decisions. A protocol is normally
established through the Institution’s secretary, Museum
Chief Executive Officer or Chairperson of the Council
for this purpose.

3.7.5 Disciplined, Proactive
3.7.8 Personal Transactions
and Courageous Participation • Council Members personal or other business dealings
The Council needs to be disciplined in carrying out its
role, with the emphasis on strategic issues and policy.
The Council’s discussions must be open and constructive.
The Chairperson will seek a consensus in the Council
but may call for a vote, where considered necessary.
Discussions and records of the Council proceedings must
remain confidential unless a specific direction from the
Council to the contrary has been issued.
The Council has sole authority over its agenda but any
Council Member may request that additional items are
added to its agenda.
It is incumbent on individual Council Members to exercise
complete objectivity and independence especially in
situations driven by a dominant or charismatic leader,
which may not be in the best, sustainable interests of
the organisation.

3.7.6 Performance Evaluation
Every Council Member of the Council and its committees
needs to strive to improve his or her performance,
objectively adjudged by peers. A prerequisite for this
is a clear and mutual understanding of the role and
responsibilities assumed by each individual, preferably
documented as a formal performance contract that
runs for a maximum of 3 years.

3.7.7 Honesty and Integrity
• Council Members must act honestly and with integrity
in all their dealings on behalf of the Institution.
• They should not discriminate on the grounds of race,
religion, gender, marital status, or disability.
• Council Members may not make promises or 		
commitments that the Institution does not intend, or
would be unable to honour.
• Council Members’ conduct, at all times will be such
that their honesty is beyond question.
• Council Members shall adhere to the truth, and not 		
mislead directly or indirectly nor make false 		
statements, nor mislead by omission.

will be kept separate from their dealings as a 		
Council Member of the organisation.
• Council Members shall not use the name of the 		
organisation or any group Organisation to further
any personal or other business transaction.
• Council Members agree to use goods, services and
facilities provided to them by the Organisation, 		
strictly in accordance with the terms on which they
were provided.

3.7.9 Payments, Gifts,
Entertainment, Travel and
other forms of Enrichment
Council Members personal or other business dealings
Council Members may not under any circumstances
solicit or accept benefits, entertainment or gifts of
any kind (including, without limitation, cash preferred
pricing, preferred loans, securities, secret commission)
or any other direct or indirect benefit, financial or
otherwise as an inducement for performing an act or
as consideration for failing to act in any manner or
in exchange for preferential treatment. In particular,
no Council Member may make any secret profit or
otherwise enrich himself or herself at the expense
of the Institution by virtue of his or her office. Any
benefit, direct or indirect and financial or otherwise
received by the Council Member by virtue of his or
her office, unless it constitutes part of the Council
Member’s declared remuneration, shall be passed on
to the Institution.
Hence Council and committee members should treat
with caution any offer of gifts, favours, hospitality or
fees arising from their position in the Institution.
Entertainment, hospitality and modest gift items (such
as business lunches, exchange of modest items between
business associates, the presentation of small tokens
of appreciation at public functions or an inexpensive
memento) should be reasonable and never lead to a
sense of obligation.
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Specifically those entertainment, hospitality and
modest gift items:
• must be within the bounds of propriety, a normal
expression of courtesy or within the normal 		
standards of hospitality;
• must not bring suspicion on the Council Member’s
objectivity and impartiality;
• must not compromise the integrity of the Organisation;
• and must also not be perceived to be the above.
Inappropriate gifts that are received by a member of the
Council or committee should be returned to the donor
with a letter making reference to these procedures/code.
Any benefit, direct or indirect and financial or otherwise
received by the Council or committee member by virtue
of his or her office, unless it constitutes part of the
Council Members declared remuneration, shall be passed
on to the organisation.
A record of all gifts, hospitality and fees accepted,
surrendered to the Institution, or refused by Council
and committee members must be kept in the registered
office/domicilium of the organisation and made open
to inspection on request. Members should therefore
make all necessary declarations using the appropriate
form.
The identity of persons offering any Council Member
any benefit, direct or indirect and financial or otherwise
for acting or failing to act in any particular manner should
be revealed to the Council, which should decide on
the appropriate action to be undertaken against such a
person. Every Council must codify a policy and procedures
for declaring any gifts or favours that are received
by Council Members by virtue of being members of a
Council.
Council Members shall not use their status as Council
Members to seek personal gain from those doing business
or seeking to do business with the Organisation.
Council Members shall not accept any personal gain
of any material significance if offered.

3.7.10 Disclosure of interests
The Council is required to maintain an independent and
dispassionate interest in the affairs of the Institution and
be seen to do so.
Council Members may not have a direct and material financial
interest in any organisation (including administrators,
expert advisors, or consultants) to which any of the
responsibilities of the Council are delegated. Ideally,
Council Members also should not have a personal interest
in any other entity entrusted to their stewardship with
which the Organisation contracts to do business.
They must also consider the interests held by their
spouses, partners or close family, and by persons
living in the same household as well as the interests
of other connected persons such as trusts.
Council Members who have any queries or concerns
about these situations, and particularly when in doubt,
should discuss them with the Chairperson. In all
circumstances, they should ask themselves whether
members of the public, knowing the facts of the situation,
would reasonably conclude that the interest involved
might influence the approach taken to the actions of
the Council or committee.
The Chairperson should take particular care that no
possible conflict of interest in this area is allowed to
arise.
In cases where a member of the Council and its committees
or advisers has a beneficial interest in any matter to
be considered by the Institution, or should a potential
conflict of interest arise:
• the interest and its nature must be disclosed at the
earliest opportunity, if not in advance. There are
two type of disclosure:
• a general declaration of interest that is furnished
annually in advance;
• and a special declaration at any point in time 		
throughout the year.
• the person must not influence or seek to influence
any decision relating to the matter;
• the person should take no part in a decision on the
matter;
• and the person will withdraw from the proceedings
if so requested and in any event not contribute 		
further to that item unless requested.

The Public Finance and Management Act and equivalent
legislation sets standards and procedures for the
disclosure of interest in contracts with which Council
members must comply in accordance with the best
interest of the organisation.
Individual Council and committee members shall sign
an annual Declaration of Interests and signing this shall
be a condition of appointment.
These declarations must be entered into a register of
interests, which should be tabled at Council meetings.
Should a conflict or potential conflict of interest arise
it must be disclosed to the Council and should be minuted
at the next Council meeting.
The Council and committee members must have regard
to the requirement on the organisation to disclose
material transactions with related parties in financial
statements, and must enable the Institution to comply
with this requirement. In all cases, ‘members interests’
covers also the interests of any related parties, including
family members or members of the same household
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by,
Council or committee members.
Council Members shall fully disclose active private or
other business interests promptly and any other matters
which may lead to potential or actual financial conflicts
of interest in accordance with such policies that the
Council Members may adopt from time to time.
Council Members shall fully disclose all relationships
they have with the Institution in accordance with
polices in independence that the Council Members
may adopt from time to time.
Council Members’ dealings with the Institution will
always be at arm’s length to avoid the possibility of
actual or perceived conflicts of interest.

3.7.11 Confidentiality of
information
Any information acquired by a Council Member by virtue
of his or her office can only be utilised for the purposes
of furthering the interests of the Institution, and not for
his or her own personal gain.

Confidential information includes proprietary, technical
business, financial, joint venture and any other information,
which organisation treats as confidential or which is not
made availably publicly.
Council Members who leave or retire from the Institution
continue to be obligated not to disclose such confidential
information.
Council and committee members therefore should:
• maintain at all times, the confidentiality of all 		
information and records that are the property of
the Institution and must not reveal such information
unless it becomes a matter of general public concern;
• not make any contact nor divulge any information
to external organisations, including the media,
without prior approval from the Council or the chair;
• not use confidential information obtained by virtue
of that member’s association for personal gain, or
to benefit friends, relatives and others;
• not do or say anything which might be construed as
damaging the credibility or integrity of the Council
or the organisation; and
• not attend any external meeting on behalf of 		
organisation without prior approval of the Council,
its chairperson, or in an emergency, the Museum
Chief Executive Officer.
Council Members will ensure that confidential information
relating to customers, employees and Institution
operations is not given inadvertently or deliberately
to third parties without the consent of the Institution.
Council Members will not use information obtained by
them from their office for personal gain, nor will the
information be used to obtain financial benefit, profit
or gain for any other person or business.
Council Members will respect the privacy of others. In
addition, a Council should be aware of the provisions
of the Promotion of Access to Information Act and must
ensure that the required manual and access procedures
required in terms of that Act are established for
the Institution.
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3.7.12 Abiding by the Law
Individual Council Members and committee members must comply with all applicable laws and regulations that
relate to their activities for and on behalf of the Institution.
They will not commit or condone any violation of the law or unethical business dealing and shall not engage in
or give the appearance of being engaged in any illegal or improper conduct.

3.7.13 Breach of Code of Conduct
The Council should have mechanisms and sanctions set out in the Institution’s rules on how to deal with Council
Members that breach their fiduciary duties or any aspect of this code of conduct.
Where a full Council Member is in serious breach of any aspects of this Code of Conduct, the Minister shall be
informed so that appropriate action can be taken.

3.8 Iziko Museums of South Africa Finance and Budget
Council Committee
Purpose
To establish a standing committee known as the Finance and Budget Committee (F&BC), hereafter referred to as
the Committee, of the Iziko Museums of South Africa Council (Council), the Accounting Authority of Iziko.
The Committee will be independent from the operations of the Audit and Risk Committee (A&RC) of Council,
except when there is a joint meeting of these committees annually in May.
The Committee shall be responsible for advising Council and the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) on governance
matters related to financial performance monitoring, evaluation, review and compliance, as well as to provide
guidance in terms of financial strategy and policy development. The Committee will also provide guidance in
terms of any other financial matters delegated by the Council.
These terms of reference are intended to mandate the Committee in its activities, and any deviation from these
terms of reference will require Council approval.

3.9 Iziko Museums of South Africa Core Functions Council
Committee
Purpose
To establish a standing committee known as the Core Functions Committee (CFC), hereafter referred to as the
Committee, of the Iziko Museums of South Africa Council (Council), the Accounting Authority of Iziko.
The Committee shall be responsible for advising Council and the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) on governance
matters related the strategic level of the core function activities of the institution, i.e. research, exhibitions,
digitisation, collections, education, fundraising and publicity; to play an oversight role on issues relating to the
aforementioned issues, as well as to provide guidance in terms of policy development. The Committee will also
provide guidance in terms of any other matters delegated by the Council.
These terms of reference are intended to mandate the Committee in its activities, and any deviation from these
terms of reference will require Council approval.

3.10 Iziko Museums of South Africa Operations Council
Committee
Purpose
To establish a standing committee known as the Operations Committee (OC), hereafter referred to as the
Committee, of the Iziko Museums of South Africa Council (Council), the Accounting Authority of Iziko.
The Committee shall be responsible for advising Council and the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) on governance
matters related the strategic level of the operations activities of the institution, i.e. facilities, support services
and human resources; to play an oversight role on issues relating to the aforementioned issues, as well as to
provide guidance in terms of policy development. The Committee will also provide guidance in terms of any
other matters delegated by the Council.
These terms of reference are intended to mandate the Committee in its activities, and any deviation from these
terms of reference will require Council approval.

3.11 Audit & Risk Committee
Purpose
The Audit & Risk Committee is specifically required to review the financial reporting process, the management
of strategic, operational and financial risks, the system of internal control, the internal and external audit process,
and compliance with all laws and regulations.
The primary role of the Audit & Risk Committee is to:
a) Assist Iziko’s Council in its evaluation of the adequacy and effectiveness of governance, ethics, risk 		
management, internal control, accounting practice, information systems and auditing processes as applied
by Iziko in the day-to-day management of its business.
b) Facilitate and promote communication regarding any of the above matters or any related matter as between
Iziko’s Council, senior executive management, external auditors and the Internal Audit Activity.
c) Introduce such measures as may serve to enhance the credibility and objectivity of any financial statements
and reports prepared with reference to Iziko’s affairs.
The Audit & Risk Committee is further tasked to provide professional advice and guidance to assist Iziko’s Council
to achieve and maintain transparency, ethics, accountability, good governance and sound management as regards
Iziko’s operations, revenue, expenditure, assets, liabilities, artefacts and collections.

3.12 Terms of Reference to Council
The term of the previous Council concluded on 31 July 2016, and the term of the new Council is 1 August 2016
to 31 July 2019.
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COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD
Name

Designation (in terms
of Public Entity Board
structure)

Date appointed

Amb. Dikgang
Moopeloa

Chairman of Council

1 August 2016
(2nd term)

Themba Wakashe

Deputy Chairperson of
Council

1 August 2016
(2nd term)

Chairman of the Core Functions
and Advancement Committees

5

Andy Mooke

Council member

1 August 2016
(2nd term)

Finance and Budget Committee
Chairperson

10

Prof. Sadhasivan
Perumal

1 August 2016
(2nd term)

Operations Committee
Chairperson and Audit and
Risk Council representative

8

Council member

Council member

1 August 2016
(1st term)

Core Functions and
Advancement Committee
member

11

Adv. Judith Leshabane

Adv. Rod Solomons

Council member

1 August 2016
(1st term)

Finance and Budget Committee
member

8

Sijabulile Makhathini

Council member

1 August 2016
(1st term)

Audit and Risk Committee
Council representative

2

Rowan (Nick) Nicholls

Audit and Risk Committee
Chairperson

May 2017 – 2020

N/A

Althea Dlamini

External Audit and Risk
Committee member

May 2017 – 2020

N/A

Peter Heeger

External Audit and Risk
Committee member

May 2017 – 2020

N/A

Other committees
or task teams

No. of
meetings
attended
5

3
2
3

COMMITTEES
Committee

No. of
meetings
held

No. of members

3

12 (Chairperson, 1
Council representative,
2 external members,
CRO, CEO, CFO, AGSA
(3), outsourced to
Nexia SAB&T (2)

Name of members
• Nick Nicholls (Chairperson 2017 – 2020)

Audit and Risk

• Sijabulile Makhathini (Council representative 2016 – 2019)
• P Heeger (External Audit Committee member 2017 – 2020)
• Althea Dlamini (External Audit Committee member
2017 – 2020)
• Rooksana Omar (Ex Officio) CEO
• Ronell Pedro (CFO)
• Andy Mooke (Chairperson)

Finance and
Budget

3

2 Council members,
CEO, CFO

• Adv. Rod Solomons (Council member)
• Rooksana Omar (Ex Officio) CEO
• Ronell Pedro (CFO)

Operations

Core Functions
and Advancement

3

3

2 Council members,
CEO, Executive Director
Operations, Director
Support Services,
Director Human
Resources

• Prof. Sadhasivan Perumal (Chairperson)

2 Council members,
CEO, Executive Director
Core Functions,
Director Research and
Exhibitions, Director
Collections and
Digitisation, Director
Education, Director
Advancement

• Themba Wakashe (Chairperson)

• Adv. Judith Leshabane (Council member)
• Rooksana Omar (Ex Officio) CEO
• Denise Crous (Executive Director Operations)
• Fahrnaaz Johadien (Director Support Services)
• Thembisa Maqeda (Director Human Resources)

• Rooksana Omar (Ex Officio) CEO
• Adv. Judith Leshabane (Council member)
• Dr Bongani Ndhlovu (Executive Director Core Functions)
• Paul Tichmann (Director Collections and Digitisation)
• Susan Glanville-Zini (Director Research and Exhibitions)
• Hylton Arnolds (Director Education)
• Melody Kleinsmith (Acting Director Advancement)
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ATTENDANCE OF AUDIT COMMITTEE MEETINGS BY AUDIT COMMITTEE MEMBERS
Name

Qualifications

Internal or
external

If internal,
position in the
public entity

Date
appointed

Date
resigned

No. of
meetings

Nick Nicholls

N/A

External

N/A

2017

To date

3

Sijabulile Makhathini

N/A

Internal

Council member

2016

To date

0

Prof. Sadhasivan
Perumal

N/A

Internal

Alternative Council
representative

2017

To date

3

Althea Dlamini

N/A

External

N/A

2017

To date

2

Peter Heeger

N/A

External

N/A

2017

To date

3

3.13 Risk Management
A Risk Management Policy, which communicates the Iziko Risk Management Strategy, has been approved by
Council. The Iziko Risk Register is reviewed quarterly to monitor progress with regard to risk mitigation in terms
of a pre-determined timeframe and to add new and emerging risks. The Risk Register is submitted to Council
via the Audit and Risk Committee of Council.
Iziko also has a Council-approved Disaster Management Policy and Disaster Management Plan. Each department
has also developed Disaster Management Procedures relevant to the department. When an incident/ disaster
has taken place, a meeting is convened with relevant staff to discuss the response to the incident/ disaster, and
the need to procure additional tools and equipment for disaster bins/ stores is identified to ensure that Iziko is
better prepared to deal with such an incident/ disaster. Disaster management procedures are also revised on a
regular basis.
The Senior Management Team (SMT) is also the Risk Management Committee, and reviews all the risks in
the Risk Register, not only the risks relevant to their department. The Audit and Risk Committee advises
Management on risk management, and reports to Council on the effectiveness of risk management.
The SMT is also the Disaster Management Team.

3.14 Internal Control Unit
The table below details the work done by the Internal Audit Activity during the year.

2018/19 INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN (COMBINED IZIKO AND NEXIA SAB&T)
Risk Management and related activities

Responsibility

2018/19

Annual Risk Register Review & Alignment with the Strategic Plan/ APP Objectives

Iziko

√

Quarterly Review & Update of the Risk Register (Q1, Q2, Q3, Q4)

Iziko

√

Daily monitoring of the Iziko Fraud Helpline

Iziko

√

Planning: Annual & 3-year Rolling Internal Audit Plan (S-2010)

Nexia SAB&T

√

Project Management of the Annual Report 2018/2019

Iziko

√

Annual Review: Audit Committee Charter

Iziko

√

Independent Observer during Supply Chain Management processes

Iziko

√

Monitoring of Governance, Risk and Control processes in the entity

Iziko

√

Research w.r.t. new developments (Governance/ Risk/ Control: S-2110/ 2120/ 2130)

Iziko

√

Consultation activities to managers re: Governance, Risk and Control

Iziko

√

Quarterly Internal Audit progress reports to the Audit Committee

Iziko

√

Research w.r.t. new developments (Governance/ Risk/ Control: S-2110/ 2120/ 2130)

Iziko

√

Ad Hoc Survey/s & assurance reviews: As instructed by the CEO and Audit Committee

Iziko

√

Quarterly Review: Programme Performance Information/ PDO - (Q1, Q2, Q3, Q4)

Iziko

√

Evaluation of the proposed performance indicators for the new financial year against
the SMART criteria

Nexia SAB&T

√

Annual Review: PPI/ APP Template

Iziko

√

Operational audits

Responsibility

2018/19

Assurance Review: adequacy and effectiveness of the controls for the safeguarding of assets
at Iziko Museums including access to and the storage conditions of heritage assets in the
natural history, arts and social history departments.

Nexia SAB&T

√

Governance

Responsibility

2018/19

Assurance Review: assessment of the alignment of sub-committee functions to the council
charter; and the operational effectiveness of the sub-committees.

Nexia SAB&T

√

Assurance Review: adequacy and effectiveness of the physical access controls and logical
access controls of the IT systems used by the Collections and Digitisation departments.

Nexia SAB&T

√

Other

Responsibility

2018/19

Attendance at Audit Committee meetings

Iziko;
Nexia SAB&T

√

Internal Audit planning, annual reviews and ongoing activities

Reviews relating to Performance Objectives

Information Technology
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3.15 Compliance with Laws and Regulations
A culture of compliance is nurtured, and where a potential risk for non-compliance is identified, action is taken
to communicate relevant requirements in Laws, Regulations, Codes of Good Practice and Guides, as well as
approved Human Resources policies and procedures.

Employment
Employment policies, including the three that were developed in the reporting period, are compliant with the
following legislative framework:
• Constitution of South Africa Act, 1996, as amended (Act No. 108 of 1996)
• Promotion of Equality and Prevention of Unfair Discrimination, 2000 (Act No. 4 of 2000)
• Employment Equity Act, 1998, as amended (Act No. 55 of 1998)
• Labour Relations Act, 1995, as amended (Act No. 66 of 1995)
• Occupational Health and Safety Act, 1993, as amended (Act No. 85 of 1993)
• Compensation for Occupational Injuries and Diseases Act, 1993, as amended (Act No. 130 of 1993)
• Basic Conditions of Employment Act, 1997, as amended (Act No. 75 of 1997)
• National Policy for Health Act, 1990, as amended (Act No. 116 of 1990)
• Medical Schemes Act, 1998, as amended (Act No. 131 of 1998)

Facilities
The majority of the Iziko buildings are heritage buildings, and we are obligated to comply with the National Heritage
Resources Act, 1999 (Act No. 25 of 1999) for the management of the facilities, as well as the procedures and protocols
of Heritage Western Cape, the provincial heritage resources authority.
Our buildings that are state owned also have to be managed within the legislative framework of the Government
Immovable Asset Management Act (GIAMA), 2007 (Act No. 19 of 2007), which is a specific framework and guideline
for the management of immovable assets.

Heritage
Flagship institutions were established in terms of the Cultural Institutions Act, 1998 (Act No. 119 of 1998). Iziko
complies with this Act, as well as all other heritage-related legislation, including the National Heritage Resources
Act, 1999 (Act No. 25 of 1999). These legislative imperatives are complied with, and are communicated through
policies and procedures related to collections management, exhibitions, acquisitions, human remains and education.

Finance
Iziko’s financial management is regulated by the Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999), as
well as National Treasury Regulations, as amended from time to time. Financial transactions and other events
are recognised, measured, presented and disclosed in terms of the Generally Recognised Accounting Practices
(GRAP) framework issued by the Accounting Standards Board (ASB). A detailed statement of Iziko’s financial
position is provided in the annual financial statements (AFS) for 2018/19.

Income
Iziko’s income streams derive from non-exchange transactions, which include the Medium-term Expenditure
Framework (MTEF) parliamentary grant allocation received from the Department of Arts and Culture (DAC),
utilised primarily to fund the programmes and operational activities of the entity; as well as grants received for
major capital works projects. Iziko also receives funding for specific projects from various national and international
donors and funding agencies. Additional income is derived from cash and asset donations from the general public.
Own income generated includes interest received on funds invested, income received from gate revenue, as well
as sundry income, like parking and venue hire revenue.

Although Iziko remains heavily dependent on the grant
allocation from the DAC and is extremely vulnerable
to budget cuts from that one source, Iziko recognises
that maintaining a healthy degree of diversity in the
funding structure is an important step to achieving
financial sustainability.

Expenditure
Iziko’s expenditure trends typically mirror its income
trends. Expenditure on major research and other core
function projects increases as funding sources from
sponsorships expand. Capital and operational expenditure
have increased due to the implementation of various
projects undertaken in the financial year under review.
Employee remuneration is attributed to a general salary
increase, which has been limited to the percentage
increase in Iziko’s MTEF parliamentary grant allocation.
Although Iziko has taken a prudent approach to salary
increments to date, the low salary increases are a cause
for concern in an economic climate of rising inflation
and higher cost of living expenses for Iziko staff. Challenges
are already experienced in terms of attraction and retention
of suitably skilled and high performing staff.
Despite the fact that Iziko’s governance is characterised
by sound financial practices, transparent fiscal management
and efficient financial administration, risk issues related
to financial sustainability remain a concern as the entity
strives to ensure and maintain good financial stewardship
in terms of the safeguarding of its assets, budgeting
and budgetary control practices, internal control measures
and compliance.

Risk Management
In terms of Section 38 of the Public Finance Management
Act (PFMA), 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999), as amended, the
CEO, as Accounting Officer, must ensure that Iziko has
and maintains effective, efficient and transparent systems
of financial and risk management and internal control.
To this end, the CEO has appointed a Senior Manager
to perform the additional duties of Chief Risk Officer.
The CEO also personally monitors the top five risks on
the Risk Dashboard.
A Fraud Prevention Policy has also been developed and
implemented to mitigate risks.

The institution participates in fraud awareness campaigns
of the Department of Arts and Culture (DAC), as required,
and has established a fraud helpline, monitored by the
internal audit function, where staff can report any
known fraudulent activity.
Fraud cases are also reported through disciplinary and
fraud reports, which are sent to the Human Resources
department by departmental Administrators on a monthly
basis, as well as to the DAC on a quarterly basis and
on 31 October of each year. Disciplinary action is taken
against staff members found guilty. In these instances
staff members are, however, not able to be charged with
fraud, but they are charged with dishonesty.

Procurement
During the 2018/19 financial year, Iziko procured goods
and services from suppliers and service providers
registered on the Central Supplier Database (CSD)
according to the procurement plan and in terms of its
annual approved budget. Despite the fact that the CSD
was introduced to reduce duplication of effort and costs
for both the supplier and government, Iziko continues
to experience strain on its resources in terms of
compliance with the requirements. Challenges relate
mainly to insufficient assistance from National Treasury
with the resolution of queries, and the inability to extract
relevant and useful information from the database for
use at entity level. Iziko has also found that certain
service providers are unwilling to register on the CSD,
which has resulted in a shrinking of the supplier database
from which to source goods and services, and a less
than ideal environment for fair, equitable, transparent,
competitive and cost-effective procurement. It is
hoped that as time progresses and the system includes
information and reports that are useful to individual
entities, that the benefits of reducing effort will be
felt by Iziko.
Iziko’s Audit & RiskCommittee has oversight of the risk
of fraud on behalf of Council, and receives quarterly
reports from the Internal Audit function. All risks,
including fraud risks, are identified in the Risk Register,
which is approved by the Audit & Risk Committee. Fraud
risk exposure is assessed continuously during operations
and at project level, to identify specific potential schemes
and events that the organisation needs to mitigate.
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Controls over payment authorisations and the segregation
of duties have been strengthened, and continuous
auditing and monitoring is used to test and validate
the effectiveness of Iziko’s controls. All exceptions
to policies and procedures are investigated, and
investigations are resolved with disciplinary action,
where necessary, as well as improved controls.
Financial losses are recovered, where applicable.
Iziko has a Code of Ethics and Business Conduct in
place that applies to all employees, contract and casual
workers, consultants, suppliers, contractors and other
providers of goods or services to Iziko. Conflicts of
interest at all levels, including at Council level, are
disclosed. Supply Chain Management (SCM) Officials
are subjected to a Code of Conduct and Terms of
Reference, and panel members of Bid Evaluation and
Bid Adjudication Committees are required to declare
all and any business interests with bidders or service
providers. In addition, all Iziko staff are required to
declare any conflicts of interest, and detailed guidance
in relation to the acceptance of gifts are in place.
To further counteract abuse within SCM, Iziko has
implemented a tool to facilitate the reporting of any
complaints by internal or external stakeholders to
Iziko’s Internal Audit function. Iziko also participated
in the DAC’s whistle blowing campaign, and includes
the Corruption and Fraud Hotline number provided in
all emailed communication. Management has no
knowledge of actual, suspected or alleged fraud
during the reporting period.

Recruitment
Iziko places an abridged advertisement in a newspaper
in which the reader is directed to the Iziko website where
a detailed advertisement is posted. In 2015, a five-year
Employment Equity Plan was developed in terms of
the Employment Equity Act, 1998 (Act No. 55 of 1998).
Targets are set in the Plan to address the underrepresentation of designated groups.

3.16 Code of Conduct
The Iziko Code of Conduct guides the workplace
relationship between staff and Management, as well
as between colleagues, and includes the following
Core Values and Best Practices developed by staff:

• Open and honest in all dealings and disclosures;
• Non-sectarian and apolitical;
• Aspiring to excellence in the quality of our products
and services;
• Committed to our standing regarding integrity and credibility;
• Consistent in honouring our legal and moral
obligations; and
• Aware of the need to foster loyalty and long,
enduring relationships.

3.17 Health and Safety Issues
Iziko is compliant with the Occupational Health and
Safety Act (OHSA), 1993 (Act No. 85 of 1993), as amended,
as communicated in the Health and Safety Policy. In
terms of Section 17 of the OHSA, a Health and Safety
Committee comprising representatives from each
department, meets regularly to ensure that health and
safety issues reported to Senior Management have
been addressed.
Iziko endeavours to keep our visitors, staff, collections
and buildings safe. As such, after a health and safetyrelated incident, the relevant Director calls a meeting
to assess the incident and, where appropriate, health
and safety procedures are revised and amended to
improve health and safety measures.
When the new Iziko Planetarium and Digital Dome was
upgraded to a state-of-the-art digital planetarium, the
fire detection system was also upgraded. Iziko is also
in the process of implementing a fire suppression system
to protect Iziko collections.

3.18 Social Responsibility

3.18.1 Entrance Fee Concessions
Access for all is one of the cornerstones of Iziko’s mandate.
However, balancing this priority against the need to
generate income through charging entrance fees (thereby
ensuring sustainability) is a challenge, considering that
many South Africans, particularly those from previously
disadvantaged communities, cannot afford these fees.
Iziko has successfully addressed this challenge
by implementing a diversified pricing structure that
includes:
• free entry for South African students and pensioners
on Fridays;
• discounted rates via family tickets;

• half-price entry for children and accompanying 		
adults during school holidays;
• free entry for children 5 and under;
• free entry to Friends of the: Iziko South African 		
National Gallery, and Iziko South African Museum.
• and most importantly, the provision of free entry on
15 days annually.
These free days are linked to commemorative holidays
throughout the year, i.e.:
• Human Rights Day – 21 March
• Freedom Day – 27 April
• International Museum Day – 18 May
• Africa Day – 25 May
• Youth Day – 16 June
• National Women’s Day – 9 August
• Heritage Week (24 – 30 September 2019),
incorporating Heritage Day – 24 September
• National AIDS Awareness Day/ Emancipation Day –
1 December
• Reconciliation Day – 16 December
During the reporting period, 31,493 people took advantage
of Iziko’s commemorative day free entry concessions.
In addition to the concessions noted above, Iziko approves
concessions for free entry on request, where appropriate.
In 2018/19, a total of 19,541 additional concessions for free
entry were granted. The majorities of these concessions
were to visit the Castle of Good Hope, and approved
by the Castle Control Board.
Concessions that allow access to the Iziko Planetarium and
Digital Dome are granted on request, where appropriate.
In 2018/19, 497 concessions were granted.
Due to the negative impact on visitor experience at
the Iziko South African Museum (ISAM) due to construction
linked to the Courtyard Project, which entails upgrading
the research facilities of the museum and creating public
access to these areas, complimentary tickets to the Iziko
South African National Gallery (ISANG) were issued
during 2018/19. Concessions granting free entry to the
ISANG were utilised by 5,140 adults and 1,549 children.
Iziko Museum Night is a multi-institutional after-hours
cultural experience, providing visitors with a unique
experience allowing them to see the museums in a new

light – after dark. Iziko is a founding member of this
new-audience development initiative, and have
participated in Museum Night and Museum Night V&A
Waterfront. Through this partnership 12,058 Adults
and 1,821 children were granted free access to the
Iziko Maritime Centre; South African Museum; South
African National Gallery; Slave Lodge and
Bo-Kaap Museum.

3.18.2 Education
In addition to the concessions noted above, 85 schools
and organisations, totaling 4,963 people, received free
transport sponsored by the HCI Foundation, while Iziko
sponsored 22 buses for 1313 people. The value of the
free transportation provided totaled R270,000 of which
R210,000 was sponsored by the HCI Foundation, and
R60,000 by Iziko.
Iziko also provides free educational resources to schools
attending our educational and edutainment programmes.
These are always well received, with teachers commenting
that the resources assist with classroom practice.
The equivalent Rand value of the 82 free educational
resources made available by Iziko during 2018/19
was R29,500.00.
The Iziko Mobile Museum is an ongoing educational project
designed to take the Museum to the people. It remains
essential for Iziko to act as an agent to connect people,
and in keeping with our strategic objectives, the Mobile
Museum takes creative, educational and inspirational
museum resources to schools and communities in
historically disadvantaged metropolitan, rural and
peri-urban communities. The Mobile Museum undertakes
trips to various schools, malls, libraries, community
and youth centres, where the staff share stories and
explore our shared heritage. Furthermore, the Mobile
Museum staff participate in festivals across South Africa,
including SciFest in Grahamstown. This year, the Mobile
Museum staff undertook 53 outreach trips, reaching
17,208 people. Iziko invested R70,833 in making the
Iziko Mobile Museum outreach activities possible.
An integral part of our various public engagement
programmes includes activities linked to South African
commemorative days, on which the public is granted
free entry and encouraged to visit our exhibitions and
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participate in programmes aimed at social cohesion
and nation building. It is noted that some of the
commemorative day celebrations and reflection
programmes were done in collaboration with other
organisations. Iziko invested R77,500 during 2018/19
in making public programme activities possible. The
educational concessions facilitated an increase in
the number of historically disadvantaged schools and
communities accessing the resources of Iziko. This
was made possible through the support received from
organisations like the HCI Foundation, the DAC, UCT
& Rhodes University, and TEDxCapeTownWomen.

3.18.3 Internships, Work
Integrated Learning Students,
PhD Students, Post-doctoral
Researchers and Volunteers
Volunteers
During 2018/19, Iziko benefited from the assistance of
10 volunteers.

Interns/WILS
Iziko accommodated 33 Graduate internships and Work
integrated Learning Students (WILS) – during 2018/19.

PhD Students
Iziko hosted 5 PhD students in 2018/19.

Post-doctorate Associates
During 2018/19, Iziko hosted 5 Post-doctorate
Associates.

3.18.4 Venue Hire Concessions
Iziko Museums of South Africa offers a diverse range
of versatile venues for corporate events, cocktail
functions, conferences and weddings, large and small,
for hire to public and private sector role players. The
hire of Iziko’s unique venues provides a key source of
additional revenue, and serves to bring new audiences
into our museums, thus promoting these national heritage
sites, often to influential guests and decision-makers.
Iziko balances these commercial hires by extending limited
concessions, and waiving venue hire fees for not-forprofit organisations that lack the means to afford these
fees, where appropriate. Applications for concessions
are considered by a Venue Hire Committee, up to a ceiling
equivalent to 10% of revenue.
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4|H
 UMAN RESOURCE
MANAGEMENT
Learners discovering the entomology collection with the Collections Manager,
on International Museum Day.
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4.1 Introduction
The Human Resources Department is required to ensure sound governance and compliance by communicating
business practices strategies via Iziko policies. The Director Human Resources facilitated the process of
reviewing two polices; the Code of Conduct and the Disciplinary Policy with the input from management and
staff.
The senior management level was realigned in a previous reporting period and the realignment of departmental
structures was approved by Council in January 2019. The process to implement the realigned departmental
structures commenced in the fourth quarter.

4.2 Personnel Expenditure
Personnel expenditure is listed in Table 1 below.

TABLE 1. PERSONNEL COSTS FOR 2018/19
TOTAL
EXPENDITURE

PERSONNEL
EXPENDITURE

PERSONNEL
COSTS AS A % OF TOTAL

R173,434,646

R66,029,024

38%

Personnel expenditure includes salary expenditure for current employees as well as other expenditure such
as the employer medical aid contribution for ex-employees who were eligible for a post-retirement medical aid
benefit upon retirement while salary expenditure (see Table 2 below) includes only expenditure related to the
salaries of current employees.

4.3 Salary Expenditure
Table 2 includes the details regarding the actual expenditure related to the salary packages paid to employees
funded by Iziko.

TABLE 2. DETAILS OF THE 2018/19 SALARY EXPENDITURE
TOTAL SALARY EXPENDITURE

OVERTIME

Amount

Amount

Overtime as a % of
salary expenditure

Amount

Housing Subsidy
as a % of salary
expenditure

R58,641,209

R1,351,840

2,31%

R336,695

0,57%

MEDICAL AID
CONTRIBUTIONS (STAFF)

EMPLOYER PENSION CONTRIBUTIONS

ANNUAL BONUSES

Amount

Employer Medical Aid
Contributions as a % of
salary expenditure

Amount

Annual Bonuses as a %
of salary expenditure

Amount

Annual Bonuses
as a % of salary
expenditure

R2,631,239

4,49%

R7,178,115

12,24%

R3,391,905

5,78%

FIXED ALLOWANCES

HOUSING SUBSIDY

TEMPORARY ALLOWANCES

LECTURE FEES

Amount

Fixed Allowances as a
Amount
% of salary expenditure

Other Allowances as a
% of salary expenditure

Amount

Lecture Fees as a %
of salary expenditure

R1,220,006

2,08%

1,00%

R15,500

0,03%

R588,816

STATUTORY LEVIES (UIF & WCA)

LEAVE GRATUITIES ON TERMINATION

SALARIES

Amount

Statutory Levies as a %
of salary expenditure

Amount

Leave Gratuities as a %
of salary expenditure

Amount

Salaries as a % of
salary expenditure

R414,782

0,71%

R160,647

0,27%

R41,351,664

70,52%
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Support Service staff member, welcoming visitors to the Iziko South
African Museum on Heritage Day.

4.3.1 Basic Salaries

4.3.6 Fixed Allowances

The subsidy received annually from the Department
of Arts and Culture (DAC) is spent on salaries and is
the only guaranteed income, so the percentage annual
salary increase approved by Council is equal to the
percentage increase in the 2018/19 grant.

The amount spent on fixed allowances such as cell
phone allowances paid to staff in key positions are
included in this amount.

4.3.2 Overtime
The overtime expenditure comprises mostly the cost
to pay employees overtime when our museums and
Planetarium are open to the public on weekends, on
public holidays as well as after hours during Planetarium
shows and events. A small percentage of the expenditure
relates to staff working overtime to meet project
commitments and deadlines.

4.3.3 Housing Subsidy
It is optional for employees to participate in the
housing scheme.

4.3.4 Employer Medical Aid
Contributions (Staff)
It is optional for employees to participate in a
designated medical aid scheme.

4.3.5 Employer Medical Aid
Contributions (Pensioners)
Employer pension contributions include contributions
paid for employees appointed indefinitely as well as
those employees appointed on a fixed-term contract
for more than three months.

4.3.7 Temporary Allowances
Allowances are paid to employees when they temporarily
take on additional duties or when they are temporarily
seconded to more senior vacant positions.

4.3.8 Lecture Fees
Operators are paid lecture fees for presenting
Planetarium shows after hours.

4.3.9 Annual Bonuses
Employees receive an annual bonus equal to their
monthly salary in November.

4.3.10 Once-off Performance
Bonuses
Several senior management positions were temporarily
filled by employees on secondment so it was difficult
for these senior managers to appraise the performance
of staff or to moderate the appraisals in their department.
Council therefore approved that a once-off bonus
be paid to all employees instead of performance
bonuses being paid to employees who perform in the
categories excellent and above average as per the
Performance Management Policy.

Young musician at the Africa Day public programme event.

Planetarium staff, Ofentse Letebele and Luzuko Dalasile, helping
participants during the Sirius about rockets holiday workshop.

4.3.11 Statutory Levies
Statutory levies are deducted from salaries in terms
of legislation such as the Unemployment Insurance
Contributions Act, 2002 (Act No. 04 of 2002) as amended
and the Compensation for Occupational Injuries and
Diseases Act, 1993 (Act No. 130 of 1993) as amended.

4.3.12 Leave Gratuities
When the services of employees are terminated they
are compensated for the balance of their leave in the
annual leave cycle.
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Curator of Historical Collections: Painting and Sculptures, Hayden Proud, during a honours in
curating lecture at the Iziko South African National Gallery.

4.4 Employment

4.4.1 Appointments
In this reporting period 45 appointments were made.

TABLE 3. APPOINTMENTS
POSITION

NUMBER OF STAFF
APPOINTED

GROUP

GENDER

Debtors & Creditors Administrator

1

A

M

Executive Director Core Functions

1

A

M

Director Education

1

C

M

Financial Administrator

1

C

F

Museum Attendant

18

A

M

1

I

M

Planetarium Operator

1

W

F

Educator

1

A

F

1

W

F

1

A

M

1

C

M

1

A

F

1

C

F

1

W

F

Public Programmes & Outreach Assistant

1

A

F

Technical Assistant

1

W

F

General Cleaner/Garden Assistant

1

C

F

1

C

M

1

C

M

1

C

F

Fundraising Assistant

Communications Coordinator

Assistant Curator

Iziko Health and Safety representatives during a training
meeting at the Iziko Slave Lodge.

Data Capturer

L to R: James Boltman: IT & Telecom Helpdesk Administrator, Ronell
Pedro: CFO, Noluyolo Ngwilikane, Supply Chain Manager and Andre
Makka, IT Manager in the new Server Room.

1

C

M

1

W

M

Graphic Designer

1

A

M

Assistant Events

1

A

F

Assistant Venue Hire

1

A

F

Curator

1

W

F

Acting Site Manager

1

C

F

Manager Research & Exhibitions

1

W

F

TOTAL APPOINTMENTS

45

4.4.2 Reasons for Staff Leaving
TABLE 4. REASONS WHY STAFF MEMBERS ARE LEAVING THE INSTITUTION
REASON FOR TERMINATION
OF SERVICE

INDEFINITE
STAFF

CONTRACT
STAFF

TOTAL
TERMINATIONS

% OF TOTAL
TERMINATIONS

Death

0

0

0

0.00%

Resignation

5

14

19

47.50%

Expiry of contract

0

16

16

40.00%

Dismissal due to operational changes

0

0

0

0.00%

Dismissal due to misconduct

1

0

1

2.50%

Discharge due to ill health

1

0

1

2.50%

Retirement

2

0

2

5.00%

Other

1

0

1

2.50%

TOTAL

10

30

40

PAGE

73

4.5 Employment Changes
The annual turnover rate is reflected per Employment Equity (EE) Occupational Levels in the table below.

TABLE 5. ANNUAL TURNOVER RATE PER EE OCCUPATIONAL LEVELS FOR THE PERIOD
1 APRIL 2018 TO 31 MARCH 2019
OCCUPATIONAL
LEVELS

NO. OF
EMPLOYEES
ON 31
MARCH 2018

NO. OF
EMPLOYEES
ON 1 APRIL
2018

APPOINTMENTS

TERMINATIONS

TURNOVER
RATE

TRANSFERS
INTO LEVEL

TRANSFERS
FROM
LEVEL

NO. OF
EMPLOYEES
ON 31
MARCH
20 19

NO. OF
EMPLOYEES
ON 1 APRIL
2019

Top Management

1

1

0

0

0,00%

0

0

1

1

Senior
Management

1

1

1

0

0,00%

0

0

2

2

Professionally
qualified and
experienced
specialists and
mid-management

5

4

1

0

0,00%

1

0

6

6

Skilled technical
and academically
qualified
workers, junior
management,
supervisors,
foremen and
superintendents

90

89

1

8

8,89%

0

1

81

80

Semi-skilled and
discretionary
decision-making

70

70

0

3

4,29%

0

0

67

67

Unskilled and
defined decisionmaking

8

8

0

0

0,0%

0

0

8

8

TOTAL
INDEFINITE
STAFF

175

173

3

11

6,29%

1

1

165

164

CONTRACT
STAFF

53

53

42

29

54,72%

0

0

66

66

TOTAL

228

226

45

40

17,54%

1

1

231

230

Vacant positions were filled temporarily while the recruitment process was underway hence the high turnover
rate for contract staff.

4.6 Promotions
Two employees from the designated group were appointed to a position at a higher level, following a formal
selection process.

TABLE 6. TOTAL NUMBER OF STAFF MEMBERS APPOINTED TO MORE SENIOR POSITIONS
FROM 1 APRIL 2018 TO 31 MARCH 2019
NO.

GROUP

GENDER FORMER POSITION

NEW POSITION

1

African

Female

Human Resources Manager

Director Human Resources

2

Coloured

Female

Bookkeeper

Financial Manager

4.7 Employment Equity
4.7.1 Workforce Profile

The table below shows the Iziko workforce profile per Employment Equity Occupational Level as at the last day
of the reporting period.

TABLE 7. TOTAL NUMBER OF STAFF MEMBERS IN OCCUPATIONAL LEVELS AS AT 31 MARCH 2018
LEVEL

MALE

FEMALE

FOREIGN

TOTAL

A

C

I

W

A

C

I

W

M

F

Top Management

0

0

0

0

0

0

1

0

0

0

1

Senior Management

1

0

0

0

0

0

0

1

0

0

2

Professionally qualified and
experienced specialists and midmanagement

0

2

0

0

1

1

1

1

0

0

6

Skilled technical and
academically qualified workers,
junior management, supervisors,
foremen and superintendents

9

15

0

11

13

29

3

15

1

1

97

Semi-skilled and discretionary
decision making

33

26

1

2

18

27

0

2

1

0

110

Unskilled and defined
decision-making

4

3

0

0

3

5

0

0

0

0

15

TOTAL

47

46

1

13

35

62

5

19

2

1

231

IZIKO TARGETS

48

58

1

19

40

48

1

16

0

0

231

OVER (+)/UNDER (-)
REPRESENTATION

-1

-12

0

-6

-5

14

4

3

2

1
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4.8 Leave Utilisation for the Period 1 April 2018 to
31 March 2019
4.8.1 Annual Leave

The calculation of the value of the number of days’ annual leave accrued by employees as at 31 March 2019 is
based on the salary of the employee. This value of accrued leave thus increases when the salary of an employee is
increased. Provision is made for the leave liability in the next financial year.
The leave liability as at 31 March 2019 is R2,557,226.

4.8.2 Sick Leave
The number of sick leave days taken in the reporting period is listed in Table 8 below.

TABLE 8: SUMMARY OF SICK LEAVE TAKEN OVER THE PERIOD 1 APRIL 2018 TO
31 MARCH 2019
NUMBER OF
EMPLOYEES

NUMBER OF SICK
DAYS TAKEN BY
EMPLOYEES PER
YEAR

256*

1650

AVERAGE SICK DAYS TAKEN PER EMPLOYEE
DURING THE REPORTING PERIOD

COST OF SICK LEAVE
TAKEN THIS YEAR

6.44

R1,102,153

*Includes employees that left Iziko during the reporting period.
The average number of sick leave days taken per staff member decreased slightly in 2018/19.

4.8.3 Special Leave
During the reporting period, special leave was granted in the categories of maternity, family responsibility,
compassionate, religious, examination and study leave as requested.

4.9 Health Promotion Programmes
Iziko has an Employee Assistance Programme (EAP) that consistently assists all staff members to improve their
health and wellbeing by facilitating health awareness sessions using health professionals. The Director Human
Resources attends to employees that need to be referred for professional assistance for various reasons such as
trauma.
Bestmed medical aid offered a health risk assessment, mammogram scan and provided flu vaccines on site for
Bestmed members in the reporting period.

4.10 Labour Relations
The HR department assisted line managers with regard to disciplinary action.

TABLE 9. DISCIPLINARY ACTION TAKEN FROM 1 APRIL 2018 TO 31 MARCH 2019
NATURE OF DISCIPLINARY ACTION

NUMBER OF THE DISCIPLINARY ACTION

Written warning

5

Final written warning

5

Dismissal

2

TOTAL

12

4.11 Learning and Development
A Learning and Development Programme is implemented annually to ensure that staff members have the
competency to perform their duties.
Training programmes offered to employees in the reporting period were focused on a range of training
needs such as customer care, fire-fighting, first aid, how to prepare for an interview, training that enhanced
competency as well as health and safety.

4.11.1 Staff Training
The number of staff members who received training in the reporting period is reflected in the table below.

TABLE 10. TOTAL NUMBER OF STAFF MEMBERS IN EACH OCCUPATIONAL LEVEL WHO
RECEIVED TRAINING DURING THE PERIOD 1 APRIL 2018 TO 31 MARCH 2019
MALE

POST LEVEL

FEMALE

TOTAL

A

C

I

W

A

C

I

W

Top Management

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Senior Management

1

0

0

0

0

0

0

1

2

Professionally qualified and experienced specialists
and mid-management

0

2

0

0

1

1

1

1

6

Skilled technical and academically qualified workers,
junior management, supervisors, foremen and
superintendents

4

9

0

4

9

16

1

1

44

Semi-skilled and discretionary decision-making

16

15

0

1

20

31

0

3

86

Unskilled and defined decision-making

2

0

0

0

3

2

0

0

7

87INDEFINITE STAFF

23

26

0

5

33

50

2

6

145

CONTRACT STAFF

26

8

1

0

5

7

0

6

53

TOTAL STAFF

49

34

1

5

38

57

2

12

198

4.11.2 Training Opportunities
The number of training opportunities is reflected in the table below.

TABLE 11. TOTAL NUMBER OF TRAINING OPPORTUNITIES PROVIDED DURING THE PERIOD
1 APRIL 2018 TO 31 MARCH 2019
MALE

FEMALE

TOTAL

A

C

I

W

A

C

I

W

69

69

1

7

70

99

4

19

338*

*Excludes 8 employees enrolled for tertiary studies (see Table 12 below).
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4.11.3 Tertiary Studies
Iziko supported eight staff members enrolled for tertiary studies.

TABLE 12 TOTAL NUMBER OF TERTIARY TRAINING COURSES SUPPORTED BY IZIKO
DURING THE PERIOD 1 APRIL 2018 TO 31 MARCH 2019
STUDY PROGRAMME

MALE

FEMALE

A

C

I

W

A

C

I

W

Doctorate in Biodiversity and Conservation

0

1

0

0

0

0

0

0

Doctorate in Geology

0

1

0

0

0

0

0

0

Post Graduate Diploma in Technical
Conservation studies

0

1

0

0

0

0

0

0

BTech Human Resources Management

0

0

0

0

1

2

0

0

Doctorate in Zoology

0

0

0

0

1

0

0

0

Introduction to Museum Studies

0

0

0

0

1

0

0

0

4.12 Injury on Duty
Three incidents of injury on duty were reported but fortunately none of these injuries were of a serious nature.
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5|F
 INANCIAL
INFORMATION
Installation view of Steven Cohen’s A Chair for the Bewildered. The work is part of Filling in the Gaps,
an exhibition drawn from more recent acquisitions of the permanent collections of ISANG.
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Statement of Responsibility
The Public Finance Management Act (PFMA), 1999 (Act
No. 1 of 1999, as amended by Act No. 29 of 1999),
requires the Council to ensure that Iziko Museums of
South Africa (Iziko) keeps full and proper records of its
financial affairs. The annual financial statements (AFS)
should fairly present the state of affairs of Iziko, its
financial results, its performance against predetermined
objectives, and its financial position at the end of the
year in terms of the prescribed Standards of Generally
Recognised Accounting Practices (GRAP).
The AFS are the responsibility of the Council. The AuditorGeneral of South Africa (AGSA) is responsible for
independently auditing and reporting on the financial
statements. The AGSA has audited Iziko’s financial
statements, and the Auditor-General’s report appears
on page 86.
The financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with the prescribed Standards of GRAP,
including any interpretation of such statements issued
by the Accounting Standards Board. These AFS are
based on appropriate accounting policies, supported
by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates.
The Council has reviewed Iziko’s budgets and cash flow
forecasts for the year ending 31 March 2020. On the
basis of the review, and in view of the current financial
position, the Council has every reason to believe that
Iziko will be a going concern in the year ahead, and has
continued to adopt the going concern basis in preparing
the financial statements.
The Council sets standards to enable Management to
meet the above responsibilities by implementing systems
of internal control and risk management, where possible,
that are designed to provide reasonable, but not
absolute, assurance against material misstatements
and losses. The entity maintains internal financial
controls to provide assurance regarding:

• The safeguarding of assets against unauthorised use
or disposition; and
• The maintenance of proper accounting records and
the reliability of financial information used within
Iziko or for publication.
The controls contain self-monitoring mechanisms, and
actions are taken to correct deficiencies as they are
identified. Even an effective system of internal control,
no matter how well designed, has inherent limitations,
including the possibility of circumvention or the overriding
of controls. An effective system of internal control,
therefore, aims to provide reasonable assurance with
respect to the reliability of financial information and
the presentation of financial statements. However,
because of changes in conditions, the effectiveness of
internal financial controls varies over time.
The Council has reviewed Iziko’s systems of internal
control and risk management for the period from 1 April
2018 to 31 March 2019. The Council is of the opinion
that Iziko’s systems of internal control and risk
management were effective for the period under review.
In the opinion of the Council, based on the information
available to date, the AFS fairly present the financial
position of Iziko at 31 March 2019 and the results of its
operations and cash flow information for the year, and
that the Code of Corporate Practices and Conduct has
been adhered to.
The annual financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2019, set out on pages 93 to 97, are submitted
for auditing and approved by the Council in terms of
section 51(1)(f) of the PFMA, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999),
as amended, and are signed on its behalf by:

Ms R Omar
Chief Executive Officer
Date: 31 May 2019

Ambassador D Moopeloa
Chairman of Council
Date: 31 May 2019
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Report of the Audit and Risk Committee for
the Financial Year Ended 31 March 2019
We are pleased to present the Audit and Risk Committee Report for Iziko
Museums of South Africa for the financial year ended 31 March 2019.

Audit and Risk Committee Members and Attendance
The Audit and Risk Committee of the sixth Council, appointed by the
Minister of Arts and Culture in August 2017, consists of two non-executive
members of Council and three independent Audit Committee members, one
of whom serves as chairperson.
Mr Rowan (Nick) Nicholls, Audit
and Risk Committee Chairman

The Audit and Risk Committee met three times during the year 1 April 2018
to 31 March 2019. The attendance of the sittings of the Audit and Risk.
Committee for the period 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019, was as follows:

Name of Member

Number of Meetings attended April 2018 to
31 March 2019

Mr R Nicholls (Independent Chairman)

3

Ms S Makhathini (Council member)

2

Ms A Dlamini (Independent member)

2

Mr P Heeger (Independent member)

3

Prof. S Perumal (Independent member)

2

Representatives of the Auditor-General of South
Africa attended the Audit and Risk Committee
meetings, by invitation to all meetings.

Audit and Risk Committee
Responsibility
The Audit and Risk Committee reports that it has
complied with its responsibilities arising from sections
51(1) (a) (ii) and 76(4) (d) of the Public Finance
Management Act and Treasury Regulation 27.
The Audit and Risk Committee further reports that it
has reviewed and reaffirmed the Audit and Risk Committee
Charter during the year, has regulated its affairs in
compliance with this Charter, and has discharged its
responsibilities as contained therein.

Internal Audit
The internal audit activity has substantially fulfilled its
responsibilities as set out in the Internal Audit Charter.
A risk-based three-year and one-year Internal Audit
Plan was considered and adopted by the Audit Committee,
as required by Treasury Regulation 27.2.7.

The internal audit activity is outsourced to the company
Nexia SAB&T, which was appointed during the financial
year. Specific focus areas for this reporting year included
Governance, Performance and core delivery areas
amongst others.

The Effectiveness of Internal Control
Internal control is the system of controls and directives
that is designed to provide cost-effective assurance by
management that assets are safeguarded, that liabilities
and working capital are efficiently managed, and that
the organisation fulfils its mandate, in compliance with
all relevant statutory and governance duties, strategy,
policies and procedures as applicable to each
responsibility area.
Both the Auditor General and Internal Audit had control
deficiency findings which will be a focus for correction in
the new financial year. Risk management as a transversal
control is introduced in compliance with Treasury standards.
The next step in this roll out will be a hand over to
management to facilitate mitigation of prioritized risks
as part of the management process.

Donor Funding

Auditor’s Report

The Audit and Risk Committee reports that the
expenditure relating to the National Research
Foundation project grants and donor funds was tested
and reviewed by the AGSA during the year, and that
Management achieved in the manner by which these
funds must be managed and controlled.

The Audit and Risk Committee has reviewed Iziko’s
implementation plan for the audit issues raised in
the prior year, and is satisfied that the matters have
been adequately resolved. The Audit Committee notes
that the Accounting Standard, GRAP 103 on Heritage
Assets was fully in place but not finally completed by
year-end, as reported by the Auditor-General.

Reporting on Predetermined Objectives
The Audit and Risk Committee has reviewed Iziko’s reported
performance information against selected predetermined
objectives, reviewing the manner in which the outcomes
and achievements relating to performance are measured
and reported. There were no material findings.

The Audit and Risk Committee concurs with and supports
the AGSA’s conclusion on the annual financial
statements, and is of the opinion that the audited
annual financial statements should be accepted and
read together with the AGSA’s report.

Routine findings by the total audit effort is a focus for
management correction in the new year.

Stakeholders

In-Year Management and Quarterly
Reports
Iziko has submitted quarterly reports on Finance and
Performance to the Executive Authority, the Department
of Arts and Culture, as is required by the PFMA.The
Committee is satisfied with the reports prepared and
issued during the year under review and have
recommended these to Council for acceptance as part
of the reporting process.

The Audit Committee Chairperson attended two council
meetings to report back on its control and governance
findings contribute to the recommendations for
improvement in the Hand Over report of the Council as
its term is ending shortly.
The Committee extends its gratitude to the Management
Team, the Auditor-General and the Internal Audit activity
for the manner in which they have discharged their
duties to safeguard good governance. The Committee
thanks the Council for the support and confidence it
has placed in it.

Evaluation of Financial Statements
The Audit and Risk Committee has:
• Reviewed and discussed the audited annual financial
statements included in the annual report with
the AGSA and with the Chief Executive Officer
on behalf of Council, which is Iziko’s Accounting
Authority;
• Reviewed the AGSA’s Management Report and
Management responses;
• Reviewed changes in accounting policies and
practices, where applicable;
• Reviewed and endorsed adjustment that resulted
from the audit; and
• Reviewed the report of the AGSA for the year ended
31 March 2019.

Mr Rowan (Nick) Nicholls
Independent Chairman Audit Committee
Date: 31 July 2019
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Report of the Auditor-General to Parliament on Iziko Museums
of South Africa
Report on the Audit of the Financial
Statements
Opinion
1. I have audited the financial statements of lziko Museums
of South Africa as set out on page 93 to 139, which
comprise the statement of financial position as
at 31 March 2019, the statement of financial performance,
the statement of changes in net assets, cash flow
statement and statement of comparison of budget
and actual amounts for the year then ended, as well
as the notes to the financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.
2. I n my opinion, the financial statements present
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of lziko Museums of South Africa as at 31 March 2019,
and its financial performance and cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with South African
Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting
Practice (SA Standards of GRAP) and the requirements
of the Public Finance Management Act of South Africa,
1999 (Act No.1 of 1999) (PFMA).

Basis for opinion
3. I conducted my audit in accordance with the
International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). My
responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the auditor-general’s responsibilities
for the audit of the financial statements section of
this auditor’s report.
4. I am independent of the museum in accordance with
sections 290 and 291 of the International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of ethics for
professional accountants and parts 1 and 3 of the
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’
International code of ethics for professional accountants
(including International lndependence Standards)
(IESBA codes) as well as the ethical requirements
that are relevant to my audit in South Africa. I have
fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements and the IESBA codes.
5. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
my opinion.

Emphasis of matter
6. I draw attention to the matter below. My opinion is
not modified in respect of this matter.
Restatement of corresponding figures
7. A s disclosed in note 22 to the financial statements,
the corresponding figures for 31 March 2018 were
restated as a result of an error in the financial
statements of the museum at, and for the year
ended, 31 March 2019.

Responsibilities of Accounting Authority
for the financial statements
8. T
 he accounting authority is responsible for the
preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in accordance with SA Standards of
GRAP and the requirements of the PFMA, and for
such internal controls the accounting authority
determines is necessary to enable the preparation
of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
9. In preparing the financial statements, the accounting
authority is responsible for assessing the lziko
Museums of South Africa’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
relating to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the appropriate
governance structure either intends to liquidate the
museum or to cease operations, or has no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Auditor-general’s responsibilities for
the audit of the financial statements
10. M
 y objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with the
ISAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually
or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these financial statements.

1. A
 further description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is included in the
annexure to this auditor’s report.

Report on the Audit of the Annual Performance Report
Introduction and Scope
2. I n accordance with the Public Audit Act of South Africa, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004) (PM) and the general notice
issued in terms thereof, I have a responsibility to report material findings on the reported performance
information against predetermined objectives for selected objectives presented in the annual performance
report. I performed procedures to identify findings but not to gather evidence to express assurance.
3. M
 y procedures address the reported performance information, which must be based on the approved
performance planning documents of the museum. I have not evaluated the completeness and appropriateness
of the performance indicators included in the planning documents. My procedures also did not extend to any
disclosures or assertions relating to planned performance strategies and information in respect of future periods
that may be Included as part of the reported performance information. Accordingly, my findings do not extend
to these matters.
4. I evaluated the usefulness and reliability of the reported performance information in accordance with the
criteria developed from the performance management and reporting framework, as defined in the general
notice, for the following selected objectives presented in the annual performance report of the museum for
the year ended 31 March 2019:

Objectives

Pages in the annual performance report

Programme 2 – Collections (Business Development)
Programme 3 – Audience development (Public Engagement)

34
35 - 37

5. I performed procedures to determine whether the reported performance information was properly presented
and whether performance was consistent with the approved performance planning documents. I performed
further procedures to determine whether the indicators and related targets were measurable and relevant,
and assessed the reliability of the reported performance information to determine whether it was valid,
accurate and complete.
6. I did not raise any material findings on the usefulness and reliability of the reported performance
information for these objectives:
• Programme 2 – Collections (Business development)
• Programme 3 – Audience development (Public engagement)

Other Matters
7. I draw attention to the matters below.
Achievement of planned targets
8. Refer to the annual performance report on pages 34 to 37 for information on the achievement of planned
targets for the year and explanations provided for the under/or overachievement of a number of targets.
Adjustment of material misstatements
9. I identified material misstatements in the annual performance report submitted for auditing. These material
misstatements were on the reported performance information of programme 2: business development and
programme 3: public engagement. As management subsequently corrected the misstatements, I did not raise
any material findings on the usefulness and reliability of the reported performance information.
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Report on the Audit of
Compliance with Legislation
Introduction and scope
1.

In accordance with the PAA and the general notice
issued in terms thereof, I have a responsibility to
report material findings on the compliance of the
museum with specific matters in key legislation.
I performed procedures to identify findings but
not to gather evidence to express assurance.
2. The material findings on compliance with specific
matters in key legislations are as follows:
Annual financial statement
3. The financial statements submitted for auditing
were not prepared in accordance with the prescribed
financial reporting framework, as required by section
55(1) {a) of the PFMA. Material misstatements
of non-current assets, revenue, expenditure and
disclosure items identified by the auditors in the
submitted financial statements were corrected,
resulting in the financial statements receiving an
unqualified audit opinion.

Other information
4. The accounting authority is responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises
the information included in the annual report.
The other information does not include the financial
statements, the auditor’s report and those selected
objectives presented in the annual performance
report that have been specifically reported in
this auditor’s report.
5. My opinion on the financial statements and findings
on the reported performance information and
compliance with legislation do not cover the other
information and I do not express an audit opinion
or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
6. In connection with my audit, my responsibility is
to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements and
the selected objectives presented in the annual
performance report, or my knowledge obtained
in the audit, or otherwise appears to be

materially misstated. If, based on the work I have
performed on the other information obtained
prior to the date of this auditor’s report, I conclude
that there was a material misstatement of this
other information, I am required to report
that fact.

Internal control deficiencies
7. I considered internal control relevant to my audit
of the financial statements, reported performance
information and compliance with applicable
legislation; however, my objective was not to
express any form of assurance on it. The matters
reported below are limited to the significant
internal control deficiencies that resulted in the
findings on compliance with legislation included
in this report.
Financial and performance management
8. Management processes implemented for the
review of the financial statements were not
adequate as material misstatements and disclosure
deficiencies were not detected and corrected
during the preparation and finalisation of the
financial statements.

Cape Town
Date: 31 July 2019

Annexure – Auditor-General’s
Responsibility for the Audit
1. As part of an audit in accordance with the ISAs,
I exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional scepticism throughout my audit of
the financial statements, and the procedures
performed on reported performance information
for selected objectives and on the museums’s
compliance with respect to the selected
subject matters.

Financial statements
2. In addition to my responsibility for the audit of the
financial statements as described in this auditor’s
report, I also:
• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the financial statements whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control;
• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the museum’s internal
control;
• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the
accounting authority;

• conclude on the appropriateness of the accounting
authority’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting in the preparation of the financial
statements. I also conclude, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the lziko Museums of
South Africa’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, I am required to draw attention in my
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the financial statements about the material
uncertainty or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify the opinion on the financial statements.
My conclusions are based on the information
available to me at the date of this auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may
cause a museum to cease continuing as a going
concern;
• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Communication with those charged
with governance
3. I communicate with the accounting authority
regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that I identify during my audit.
4. I also confirm to the accounting authority that I
have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and communicate
all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to have a bearing on
my independence and, where applicable,
related safeguards.
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Accounting Authority’s Report for the Year Ended 31 March 2019
Report by the Council to the Executive Authority, Minister
of Arts and Culture, and Parliament of the Republic of
South Africa.

1. General Review of the State of
Financial Affairs
Iziko’s results for the year ending 31 March 2019 reflect a
4% decrease in Investments , cash and cash equivalents
in the amount of R5,312,865 from R139,156,603 to
R133,843,738.
These cash holdings are due mainly to the funds received
from various donors for core functions projects and
Department of Arts and Culture (DAC) for capital projects
and funding for the continuation of the GRAP 103 Project,
which indicates that projects are progressing as planned.
Iziko received most of its funding through a subsidy
allocation from the government, i.e. the national
Department of Arts and Culture. During the year under
review, Iziko’s total revenue decreased by 5% from
R196,881,929 to R187,191,619.
The subsidy allocation from the DAC increased by 3%
from R75,556,000 to R77,779,000 for the year. The
subsidy represents 42% of total income. Service in kind
on property leases represents 28% of income, 16% of
income was derived from donations, donor funding,
including conditional grant funding from the DAC, and
14% of the total income was own income generated
through entrance fees, venue hire, rental of premises
and professional museums services.
Iziko’s operating expenditure increased by an amount
of R8,710,155 (5%), from R164,724,491 to R173,434,646.
The post-retirement medical liability decreased by
R3,063,012 and Iziko has generated a net surplus of
R13,756,973 for the year.

Iziko’s financial circumstances remain stable despite the
decreasing subsidy allocation and due to prudent
spending and good governance practices. The spending
at Iziko is guided by the entity’s Strategic Plan and the
Annual Performance Plan, which is a by-product of the
5-year Strategic Plan.
While work still needs to be done to improve effective,
automated processes and complete major projects to
meet the targets set in the Strategic Plan, the results
for the year show progress, and Management remains
committed to achieving its strategic objectives.
Iziko’s core business is to manage and promote its
unique combination of South Africa’s heritage collections,
sites and services for the benefit of present and future
generations. The services rendered by Iziko, in these
areas, among others are: Exhibitions; Education and
Public Programmes; Collections Management (including
loans to other institutions); Development of Collections;
Conservation; Research; Curatorial Services; and Publication
(both popular and scientific).
The collections departments offer, in collaboration with
the Education department, exhibitions that meet the
diverse needs of education and life-long learning.
The exhibitions and public programmes and abundant
initiatives dedicated to conserving and preserving South
Africa’s natural, social and cultural heritage for all its
people, continue to contribute to nation building, social
cohesion and transformation.
In addition to Iziko’s core business, services such as venue
hire, outsourcing of coffee shops and professional museum
services are rendered.

2. Tariff Policy
Tariffs are charged for entrance fees, rental of premises,
venue hire, photographic services and professional
museum services. Tariffs are negotiated at the outset
of entering into a service agreement. Iziko reviews
tariffs on an annual basis.

3. Capacity Constraints
During the year under review, Executive Management
finalised the realigned organisational structure to
effectively and efficiently deliver on the objectives of
the Strategic Plan. The realigned structure is aimed at
improving operational efficiencies in the face of budget
cuts. Currently Iziko is not able to grow its human capital
to its full potential, and is not in a position to employ
the necessary staff required to fulfil its core function
activities to maximum potential. An increase in the number
of younger staff in key areas would allow for the transfer
of skills, capacity development and succession planning.
Executive Management continued to evaluate the
efficiency of the realigned structure and to maximise
opportunities to diversify our demographic profile.

4. Utilisation of Donor Funds
During the year under review, donor funds amounting
to R10,972,260 received from national government
agencies, research foundations, corporate business, and
private individual donors were utilised for specific
projects, which include exhibitions, conservation,
collection management, research, education, and capital
works projects that have a lifespan of more than one
year. These projects form an integral part of the museum’s
activities, and contributed significantly to
Iziko’s success.

7. New/proposed Activities
The professional staff who work in the Art, Natural
History and Social History Collections are skilled in
museum practice and in specialised areas of historical
and scientific knowledge. They are well placed to
transfer their skills, but Iziko needs funding to support
trainee positions from previously disadvantaged
communities, in line with its Employment Equity strategy.
The upgrade of the Planetarium Foyer has commenced,
following the successful digital upgrade of the Planetarium
and the reskinning of the dome. The development of a
Maintenance and Conservation Plan for Iziko sites is
complete and will be followed by the maintenance and
repairs to Iziko’s buildings. The ICT infrastructure project
is near completion and will be fully functional once the
new Courtyard building at the South African Museum has
been completed. The completion of the Network
Infrastructure Project and Disaster Recovery Site
Project will enhance the efficiency and speed of Iziko’s
network, as well as address business continuity in
terms of disaster management.
The development of the Iziko Slave Lodge as a museum
that focuses on both slavery and human rights continues;
as does the proposed development of a Centre for
Contemporary Art in Cape Town, Iziko Maritime Museum.

5. Public Entity
Iziko is listed as a schedule 3A national public entity in
terms of the PFMA, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999) as amended,
and is governed by the Cultural Institutions Act, 1998
(Act No. 119 of 1998). Iziko operates under the jurisdiction
of the Council of Iziko. The national Department of Arts
and Culture is the controlling Executive Authority.
Business address:
25 Queen Victoria Street
Cape Town
8000

Postal address:
PO Box 61

In compliance with Treasury Regulations, the
implementation of the Accounting Standard GRAP 103
on Heritage Assets continues, and paves the way for
the digitisation of the heritage assets.

8. Approval
The annual financial statements set out on pages 92
to 97 have been approved by the Council.

Cape Town
8001

6. Jurisdiction
Iziko resides and is effectively managed in South Africa.
The controlling Executive Authority is the national
Department of Arts and Culture.

Ms R Omar
Chief Executive Officer
Date: 31 May 2019

Ambassador D Moopeloa
Chairman of Council
Date: 31 May 2019
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Corporate Governance
The Council recognises that good governance and compliance practices are crucial for the sustained development
of Iziko, and is committed to instilling good governance and compliance processes in all its operations going
forward.
Governance of the institution has been streamlined through the operation of a system of committees of Council.
The sub-committees in operation are the Core Functions; Operations; Finance and Budget; and Audit and Risk
Committees. The Audit and Risk Committee continued to provide oversight of the financial reporting process, the
audit process, the system of internal controls, and compliance with laws and regulations.
During the year under review, the internal audit function continued with the mandate of carrying out an effective
internal audit of Iziko’s internal controls, as informed by the relevant policies, systems and operating procedures.

Risk Management
The Risk Management function is guided by the Risk Management Policy and the Disaster Management Policy
and Plan approved by Council. The performance of Senior Managers is measured in terms of performance and
the management of risks and disasters related to their areas of responsibility.
Senior Managers annually identify risks to be removed from the Risk Register and those risk factors identified for
inclusion in the Risk Register. A plan to mitigate or eradicate each risk in terms of set timeframes is included in
the Risk Register. The risks deemed to pose the highest risk to Iziko are placed on the Risk Dashboard, which is
monitored by the CEO, as well as the Audit and Risk Committee

Materiality and Significance Framework for 2018/2019 Financial Year
In terms of the PFMA and National Treasury Regulation 28.1.5, the Council has developed and agreed to a framework
of acceptable levels of materiality and significance

Statement of Financial Position at 31 March 2019
Restated
Notes

2019

2018

R

R

2,552,228,120

2,544,000,256

ASSETS
Non-current Assets
Property, plant and equipment

2

38,664,200

34,221,727

Intangible assets

3

3,804,371

1,872,641

Heritage assets

4

2,509,759,549

2,507,905,888

141,437,563

148,559,471

5

174,761

117,162

465,866

349,325

Current Assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables from non-exchange transactions

6

Trade and other receivables from exchange transactions

6

6,953,198

8,936,382

Investment at fair value

7

19,861,881

18,426,573

Cash and cash equivalents

8

113,981,857

120,730,029

2,693,665,683

2,692,559,727

82,943,634

89,357,055

64,282,444

67,753,720

TOTAL ASSETS
LIABILITIES
Non-current Liabilities
Provision: Post-retirement medical benefit

10.2

Deferred income – Unspent conditional grants

11

330,955

238,067

Deferred income – Unspent conditional government grants

11.1

18,330,235

21,365,268

46,785,056

53,022,652

Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables from exchange transactions

9.1

13,804,230

12,598,135

Trade and other payables from non-exchange transactions

9.2

4,221,006

3,824,568

Provision: Post-retirement medical benefit

10.2

4,388,296

3,980,032

Deferred income – Unspent conditional grants

11

3,480,467

4,957,031

Deferred income – Unspent conditional government grants

11.1

20,891,057

27,662,886

129,728,690

142,379,707

2,563,936,993

2,550,180,020

48,501,512

16,344,074

2,501,678,508

2,501,678,508

13,756,973

32,157,438

2,693,665,683

2,692,559,727

TOTAL LIABILITIES

NET ASSETS
Retained earnings/Accumulated loss
Heritage Asset Valuation Reserve
Surplus/(Deficit)

TOTAL NET ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

12
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Statement of Financial Performance for the
Year Ended 31 March 2019
Restated
Notes

2019

2018

R

R

187,191,619

196,881,929

159,631,330

175,425,281

Government grant: Subsidy – Department of Arts and Culture

77,779,000

75,556,000

Government grant: Conditional grants – Department of Arts and Culture

18,913,862

17,043,372

51,966,208

52,463,343

Sponsorship

9,397,234

28,594,389

Cash and asset donations

1,575,026

1,768,177

27,560,289

21,456,648

9,900,278

8,598,685

8,107,357

8,630,294

Rental income

1,151,515

765,112

Fair value gain

18,002

38,938

6,464,919

1,729,119

1,918,218

1,694,500

173,434,646

164,724,491

66,029,024

65,141,714

REVENUE

Revenue from non-exchange transactions

Service in Kind - Property Leases

Revenue from exchange transactions

Interest revenue
Admission fees

Post-retirement actuarial gain
Other income

EXPENSES

Personnel
Administrative

13

11,775,602

11,215,704

Depreciation and amortisation expenses

8,101,022

6,687,026

Post-retirement actuarial finance costs

6,324,520

6,716,318

Other operating expenses

81,204,478

74,963,729

NET SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE YEAR

13,756,973

32,157,439

Statement of Changes in Net Assets for the
Year Ended 31 March 2019

Balance at 1 April 2017

Revaluation
Reserve

Accumulated
Surplus

Total net assets and
reserves

R

R

R

2,447,548,307

16,339,967

2,463,888,274

54,130,201

4,107

54,134,308

2,501,678,508

16,344,074

2,518,022,582

32,157,438

32,157,438

48,501,512

2,550,180,020

Prior period adjustments
Balance at 1 April 2017 – Restated
Surplus/(Deficit) for the year
Balance at 31 March 2018 – Restated

2,501,678,508

Balance at 1 April 2018 – Restated

2,501,678,508

Surplus/(Deficit) for the year
Balance at 31 March 2019

2,501,678,508

48,501,512

2,550,180,020

13,756,973

13,756,973

62,258,485

2,563,936,993

Cash Flow Statement for the Year Ended 31 March 2019
Restated
2019

2018

R

R

2,494,250

38,564,288

117,315,166

134,289,026

(114,820,916)

(95,724,738)

8,323,795

7,193,376

10,818,045

45,757,664

Purchase of investments

(1,435,308)

(1,379,907)

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

(12,160,760)

(23,128,173)

Purchase of intangible assets

(2,314,465)

(1,983,470)

Purchase of heritage assets

(1,655,684)

(1,995,705)

(17,566,217)

(28,487,255)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

(6,748,172)

17,270,409

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year

120,730,029

103,459,620

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year

113,981,857

120,730,029

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated in operations
Cash receipts from customers and donors
Cash paid to suppliers and employees
Interest received

Net cash inflow from operating activities

13

Cash flows from investing activities

Net cash flows from investing activities
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Statement of Comparison of Budget and actual Amounts
as at 31 March 2019
Actual

Actual
Amounts on
comparable
basis

Original
approved
Budget

2018

Adjustment

Final
Approved
Budget

Difference
between final
budget and
actual

2019

R

R
INCOME

75,556,000

Government
Grant

77,779,000

79,939,000

(2,160,000)

77,779,000

21,456,647

Own Income

28,646,957

19,399,463

(172,235)

19,227,228

(9,419,729)

54,231,520

Donations/
Sponsorships

52,454,566

66,000

(1,073)

64,927

(52,389,639)

45,637,762

Fundraising

28,311,096

29,950,999

368,625

30,319,624

2,008,528

187,191,619

129,355,462

(1,964,683)

127,390,779

(59,800,840)

196,881,929

EXPENDITURE
124,997,105

Progamm 1:
Administration

131,932,129

80,748,498

(1,070,801)

79,677,697

(52,254,432)

27,285,497

Progamm 2:
Business
Development

27,767,504

33,706,395

(1,977,461)

31,728,934

3,961,430

12,441,889

Progamm 3:
Public
Engagement

13,735,013

14,900,569

1,083,579

15,984,148

2,249,135

173,434,646

129,355,462

(1,964,683)

127,390,779

(46,043,867)
(13,756,973)

164,724,491
32,157,438

SURPLUS

13,756,973

-

-

-

28,487,256

CAPITAL
EXPENDITURE

17,566,217

25,532,371

(11,986,940)

13,545,431

Reconciliation of Approved Budget Surplus with Surplus in the
Statement of Financial Performance
Notes

2019

2018

R

R

13,756,973

32,157,438

I

(8,333,061)

(6,233,179)

II

(1,510,098)

(6,858,530)

Fundraising

III

2,008,528

695,301

Compensation of employees

IV

(18,444,508)

(17,578,458)

V

18,140,517

(3,615,104)

VI

(5,618,351)

1,432,532

-

-

Net Surplus per the statement of financial Performance
Adjusted for:
Own Income
Donations/Sponsorship

Goods and Services
Museum core function activities

Net surplus (deficit) per Approved Budget
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1. Accounting Policies

The following are the principal accounting policies of Iziko Museums of South Africa (Iziko), which are consistent
in all material respects, with those applied in previous years. The Museum applies uniform accounting policies
as prescribed by the National Treasury, except to the extent that the entity has requested a deviation from the
Treasury.

1.1 Basis of Preparation
The annual financial statements (AFS) have been prepared on an accrual basis of accounting, and are in accordance
with the historical cost convention as the basis of measurement, unless specified otherwise.
They are presented in South African Rand, and all figures have been rounded to the nearest Rand. Assets, liabilities,
revenue and expenses were not offset, except where offsetting is permitted or required by the Standards of Generally
Recognised Accounting Practices (GRAP).
These AFS have been prepared in accordance with the effective Standards of GRAP, including any
interpretations and directives issued by the Accounting Standards Board (ASB), with the exception of the
following:
• The entity has not fully complied with GRAP 103 due to the asset verification and valuation of the assets not
being finalised. This brings forth that all heritage assets under control of the entity were not tested for 		
impairment in accordance with GRAP 103.59.
• Further disclosure relating to heritage assets, and the valuation and verification of these, is included in the
accounting policy on Heritage Assets (refer to note 1.6). Additional disclosure to the non-compliance serves
as further information to the financial statements, and is not necessarily prescribed by the Standards of GRAP.
• The extent of departure from the standard cannot be reliably estimated due to circumstances provided in the
accounting policies on Heritage Assets.
The following standards have been issued by the ASB, and the entity is required to apply the Standards of GRAP
where the Minister has determined the effective date. The Minister has determined the effective date for the
Standards of GRAP outlined below:

Reference

Topic

GRAP Framework

Framework for the preparation and presentation of financial statements

GRAP 1

Presentation of financial statements

GRAP 2

Cash flow statements

GRAP 3

Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors

GRAP 4

The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates

GRAP 5

Borrowing costs

GRAP 6

Consolidated and separate financial statements

GRAP 7

Investments in associates

GRAP 8

Interests in joint ventures

GRAP 9

Revenue from exchange transactions

GRAP 10

Financial reporting in hyperinflationary economies

GRAP 11

Construction contracts

GRAP 12

Inventories

GRAP 13

Leases

GRAP 14

Events after the reporting date

GRAP 16

Investment property

GRAP 17

Property, plant and equipment

GRAP 18

Segment reporting

GRAP 19

Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets

GRAP 21

Impairment of non-cash-generating assets

GRAP 23

Revenue from non-exchange transactions

GRAP 24

Presentation of budget information in financial statements

GRAP 25

Employee benefits

GRAP 26

Impairment of cash-generating assets

GRAP 27

Agriculture

GRAP 31

Intangible assets

GRAP 100

Discontinued operations

GRAP 103

Heritage assets

GRAP 104

Financial instruments

GRAP 105

Transfers of functions between entities under common control

GRAP 106

Transfers of functions between entities not under common control

GRAP 107

Mergers

IPSAS 20

Related party disclosures

In the current year, the entity has adopted all new and revised standards and interpretations issued by the ASB
that are effective and relevant to its operations.
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At the date of authorisation of the financial statements, the following Standards of GRAP are issued but do not
have an effective date:

Reference

Topic

GRAP 20

Related party disclosures

GRAP 32

Service concession arrangements: Grantor

GRAP 34

Separate financial statements

GRAP 35

Consolidated financial statements

GRAP 36

Investments in associates and joint ventures

GRAP 37

Joint arrangements

GRAP 38

Disclosure of interests in other entities

GRAP 108

Statutory receivables

GRAP 109

Accounting by principals and agents

GRAP 110

Living and non-living resources

Changes in accounting policies are only effected if a Standard of GRAP requires a change in the current Accounting
Policy, or if the change will result in more reliable and relevant information about the impact of the transactions
or events on the entity’s financial statements.

1.2 Significant Judgements and Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
In preparing the AFS, Management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts
presented in the AFS and related disclosures. Estimates are only based on reliable, available information that
does not undermine the reliability of the AFS. Use of available information and the application of judgements
are inherent in the formation of estimates. Actual results in the future could differ from these estimates, which
may be material to the AFS. Significant judgements include:

Trade Receivables
The entity assesses its trade receivables for impairment at the end of each reporting period. The entity makes
judgements as to whether there is observation indicating a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash
flows from a financial asset.

Impairment of Trade Receivables
An impairment loss is recognised in surplus and deficit when there is objective evidence that trade receivables are
impaired. Such impairment is measured as the difference between the debtors carrying amount and the present
values of estimated future flows, discounted at the effective interest rate, computed at initial recognition.

Fair Value Estimation
The existence of published price quotations in an active market is the best evidence of fair value and when they
exist, are used to measure financial assets or financial liabilities. Underlying the definition of fair value is a presumption
that an entity is a going concern without any intention or need to liquidate, to curtail materially the scale of its
operations or to undertake a transaction on adverse terms. Fair value is not, therefore, the amount that an entity
would receive or pay in a forced transaction, involuntary liquidation or distress sale. However, fair value reflects
the credit quality of the instrument.

Provisions and contingencies
Management judgement is required when recognising and measuring provisions and when measuring contingent
liabilities. Provisions are discounted where the time value effect is material.

Post-retirement Benefits
The present value of the post-retirement obligation depends on a number of factors that are determined on an
actuarial value using a number of assumptions. The assumptions used in determining the net cost (income) include
the discount rate. Changes in these assumptions will impact on the carrying amount of post-retirement obligations.

1.3 Going Concern Assumption
The Council has reviewed Iziko’s budgets and cash flow forecasts for the year ended 31 March 2019. On the basis
of the review, and in view of the current financial position, the Council has every reason to believe that Iziko
will be a going concern in the year ahead, and has continued to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the
financial statements.

1.4 Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment are tangible non-current assets (including leasehold improvement and infrastructure
assets) that are held for use in production or supply of goods or services, rental to others, or for administrative
purposes, and are expected to be used during more than one period.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset when:
• it is probable that future economic benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to
the entity; and
• the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
Property, plant and equipment are initially measured at cost. The cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment is the purchase price and other costs attributable to bringing the asset to its location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by Management. Trade discount rebates are
deducted in arriving at the cost.
Where an asset is acquired at no cost, or for a nominal cost, its cost is its fair value as at date of acquisition.
Costs include costs incurred initially to acquire or construct an item of property, plant and equipment, and costs
incurred subsequently, to add to, replace part of, or service it. If a replacement cost is recognised in the carrying
amount of an item of property, plant and equipment, the carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.
The initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which it was
located is also included in the cost of property, plant and equipment, where the entity is obligated to incur such
expenditure, and where the obligation arises as a result of acquiring the asset or using it for the purposes other
than the production of inventories.
Recognition of costs in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment ceases when the item is
in the condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner in tended by Management.
Items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated on the straight-line basis over their expected useful lives,
to the estimated residual value.
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Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method, to write off the cost of each asset to estimated residual
values over its estimated useful life as follows:

Asset Class

Average useful life

Furniture

1 – 10 years

Vehicles

1 – 5 years

Equipment

1 – 5 years

Computers

1 – 5 years

Fibre optic network

20 years

Leasehold improvement

1 – 15 years

The residual value, and the useful life and depreciation method of each asset are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period. Where fully depreciated assets are still in use, the useful lives of assets are re-estimated and
the useful life of these assets may extend beyond the estimated useful lives listed above.
Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment, with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost
of the item, is depreciated separately. The depreciation charge for each period is recognised in surplus or deficit,
unless it is included in the carrying amount of another asset.
Items of property, plant and equipment are derecognised when the asset is disposed of, or when no further benefits
or service potential can be expected from the use of the asset.
The gain or loss arising from derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is included in surplus or
deficit when the item is derecognised. The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying
amount of the item.

Annual Reassessment of Useful Life
The useful life of an item of property, plant and equipment is the period over which the asset is expected to be
available for use. The useful life of assets is reassessed on an annual basis to ensure that the estimated useful
lives are still appropriate. When a change in the estimated useful life is identified, the change is accounted for
as a change in accounting estimates on a prospective basis.

1.5 Intangible Assets
An asset is identified as an intangible asset when:
• it is capable of being separated or divided from an entity, and sold, transferred, licensed, rented or exchanged
either individually or together with a related contract, asset or liability; or
• it arises from contractual rights or other legal rights, regardless of whether those rights are transferable or
separated from the entity or from other rights and obligations.
An intangible asset is recognised when:
• it is probable that the expected future economic benefits or service potential that are attributable to the
asset flow to the entity; and
• the cost or fair value of the asset can be measured reliably.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. Where an intangible asset is acquired at no nominal cost, the cost
shall be its fair value as at the date of acquisition. Intangible assets are carried at cost, less any accumulated
amortisation and any impairment losses.
Intangible assets are amortised on the straight-line basis over their expected useful lives, to the estimated residual
value. The amortisation rates are based on estimated useful lives ranging from 1 – 5 years. The useful life of one
software item, purchased at a cost of R279,201 for a Planetarium show, has been assessed at 50 years and those
of two other shows costing R540,089, have been assessed at 20 years each in view of the 50 year and 20 year
licences respectively, which represents the length of time for which future economic benefits or service potential
is expected to flow to the entity from the specified software.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for intangible assets are reviewed at each reporting date.

Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment and Intangible Assets
All items of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are considered to be non-cash-generating assets,
as no commercial return is generated from these assets.
The carrying amounts of assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is an indication
of impairment. If there is an indication that an asset may be impaired, its recoverable service amount is estimated.
The estimated recoverable service amount is the higher of the asset’s fair value, less cost to sell and its value in
use. When the recoverable service amount of an asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset is reduced to its recoverable service amount. The reduction is an impairment loss.
The value in use is determined through depreciated replacement cost, restoration cost approach, or service units
approach. The decision on the approach to use is dependent on the nature of the identified impairment.
The impairment loss is recognised immediately in the Statement of Financial Performance. After the recognition of
an impairment loss, the depreciation charge for the asset is adjusted in future periods, to a period that allocates the
asset’s revised carrying amount, less its residual value, if any, on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life.

1.6 Heritage Assets
Heritage assets are assets that have cultural, environmental, historical, natural, scientific, technological or artistic
significance, and are held indefinitely for the benefit of future generations.

1.6.1 Recognition
Iziko recognises a heritage asset as an asset if:
• It is probable that future economic benefits or service potential associated with the asset will flow to Iziko; and
• The cost or fair value of the asset can be reliably measured.
Iziko will assess the degree of certainty attached to the flow of future service potential or economic benefits:
• If Iziko holds an asset that might be regarded as a heritage asset but which, on initial recognition, does not
meet the recognition criteria of heritage assets because of the need to analyse the proposed collection items
to determine if they conform to the set collection criteria through evaluation and research.
• Particularly within the Natural History Collection, material is often retrieved in a fragmentary state – finding a
completely articulated specimen is the exception rather than the rule. A great deal of knowledge and research
is thus required to identify and systematise the collections.
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• The research required to identify, analyse and classify heritage items is often a collaborative effort between
local and international experts that span several months, even years.
• These items cannot be recognised in the financial statements, but will be recorded and controlled. Relevant
and useful information about them shall be disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.
For recognition of heritage assets, the asset needs to be controlled by Iziko as a result of past events. Such events
may include purchase, donation, bequest, loan or transfer.

1.6.2 Measurement
Values have been assigned to the heritage assets, which are considered to be appreciating in value, and which
values are to be reviewed from time to time. Wherever possible, the appraisers have adopted the discipline of
‘Open Market’ principles in determining value, however values derived are largely determined by the skill and
experience applied by the appraiser at the date of valuation.

1.7.6.1 Directive 7: Use of Deemed Cost for Heritage Assets Upon Initial Recognition and
Adoption of a Standard
The following terms are used in this Directive with the meanings specified:
• Acquisition cost: When an entity initially recognises assets such as items of property, plant and equipment,
investment properties, intangible assets and heritage assets using the Standards of GRAP, it measures those
assets using either cost (if the asset is acquired in an exchange transaction) or at fair value (if the asset
is acquired in a non-exchange transaction). This cost or fair value on initial acquisition of an asset is the
acquisition cost.
• Deemed cost: Deemed cost is a surrogate value for the cost or fair value of an asset at its initial acquisition,
and is determined by reference to the fair value of the asset at the date of adopting the Standards of GRAP
measurement date.
• Measurement date: Measurement date is the date that an entity adopts the Standards of GRAP, and is the
beginning of the earliest period for which an entity presents full comparative information in its first financial
statements prepared using Standards of GRAP.
For the purposes of this Directive, the measurement of assets at fair value on the adoption of the Standards of
GRAP does not constitute:
• a revaluation in accordance with the Standards of GRAP on Property, Plant and Equipment; Intangible Assets;
or Heritage Assets; or
• the application of the fair value model in the Standard of GRAP on Investment Property, paragraph A4,
which states that subsequent depreciation, if applicable, is based on that deemed cost, and starts from the
measurement date.

Initial Entries Using Deemed Cost
When an entity initially measures assets using the deemed cost approach in this Directive, it recognises the effect:
• as an adjustment to the opening balance of accumulated surpluses or deficits in the opening Statement of
Financial Position prepared using Standards of GRAP; or
• in revaluation surplus if an entity adopts the revaluation model in the Standards of GRAP on Property, Plant
and Equipment; Intangible Assets; or Heritage Assets.
The Revaluation Reserve was created on initial measurement of the heritage assets, at deemed cost and is nondistributable

1.6.2.2 Valuation of Heritage Assets

1.6.2.5 Valuing an Entire Collection

The existence of published price quotations in an active
market is the best evidence of fair value, such as the quoted
price from recent auctions published in local newspapers;
however, if fair value cannot readily be ascertained by
reference to quoted prices in an active and liquid market,
the fair value of a heritage asset can be determined from
market-based evidence arrived at by appraisal. An appraisal
of the value of the asset is normally undertaken by a member
of the valuation profession who holds a recognised and
relevant professional qualification.

In determining the fair value of a collection, the entity
should consider whether the entire collection has a higher
value than the sum of the values of the individual items
making up that collection. Under such circumstances,
the carrying value of the entire collection may need to
be reassessed when a group of individual heritage assets
constitutes a collection. If items are removed from the
collection, the value of the collection may also need to
be reassessed (GRAP 103.45).

1.6.3 Heritage Asset Classification
The fair value will be ascertained by reference to quoted
prices in an active and liquid market (GRAP 103.46).

1.6.2.3 Valuation Techniques
Where the fair value of an asset cannot be determined, and
where no evidence is available to determine the market value
in an active market of a heritage asset, a valuation technique
may be used to determine its fair value. Valuation techniques
include using recent arm’s length market transactions between
knowledgeable, willing parties, if available, and reference to
the current fair value of other heritage assets that have
substantially similar characteristics in similar circumstances
and locations, adjusted for any specific differences
in circumstances.
If there is a valuation technique commonly used by market
participants to price such an asset, and that technique
has been demonstrated to provide reliable estimates of
prices obtained in actual market transactions, the entity
may use that technique in determining the fair value
(GRAP 103.47).

1.6.2.4 Inability to Value
Where no value can be placed on an item, it will not be
recognised, but information should be disclosed about
such items and the reason why such items cannot be
valued (GRAP 103.17). Where Iziko holds an asset that
might be regarded as a heritage asset, but which, on initial
recognition, does not meet the recognition criteria of
heritage assets because it cannot be reliably measured,
relevant and useful information about it is disclosed in
the notes to the financial statements. These items are
controlled in the heritage asset register.

A class of heritage assets is a grouping of heritage assets
of a similar nature or function in Iziko’s operations that
is shown as a single item for the purpose of disclosure in
the financial statements. Iziko has recognised the following
classes of heritage assets:
• Natural History Collections (NHC)
• Social History Collections (SHC)
• Art Collections (AC)
• Library Collections (LBC)
Object collections in the SHC and AC consist of tangible
artefacts that reflect the cultural and artistic knowledge,
expressions, and behaviour of their makers and users,
and comprise archaeological, historical and contemporary
cultural artefacts and artworks. LBC consists of published
and unpublished material, as well as research material.

1.6.4 Heritage Assets on Loan to Other
Institutions
Iziko maintains loan registers in all its collections under
long and short terms loan agreements. Loan materials
may also be deposited at Iziko by institutions for which
the entity may have legal or statutory obligations related to
these loan materials. In instances where loan agreements
do not exist, loans are not recognised as heritage assets
unless ownership has been established.

1.6.5 Subsequent Measurement
Iziko has elected the cost model for subsequent
measurement of heritage assets. When the cost model
is used, heritage assets are subsequently carried at
cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Where
a heritage asset is acquired through a non-exchange
transaction, its cost shall be measured at its fair value
as at the date of acquisition.
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1.6.6 Impairment
At each reporting date, the entity assesses whether
there is an indication that it may be impaired. If any
such indication exists, the entity shall estimate the
recoverable amount or the recoverable service amount
of the heritage asset.

Trade and other payables comprise trade payables,
accruals and amounts owed to third parties. Trade and
other payables are categorised as a financial instrument
under liabilities and recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest rate method, where applicable.

1.6.7 Transfers

1.8 Leases

Transfers from heritage assets are made when, and
only when, the particular asset no longer meets the
definition of a heritage asset. Transfers to heritage
assets are made when, and only when, the particular
asset meets the definition of a heritage asset.

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers,
substantially, all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership. A lease is classified as an operating lease
if it does not transfer, substantially, all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership.

1.6.8 Derecognition

Finance Leases – Lessee

The carrying amount of a heritage asset is derecognised:
• on disposal, or
• when no future economic benefits or service
potential are expected from its use or disposal.

Finance leases are recognised as assets and liabilities
in the Statement of Financial Position at amounts equal
to the fair value of the leased property or, if lower, the
present value of the minimum lease payments. The
corresponding liability to the lessor is included in
the Statement of Financial Position as a finance
lease obligation.

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of a
heritage asset is determined as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount
of the heritage asset. Such difference is recognised in
surplus or deficit when the heritage asset is derecognised.

No finance lease agreements are currently in place.

Operating Leases – Lessor

1.7 Financial Instruments
Financial instruments recognised on the statement of
financial position include cash and cash equivalents,
trade and other receivables and trade and other payables.
Management determines the classification of its financial
assets and financial liabilities at initial recognition.
The classification depends on the purpose for which
the financial assets were acquired.

Receipts from operating leases are recognised as an
income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
The difference between the amounts is recognised as
revenue and included in the Statement of Financial
Performance; and the contractual payments are
recognised as an operating lease asset or liability,
and included in the Statement of Financial Position.

Operating Leases – Lessee
Trade and other receivables are initially recognised
at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less any
provision for doubtful debts. Trade and other receivables
are assessed individually for impairment in terms of
recoverability.
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
at bank, short term liquid investments, as well as deposits
held on call with banks and are stated at cost. Interest
on cash in bank and call accounts are accrued on a
monthly basis and disclosed as interest received in the
statement of financial performance.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The difference
between the amounts is recognised as an expense and
charged to the Statement of Financial Performance;
and the contractual payments are recognised as an
operating lease asset or liability, and included in the
Statement of Financial Position.

1.9 Inventories
Inventories are initially measured at cost, and except
where inventories are acquired at no cost or for
nominal consideration, their costs are their fair value
as at the date of acquisition. Subsequent

inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Inventories consisting of consumable
stores and finished goods are valued at the lower of
cost realisable value on the first-in, first-out basis.
Redundant and slow-moving inventories are identified
and written down through the Statement of Financial
Performance.

the Statement of Financial Performance in the year
that they occur. Past service costs are recognised
immediately to the extent that the benefits are already
vested, and are otherwise amortised on a straightline basis over the average period until the amended
benefits become vested.

Post-retirement Medical Benefit

1.10 Employee Benefits
Short-term Employee Benefits
The cost of short-term employee benefits (those payable
within 12 months after the service is rendered, such as
paid leave and sick leave, bonuses, and non-monetary
benefits such as medical care), are recognised in the
period in which services are rendered, and are not
discounted.
The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised
as an expense, as the employees render services
that increase their entitlement or, in the case of nonaccumulating absences, when the absence occurs.
The expected cost of bonus payments is recognised
as an expense when there is a legal or contractual
obligation to make such payments as a result of past
performance.

Defined Contribution Plans
Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit
plans are charged as an expense as they fall due.
Payments made to state plan retirement benefit schemes
are dealt with as a de fined contribution benefit, where
the entity’s obligation under the schemes is equivalent
to those arising in a defined contribution retirement
benefit plan.

Defined Benefit Plans
For defined benefit plans, the cost of providing the
benefits is determined using the projected credit method.
Actuarial valuations are conducted every three (3)
years for the museums pension fund and on an annual
basis for the medical aid benefit fund, by independent
actuaries, separately for each plan.
Consideration is given to any event that could impact
the funds up to the end of the reporting period, where
the interim valuation is performed at an earlier date.
Actuarial gains and losses are recognised, in full, in

The entitlement to post-retirement healthcare benefits
is based on the employee remaining a contributing
member of the medical aid schemes and remaining in
the service up to retirement age.
Post-retirement healthcare benefits are based on the
following subsidy policy:
• An employee who joined the medic al aid scheme
before 1 October 2004 contributed one third (1/3) of
the total healthcare contribution, and Iziko the balance.
• An employee who joined Iziko from 1 October 2004
would, after retirement, pay 100% of the total
healthcare contribution.
Valuation of these obligations is carried out by
independent, qualified actuaries. Key assumptions
concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the reporting date are used
for the post-retirement medical liability, as per the
actuarial valuation disclosed. See note 10.2. The
amount accrued for post-retirement medical benefits
is included within non-current liabilities.
The expected costs of these benefits are accrued over
the period of employment, using the projected unit
credit method. Actuarial gains and losses arising from
experience, adjustments and changes in actuarial
assumptions are charged to the Statement of Financial
Performance, in full, in the current period.

1.11 Budget Information
The approved budget is prepared on the accrual basis
and presented by functional classification linked to
performance outcome objectives, where possible.
The budget covers the period from 1 April 2018 to 31
March 2019. The financial statements and the budget
are on the same basis of accounting but the budget is
prepared by functional classification. The actual financial
performance information is presented on a comparable
basis to the budget information.
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The comparison and reconciliation between the statement
of financial performance and the budget and the net
surplus per the statement of financial performance
and the budget are presented in the Statement of
Comparison of Budget and Actual Amounts.
The explanation of material differences between budget
and actual amounts have been included in note 20 of
the annual financial statements.

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not
recognised. Contingencies are disclosed in note 21.

1.13 Capital Commitments
Capital commitments disclosed in note 22 refer to
agreements entered on or before the end of the financial
year to incur expenditure over subsequent accounting
periods relating to the purchase of major items of property,
plant and equipment, intangible and heritage assets, but
where delivery has not taken place at the reporting date.

1.12 Provisions and Contingencies
Provisions are recognised when:
• the entity has a present obligation as a result of a
past event;
• it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits or service potential will be required
to settle the obligation; and
• a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.
The amount of a provision is the best estimate of the
expenditure expected to be required to settle the present
obligation at the reporting date. Where some or all
of the expenditure required to settle a provision is expected
to be reimbursed by another party, the reimbursement
is recognised when, and only when, it is virtually certain
that reimbursement will be received if the entity settles
the obligation. The reimbursement is treated as a separate
asset. The amount recognised for the reimbursement
shall not exceed the amount of the provision.
A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past
events, and whose existence will be confirmed only by
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain
future events not wholly within the control of the entity.
A contingent liability is:
• a possible obligation that arises from past events,
and whose existence will be confirmed only by 		
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
uncertain future events not wholly within the 		
control of the entity; or
• a present obligation that arises from past events but
is not recognised because:
• it is not probably that an outflow of resources 		
embodying economic benefits or service potential
will be required to settle the obligation; and
the amount of the obligation cannot be measured
with sufficient reliability.

1.14 Revenue from Exchange
Transactions
Revenue from exchange transactions refers to revenue
that accrued to the entity directly in return for services
rendered and goods sold, the value of which approximates
the consideration received or receivable. The full amount
of the revenue is recognised, and any impairment losses
are subsequently recognised. An exchange transaction
is one in which the entity receives assets or services,
or has liability extinguished, and gives approximately
equal value (primarily in the form of goods, services
or use of assets) to the other party in exchange.
Fair value is the amount at which an asset could be
exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable,
willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.

Measurement
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable, net of trade discounts.

Sale of Goods
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all
the following conditions have been satisfied:
• The entity has transferred to the purchaser the
significant risks and rewards of ownership of the
goods;
• The entity retains neither continuing managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with
ownership and effective control over the goods sold;
• The amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
• It is probable that the economic benefits or service
potential associated with the transaction will flow to
the entity; and
• the cost incurred, or to be incurred in respect of the
transaction, can be measured reliably.

Rendering of Services
When the outcome of a transaction involving the
rendering of services can be estimated reliably, revenue
associated with the transaction is recognised by reference
to the stage of completion of the transaction at the
reporting date.
The outcome of a transaction can be estimated reliably
when all of the following conditions are satisfied:
• The amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
• It is probable that the economic benefits or service
potential associated with the transaction will flow to
the entity;
• The stage of completion of the transaction at the
reporting date can be measured reliably; and
• The costs incurred for the transaction, and the costs
to complete the transaction, can be measured
reliably.

1.15 Revenue from Non-exchange
Transactions
In a non-exchange transaction, an entity receives value
from another entity without directly giving approximately
equal value in exchange, or gives value to another entity
without directly receiving approximately equal value
in exchange.
Control of an asset arises when the entity can use or
otherwise benefit from the asset in pursuit of its
objectives, and can regulate the access of others to
that benefit.
Stipulations on transferred assets are terms in laws and
regulation, or a binding arrangement, imposed upon
the use of a transferred asset by entities external to
the reporting entity.

Recognition
Interest and Rental Income
Revenue arising from the use by others, of entity assets
yielding interest and rental income is recognised when:
• it is probable that the economic benefits or service
potential associated with the transaction will flow to
the entity; and
• the amount of the revenue can be measured reliably.
Interest is recognised, in surplus or deficit, using the
effective interest rate method.
Revenue from rental of facilities and equipment is
recognised on an accrual basis in accordance with the
substance of the agreements.

Concessions
As part of Iziko’s strategic objectives of allowing access
and enhancing the museum experience to the broader
community, Iziko offers free entry to all its museums
to members of the public on certain holidays and on
certain commemorative days. In addition, concessionary
rates are granted to learners, school groups and
pensioners, as well as waiving venue hire fees for notfor-profit organisations where appropriate. The value
of concessions granted is not recognised nor disclosed
in the financial statements.

An inflow of resources from a non-exchange transaction,
recognised as an asset, is recognised as revenue,
except to the extent that a liability is also recognised
in respect of the same inflow.
As the entity satisfies a present obligation, recognised
as a liability, in respect of an inflow of resources from
a non-exchange transaction, recognised as an asset, it
reduces the carrying amount of the liability recognised,
and recognises an amount of revenue equal to that
reduction.

Measurement
Revenue from a non-exchange transaction is measured at
the amount of the increase in net assets recognised by
the entity.
Where a liability is required to be recognised, it will be
measured as the best estimate of the amount required
to settle the obligation at the reporting date, and the
amount of the increase in net assets. When a liability
is subsequently reduced because the taxable event
occurs or a condition is satisfied, the amount of the
reduction in the liability is recognised as revenue.
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1.16 Comparative Figures
Where necessary, comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to changes in presentation in the
current year

1.17 Irregular, Fruitless and Wasteful Expenditure
Irregular expenditure is expenditure other than unauthorised expenditure, incurred in contravention of, or that
is not in accordance with, a requirement of any applicable legislation, including the Public Finance Management
Act (Act No. 1 of 1999, as amended by Act No. 29 of 1999), or any regulations made in terms of this Act.
Fruitless expenditure is expenditure that was made in vain and would have been avoided had reasonable care
been exercised. All expenditure relating to fruitless and wasteful expenditure is recognised as an expense in the
Statement of Financial Performance in the year that the expenditure was incurred. The expenditure is classified
in accordance with the nature of the expense, and where recovered, it is subsequently accounted for as revenue
in the Statement of Financial Performance.

1.18 Taxation
Iziko is exempt from taxation in terms of the provision of Section 10(1) (cA) (i) of the Income Tax Act, 1962 (Act
No. 58 of 1962), as amended.

1.19 Related Parties
The entity operates in an economic sector currently dominated by entities directly or indirectly owned by the
South African Government. As a consequence of the constitutional independence of the three spheres of
government in South Africa, only other public entities where control exists are considered to be related parties.
Management is regarded as related parties of Iziko. Management is defined as being individuals with the authority
and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the entity. All individuals from the
level of Senior Management, as well as the members of the Accounting Authority are considered Management.
A related party transaction is a transfer of resources or obligation between related parties, regardless of whether
a price is charged. Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or
exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions, or if the related
party and another entity are subject to common control.
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2. Property, Plant and Equipment
2019
Furniture

Vehicles

Equipment

Computers

Fibre optic
Leasehold
network improvement

Total

R

R

R

R

R

R

R

Gross carrying amount
at beginning of year

2,599,059

1,013,121

29,337,546

16,267,174

4,990,320

6,719,865

60,927,085

Accumulated depreciation
at beginning of year

(2,274,010)

(359,426)

(12,992,306)

(7,065,018)

(1,933,749)

(2,080,849)

(26,705,358)

325,049

653,695

16,345,240

9,202,156

3,056,571

4,639,016

34,221,727

-

78,365

12,160,760

Net carrying amount at
beginning of year
Movement during the year
Acquisitions
Disposals
Accumulated depreciation
on disposals

1,151,052

7,865,025

3,066,318

(60,230)

(10,823)

(76,923)

(147,976)

60,230

10,823

76,923

147,976

Depreciation expense for
the year

(100,460)

(65,047)

(4,434,540)

(2,273,822)

(249,516)

(594,902)

(7,718,287)

Net carrying amount at
end of year

1,375,641

588,648

19,775,725

9,994,652

2,807,055

4,122,479

38,664,200

3,689,881

1,013,121

37,191,748

19,256,569

4,990,320

6,798,230

72,939,869

(2,314,240)

(424,473)

(17,416,023)

(9,261,917)

(2,183,265)

(2,675,751)

(34,275,669)

Gross carrying amount at
the end of year
Accumulated
depreciation at end of
the year

2018
Furniture

Vehicles

Equipment

optic
Leasehold
Computers Fibre
network improvement

Total

R

R

R

R

R

R

R

Gross carrying amount at
beginning of year

2,376,567

884,155

15,788,231

7,045,701

4,990,320

6,713,938

37,798,912

Accumulated depreciation
at beginning of year

(2,200,585)

(291,958

(9,682,725)

(5,014,910)

(1,684,233)

(1,462,614)

(20,337,025)

175,982

592,197

6,105,506

2,030,791

3,306,087

5,251,323

17,461,886

Acquisitions

222,492

128,966

13,549,315

9,221,473

-

5,927

23,128,173

Depreciation expense for
the year

(73,425)

(67,468)

(3,309,581)

(2,050,108)

(249,516)

(618,235)

(6,368,333)

Net carrying amount at
end of year

325,049

653,695

16,345,240

9,202,156

3,056,571

4,639,016

34,221,727

2,599,059

1,013,121

29,337,546

16,267,174

4,990,320

6,719,865

60,927,085

(2,274,010)

(359,426)

(12,992,306)

(7,065,018)

(1,933,749)

(2,080,849)

(26,705,358)

Net carrying amount
at beginning of year restated
Movement during the year

Gross carrying amount at
the end of year
Accumulated depreciation
at end of year

• No restrictions on title for property, plant and equipment have been pledged as securities for liabilities.
• Included in repairs and maintenance is expenditure incurred to repair and maintain property, plant and
equipment amounting to R60,346.

3. Intangible Assets
Intangible assets comprise computer software purchased.

2019

2018

R

R

Carrying amount at beginning of year

1 ,872,641

207,864

Cost

3,381,763

1,398,293

(1,509,122)

(1,190,429)

2,314,465

1,983,470

Accumulated amortisation
Current year movement
Additions
Amortisation expense for the year

(382,735)

(318,693)

Carrying amount at end of the year

3,804,371

1 ,872,641

Cost

5,696,228

3,381,763

Accumulated amortisation

(1,891,857)

(1,509,122)

No intangible assets were internally generated during the year under review.

4. Heritage Assets
2019
R
Natural History
Collections
Gross carrying amount the
beginning of year

R
Social History
Collections

R
Art Collections

R
Libraries

R
Total

25,529,191

375,437,534

2,077,369,955

29,569,208

2,507,905,888

-

-

-

-

-

25,529,191

375,437,534

2,077,369,955

29,569,208

2,507,905,888

Additions – Purchases

-

119,795

1,531,756

4,133

1,655,684

Additions – Donations

-

5,430

257,750

12,096

275,276

Disposals

-

-

(35,000)

(28,648)

(63,648)

Impairment

-

-

-

(13,650)

(13,650)

Net carrying amount at end of
year

25,529,191

375,562,759

2,079,124,461

29,543,138

2,509,759,549

Gross carrying amount end of
the year

25,529,191

375,562,759

2,079,124,461

29,556,788

2,509,773,199

-

-

-

(13,650)

(13,650)

Accumulated Impairment at
beginning of the year
Net carrying amount the
beginning of year - restated

Accumulated Impairment at
end of the year
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Restated
2018
R
Natural History
Collections
Gross carrying amount the
beginning of year

R
Social History
Collections

R
Art Collections

R

R

Libraries

Total

25,529,191

375,362,494

2,073,778,537

29,645,206

2,504,315,428

-

-

-

-

-

25,529,191

375,362,494

2,073,778,537

29,645,206

2,504,315,428

Additions – Purchases

-

29,640

1,957,993

8,073

1,995,706

Additions – Donations

-

45,400

1,633,425

5,570

1,684,395

Disposals

-

-

-

(89,641)

(89,641)

Net carrying amount at end
of year

25,529,191

375,437,534

2,077,369,955

29,569,208

2,507,905,888

Gross carrying amount the
end of year

25,529,191

375,437,534

2,077,369,955

29,569,208

2,507,905,888

Accumulated Impairment at
beginning of the year
Net carrying amount the
beginning of year – restated

4.1 Additions
For recognition of heritage assets, the asset needs to be controlled by Iziko as a result of past events.
Such events may include: Purchase, donation, bequest, loan or transfer.

4.2 Impairment
At each reporting date, the entity assesses its heritage assets to determine whether there is an indication that
they may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the entity shall estimate the recoverable amount or the
recoverable service amount of the heritage asset:
• Where acquisitions have been fair valued and assessed, the valuation surplus/loss has been disclosed
accordingly.
• Where acquisitions have been assessed with no significant change in fair value for the period under review,
they are disclosed at cost.
• All remaining items valued and disclosed have been assessed and fair valued as at the date of recognition.
• To the extent that the entity has not completed a full verification of the Natural History collection, these items
have not been impaired. The Natural History collection is considered largely as having no commercial value,
and is currently in temporary storage. This collection is primarily of research significance, and therefore
usually held in storage.
• To the extent that the entity has not fully complied with the requirement to impair its heritage assets, the
failure to impair is not expected to have a material effect on the financial statements.

4.3 Service Potential Undetermined
Iziko has assessed the degree of certainty attached to the flow of future service potential or economic benefits.
Items where the service potential is undetermined cannot be recognised in the financial statements, but will
be recorded and controlled in the register and include unknown, unassembled, unclassified or fragmented
specimens and artefacts and donated items received but yet to be assessed for inclusion in the permanent
collection of the museum.

4.4 Inability to Fair Value
As noted in 1.6.2 above, where no value can be placed on an item, it will not be recognised, but information should
be disclosed about such items and the reasons for not valuing them provided. Valuation may not be possible and
practicable due to historical challenges associated with donated items.
If an entity holds an asset that might be regarded as a heritage asset but which, on initial recognition, does not
meet the recognition criteria of a heritage asset because it cannot be reliably measured, relevant and useful
information about it shall be disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.
The works, objects and specimens in the various collections which have not been valued, are recorded and
controlled in the register.

Natural History Collections
There are 671 315 catalogued objects and specimens in the Natural History collection of which 10 570 objects with
commercial value have been recognised and the remainder considered to have no monetary value. This collection
comprises a diverse collection of material including: Marine Biology, Invertebrates and Terrestrial Vertebrates,
Taxidermy, Paleontology, Rocks and Minerals, and Fossils. The collection is primarily of research significance, and
specific collections within Natural History were assessed as having commercial value. These collections include
Geology and Taxidermy and as additional research is conducted, items added to the database will be recognised
in the financial statements in terms of GRAP 103. Items not recognised in the financial statements are recorded
and controlled.

Social History Collections
Iziko currently has within its Social History Collection 343 objects that could not be valued for the following
reasons:
• 77 objects included Antiquities for which the service potential could not be assessed due to additional research
being required to their origin and dating.
• 36 additional objects for which the service potential could not be assessed due to additional research being
required to confirm or establish provenance.
• 182 items of Archaeological Material could not be valued because the material consists of fragmented materials
• 48 objects have no commercial value because they are fragmented, broken or unassembled.

Art Collections
Iziko currently has 122 works in the Gerard Sekoto Study Collection that have been assessed to have no commercial
value because they are in a poor condition. They still have research value and will be held in the collection as a
study collection.

The Library Collections
The Library Collections contain 185 items comprising pamphlets, policies, catalogues and reference material
which require additional research and evaluation to determine if they meet the recognition criteria of heritage
assets. These items have not been valued and are recorded and controlled in the register.
In all collections, heritage items are recognised once they have been verified and valued by independent, accredited
valuators in terms of the requirements of GRAP 103.
In addition where object, works or specimens have been accessioned, and cannot be located for verification, they
have not been recognised and are placed on a loss register pending further investigation. These items are not
expected to have a material impact on the financial statements.
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5. Inventories
2019

2018

R

R

76,916

68,415

97,845

48,747

174,761

117,162

Consumables
Other inventory

6. Trade and Other Receivables
Restated
2019
Gross carrying amount

R

R

7,419,064

9,288,556

-

(2,849)

7,419,064

9,285,707

465,866

349,325

6,953,198

8,936,382

7,419,064

9,285,707

Provision for impairment

Receivables from non-exchange transactions
Receivables from exchange transactions

2018

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of each class of receivables mentioned
above. The amounts are subject to Iziko’s standard credit terms and are due within a maximum of either 30 days
after month end or the payment terms stated on the initial contract with debtors.

Trade Receivables Past Due But Not Impaired
At 31 March, trade and other receivables can be analysed as follows:
Restated
2019

2018

R

R

7,102,995

9,219,842

480

7,172

2 months past due

250,456

1,765

3 months past due

65,133

56,928

7,419,064

9,285,707

2,849

-

Bad Debts written off

-

15,927

Provision raised

-

2,849

2,849

(15,927)

-

2,849

Current
1 month past due

Reconciliation of the provision for impairment of trade and other receivables
Opening Balance

Provision reversed
Closing Balance

No debtors are pledged as collateral or security.

7. Investment at Fair Value
Credit rating

2019
R

2018
R

P-3

19,861,881

18,426,573

Stanlib - Enhanced Yield Fund (Cash Plus Fund)

The Stanlib Enhanced Yield Fund (Cash Plus Fund) is a product which, whilst it falls under the Unit Trust Act, has a
fixed base price and earns interest on a monthly basis in the same way that the money market call account provides
interest. It is a collective investment scheme in which the value of participatory interests may fluctuate. Participatory
interest prices are calculated on a net asset value basis, which is the total value of all assets in the portfolio,
including any income accrual, and less any permissible deductions, divided by the number of participatory interests
in issue. During the year under review, a fair value gain of R18,002 (2018: Fair value gain of R38,938) was incurred
on the investment.

7.1 Impairment of Investment
No provision for impairment on the investment has been made at 31 March 2019.

8. Cash and Cash Equivalents

ABSA – 364 day Fixed Deposit

Credit

2019

2018

rating

R

R

zaA-1+

11,508,503

10,682,729

ABSA – 364 day Fixed Deposit

zaA-1+

33,631,437

31,123,544

Investec – Private Money Fund

zaA-1+

27,216,405

25,277,260

Standard bank – Call Deposit

P-3

40,241,359

31,784,037

Standard Bank – Current account

P-3

1,354,753

21,839,194

29,400

23,265

113,981,857

120,730,029

Cash on hand

9. Trade and Other Payables

9.1 Payables from Exchange Transactions
Restated
2019

2018

R

R

52,556

51,471

206,856

128,615

Leave pay

2,560,795

2,192,259

Annual bonus

3,019,454

2,534,895

Deferred lease liability
Rent deposits

Trade creditors and accruals

7,964,569

7,690,895

13,804,230

12,598,135
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9.2 Payables from Non-exchange Transactions

Grant deposit
Other payables

2019

2018

R

R

4,200,000

3,800,000

21,006

24,568

4,221,006

3,824,568

The entity received a grant deposit from the National Research Foundation (NRF). This capital amount is used
only to finance NRF-funded projects at the institution.

10. Employee Benefits

10.1 Post-retirement Pension Benefit
The post-retirement pension benefit represents Iziko’s liability towards the unfunded actuarial liabilities for the
defined pension fund, covering all participating employees.
According to the March 2015 valuation reports, no shortfall exists in respect of accrued liabilities, and a funding
level of 100% certifies that the Museums Pension Fund is currently in a financially sound position. Any deficit
advised by the actuaries is funded through increased contributions to ensure the ongoing soundness of the
pension fund.

10.2 Post-retirement Medical Benefit
2019

2018

R

R

71,733,752

68,936,631

(Decrease)/Increase in liability

(3,063,012)

2,797,121

Balance at end of year

68,670,740

71,733,752

Post-retirement medical benefit (Non-current liability)

64,282,444

67,753,720

4,388,296

3,980,032

68,670,740

71,733,752

Balance at beginning of year

Post-retirement medical benefit (Current liability)

Iziko’s liability towards future post-retirement medical benefits is increased to cover all participating employees
and retirees.

Medical Aid
Iziko operates a post-retirement medical benefit scheme that covers all employees appointed prior to 1 October 2004.
The medical schemes are funded by payments from retirees and Iziko. Iziko’s contribution to the medical schemes is
charged to the income statement in the year to which it relates.
The latest full valuation of Iziko’s liability in respect of post-retirement medical benefits for the financial year end was
performed on 31 March 2019, and will be valued at yearly intervals thereafter The actuary forecast the expense for
the year following the valuation date and the forecast position at the year-end following the valuation date, ignoring
any gains or losses arising over the period. The liability was projected based on sixty (60) retirees and thirty-one (31)
employees participating as at 31 March 2019 and the liability and future increases are charged to income.
Amounts for the current and previous four periods are as follows:

Opening balance
Current service cost
Interest cost

2019

2018

2017

2016

2015

R

R

R

R

R

71,733,752

68,936,631

67,850,659

63,924,848

55,341,149

1,057,419

1,142,128

1,151,704

1,306,343

1,214,360

6,324,520

6,716,318

6,764,801

5,508,053

4,989,709

Actuarial gain

(6,464,919)

(1,729,119)

(3,933,970)

(354,454)

4,612,346

Expected employer benefit payments

(3,980,032)

(3,332,206)

(2,896,563)

(2,534,131)

(2,232,716)

68,670,740

71,733,752

68,936,631

67,850,659

63,924,848

Actuarial Gain
An actuarial gain of R6,464,919 (2018: R1,729,119) has arisen. This gain has arisen due to the following reasons:
• Changes made to the assumptions, specifically the increase in the net discount rate from 0.2% to 0.8% per
annum resulted in an actuarial gain of R9,189,991.
• Medical scheme contributions for 2019, and hence the subsidies payable by the employer, increased on
average by 10.0% compared to the increase of 7.4% that was assumed in the previous valuation. This resulted
in an actuarial loss of R1,711,453.
• The difference between actual demographic experience (resignation, retirement, mortality etc.) and that
assumed in the previous valuation gave rise to an actuarial loss of R1,013,619.

Total Expense Recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance
2019

2018

R

R

Service costs

1,057,419

1,142,128

Interest costs

6,324,520

6,716,318

(6,464,919)

(1,729,119)

917,020

6,129,327

Actuarial (gain)/loss
Personnel costs

Key Assumptions Used
The changes from the previous valuation include:
• A decrease in the discount rate from 9.0% to 10.4% per annum.
• An increase in the long-term medical cost inflation assumption from 8.8% to 9.5% per annum.
• The two changes above result in an increase in the net discount rate from 0.2% to 0.8% per annum.
The actuary used a discount rate of 10.4%. This yield is derived from the JSE zero bond curve (as at 28 March
2019), applied to the projected cash flows from the previous valuation, which results in a duration of 13.8 years.
The market’s view of the long-term level of the rate of increase in the CPI Index is suggested by the difference
between the yields on index linked and fixed income government bonds of appropriate terms. The assumed
long-term CPI inflation rate for this valuation that was derived in this manner is 7.5%.
The actuary has assumed that healthcare cost inflation will be 2.0% higher than CPI inflation. The rates used in
the valuation are shown in the following table.
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Assumed Rates of Contribution Increases
2019/2020

2020/2021

2021/2022

Thereafter

6.4%

6.5%

6.5%

9.5%

Medical inflation

All other assumptions remain unchanged from those used in the previous valuation prepared by the actuary.
The mortality assumptions used in the calculation of the liabilities were as follows:
Pre-retirement

Post-retirement

Male

SA 85–90 (light)

Female

SA 85–90 (light)

Male

PA90

Female

PA90

Other Assumptions
The valuation was based on the current subsidy levels specified in the data provided.
The actuary has assumed that no significant changes will occur in the structure of the healthcare and subsidy
arrangements. No allowance was made for the effect of the proposed Risk Equalisation Fund (REF) on the
scheme contributions. It is unlikely that REF will be implemented.

Sensitivity Analysis
The sensitivity analysis is performed by making changes to the assumption being considered, and comparing
the results to the base scenario. The results are particularly sensitive to changes in the assumption regarding
future increases in medical scheme contributions. This is illustrated in the tables below

Sensitivity Analysis – F2019 Accounting Entries
Base
Liability brought forward as at 1 April 2018

71,733,752

Inflation
plus 1,0%
71,733,752

Inflation
plus 0,5%
71,733,752

Inflation
minus 1,0%
71,733,752

Inflation
minus 0,5%
71,733,752

Service cost

1,057,419

1,057,419

1,057,419

1,057,419

1,057,419

Interest Cost

6,324,520

6,324,520

6,324,520

6,324,520

6,324,520

Disbursements

(3,980,032)

(3,980,032)

(3,980,032)

(3,980,032)

(3,980,032)

Actuarial (gain)/loss

(6,464,919)

1,571,082

(2,615,373)

(13,281,386)

(10,010,491)

Liability as at 31 March 2019

68,670,740

76,706,741

72,520,286

61,854,273

65,125,168

Sensitivity Analysis – F2018 Accounting Entries (projected)
Base

Inflation
plus 1,0%

Inflation
plus 0,5%

Inflation
minus 1,0%

Inflation
minus 0,5%

Liability brought forward as at 1 April 2017

68,936,632

68,936,632

68,936,632

68,936,632

68,936,632

Settlements

(3,332,206)

(3,332,206)

(3,332,206)

(3,332,206)

(3,332,206)

Service cost

1,142,128

1,142,128

1,142,128

1,142,128

1,142,128

Interest cost

6,716,317

6,716,317

6,716,317

6,716,318

6,716,318

(1,729,119)

7,320,015

2,594,686

(9,332,240)

(5,692,613)

71,733,752

80,782,886

76,057,557

64,130,632

67,770,259

Actuarial (gain)/loss
Liability as at 31 March 2018

11. Deferred Income – Unspent Conditional Grants
Deferred income consists of funds received for specific projects, on condition that any unspent funds are
returned to the transferor. A liability is recognised for advance receipts, until the event that makes the transfer
arrangement binding occurs, and all other conditions under the agreement are fulfilled. When that event occurs
and all other conditions under the agreement are fulfilled, the liability is discharged and revenue is recognised.
The liability is measured at the amount required to settle the obligation Conditional grants are received for
research projects, art exhibitions and educational projects from a number of different donors.

2019
Projects per department

Research and Exhibitions
Collections and Digitisation
Advancement
Total

Total deferred
income

To be utilised within
one year

To be utilised in year
2 and thereafter

R

R

R

2,913,069

2,582,114

330,955

882,462

882,462

-

15,891

15,891

-

3,811,422

3,480,467

330,955

2018
Projects per department

Total deferred
income

To be utilised within
one year

To be utilised in year
2 and thereafter

R

R

R

Research and Exhibitions

2,932,139

2,694,072

238,067

Collections and Digitisation

2,235,782

2,235,782

-

27,177

27,177

-

5,195,098

4,957,031

238,067

Advancement
Total

PAGE

121

11.1 Deferred Income – Unspent Conditional Government Grants
2019
To be utilised within
one year

To be utilised in year
2 and thereafter

4,704,321

1,457,741

3,246,580

1,721,610

1,200,000

521,610

1,507,268

1 ,102,731

404,537

370,017

148,007

222,010

7,475,275

1,000,000

6,475,275

Planetarium Upgrade

5,366,498

2,063,824

3,302,674

GRAP 103 Implementation Project

18,076,303

13,918,754

4,157,549

Total

39,221,292

20,891,057

18,330,235

Project
Courtyard
Maintenance and Conservation
Painting and Renovation of Facilities
Climate Control
Halon Gas & Fire Suppression System

Total deferred
income

2018
Project

Total deferred
income

To be utilised within
one year

To be utilised in year
2 and thereafter

Courtyard

5,221,317

3,654,922

1,566,395

Maintenance and Conservation

7,052,621

4,510,488

2,542,133

Painting and Renovation of Facilities

1,507,268

502,423

1,004,845

370,017

123,339

246,678

Halon Gas & Fire Suppression System

7,500,000

2,500,000

5,000,000

Planetarium Upgrade

5,366,498

5,366,498

-

GRAP 103 Implementation Project

22,010,433

11,005,216

11,005,217

49,028,154

27,662,886

21,365,268

Climate Control

Total

Funding received from the DAC for capital works for the Courtyard Project at the
Iziko South African Museum (ISAM)

Carrying amount at beginning of year

2019

2018

R

R

5,221,317

5,255,238

Amount utilised during the year

(516,996)

(33,921)

Carrying amount at end of year

4,704,321

5,221,317

Funding received from the DAC to be utilised for the maintenance and conservation of all
Iziko sites
Carrying amount at beginning of year

7,052,621

8,101,884

Amount utilised during the year

(5,331,011)

(1,049,263)

Carrying amount at end of year

1,721,610

7,052,621

Funding received during the current year from the DAC to be utilised for the painting and
renovation of facilities
2019

2018

R

R

Carrying amount at beginning of year

1,507,268

-

Amount received during current year

-

1,509,248

Amount utilised during the year

-

(1,980)

Carrying amount at end of year

1,507,268

1,507,268

Funding received from the DAC in respect of the Climate Control Project at the ISAM
2019

2018

R

R

Carrying amount at beginning of year

370,017

370,017

Carrying amount at end of year

370,017

370,017
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Funding received from the DAC in respect of the Halon Gas and Fire Suppression System at
the ISAM

Carrying amount at beginning of year

2019

2018

R

R

7,500,000

7,500,000

Amount utilised during the year

(24,725)

-

Carrying amount at end of year

7,475,275

7,500,000

Funding received from the DAC in respect of the Planetarium Digital Upgrade Project at
the ISAM
2019

2018

R

R

5,366,498

7,000,000

Amount utilised during the year

-

(1,633,502)

Carrying amount at end of year

5,366,498

5,366,498

Carrying amount at beginning of year

Funding received from the DAC in respect of the GRAP 103 Implementation Project
2019

2018

R

R

Carrying amount at beginning of year

22,010,433

-

Amount received during current year

-

26,000,000

Amount utilised during the year

(3,934,130)

(3,989,567)

Carrying amount at end of year

18,076,303

22,010,433

Total

39,221,292

49,028,154

Deferred income – Unspent conditional government grants: Non-current liability

18,330,235

21,365,268

Deferred income – Unspent conditional government grants: Current liability

20,891,057

27,662,886

39,221,292

49,028,154

2019

2018

R

R

2,501,678,508

2,447,548,307

-

54,130,201

2,501,678,508

2,501,678,508

12. Revaluation reserve

Opening Balance
Prior period adjustment
Closing Balance

The Revaluation Reserve is comprised of the surplus from the revaluation of Heritage assets and is non-distributable.

13. Net Surplus for the Year
Net surplus has been arrived at after charging:

2019

2018

R

R

821,571

144,711

382,735

318,693

Architectural services

5,331,012

1,136,188

Asset verification and valuation

628,590

2,098,626

2,901,766

2,610,696

Bank and legal costs

878,241

1,109,372

Cleaning, hygiene and garden services

279,627

302,799

Consumables

677,209

866,652

Depreciation

7,718,287

6,368,333

Advertising, marketing and promotions
Amortisation: Intangible assets

Audit fees

635,713

636,603

55,481,084

58,156,817

28,608

23,764

1,312,000

1,895,535

63,648

89,640

467,840

363,784

7,453,623

6,677,552

Personnel expenses

66,029,024

65,141,714

Salaries and benefits

65,267,455

64,076,332

761,569

1,065,382

Insurance
Lease Costs
Library costs
Licenses and computer networking costs
Losses – Heritage assets
Motor vehicle and transport costs
Municipal charges

Post-retirement medical aid benefits

6,324,520

6,716,318

1,273,995

1,089,053

65,465

61,700

Professional services – Conservation

1,250,767

954,276

Professional services – Other

2,749,682

870,936

300,515

275,301

-

19,292

Publication expenses

107,344

30,591

Relocation costs – Courtyard Project

175,665

33,922

Repairs and maintenance

455,962

605,348

1,836,335

1,231,328

309,786

442,651

Subsistence and travel

2,057,482

1,645,428

Sundry operating expenses

4,923,047

2,078,045

461,204

484,631

52,299

244,192

173,434,646

164,724,491

Post-retirement actuarial finance costs
Printing and stationery
Professional secretarial services

Professional services – Internal audit
Provision for doubtful debts

Security expenses
Staff training and development

Telephone expenses
Website hosting and maintenance costs
Total
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14. Cash Generated in Operations
Restated
2019

2018

R

R

13,756,973

32,157,438

Donated heritage assets

(275,276)

(1,684,395)

Depreciation on property, plant & equipment

7,718,287

6,368,333

382,735

318,693

13,650

-

(3,063,012)

2,797,121

63,648

89,641

Net surplus for the year
Adjustments for non-cash items:

Amortisation on intangible assets
Impairment – Heritage Assets
Increase/(decrease) in post-employment benefits
Losses – Heritage assets

18,597,006

40,046,831

(8,323,795)

(7,193,375)

Operating deficit before working capital changes

10,273,212

32,853,456

Working capital changes

(7,778,961)

5,706,725

Decrease in trade and other receivables

1,866,642

4,784,665

(57,599)

4,889

(1,383,675)

(22,594,681)

(9,806,862)

20,801,015

1,602,533

2,710,837

-

4,107

2,494,250

38,564,288

Interest received

Decrease/(increase) in inventories
Decrease in deferred income
(Decrease)/Increase in government grant
Increase in trade and other payables
Prior period adjustment
Cash generated by operations

15. Financial Instruments
Financial instruments carried on the statement of financial position are classified as financial assets and as
financial liabilities in terms of GRAP 104 and consist of trade and other receivables, investments, cash and cash
equivalents and trade and other payables.
In accordance with GRAP104.45 the financial liabilities and assets of Iziko are classified as follows:

Financial Assets carried at amortised cost
2019
Investment
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables (excluding prepayment)

2018

R

R

19,861,881

18,426,573

113,981,857

120,730,029

5,812,744

3,566,210

139,656,482

142,772,812

No financial assets have been pledged as collateral for liabilities or contingent liabilities.

Financial Liabilities carried at amortised cost

Trade payables
Other payables (excluding payables and constructive
obligations that do not arise from contracts)

2019

2018

R

R

1,929,757

4,428,723

13,482,128

9,750,250

15,411,885

14,178,973

Fair Value of Financial Instruments
At year-end the carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, and other payables
approximated their fair value due to the short-term maturities of these assets and liabilities.

15.1 Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is managed by keeping sufficient cash available for funding through an adequate amount of committed
credit facilities and the ability to move funds from short-term financial instruments. Iziko manages liquidity risk
by monitoring its cash flow requirements, and optimises its cash return on investments. The Council is of the
opinion that Iziko has sufficient cash available to settle its financial liabilities.

Maturity Analysis
The table below analyses Iziko’s financial liabilities, based on the remaining period at the reporting date, to the
contractual maturity date:

2019
R

Trade payables
Other payables

Less than
12 months

Over
12 Months

1,929,757

-

13,482,128

-

15,411,885

-

2018
R

Trade payables
Other payables

Less than
12 months

Over
12 Months

4,428,723

-

9,750,250

-

14,178,973

-

The deferred government grant and other deferred income are not financial liabilities, as they are similar
to revenue received in advance, and have been excluded from the maturity analysis. They will only become
financial liabilities if they become repayable.

PAGE

127

15.2 Market Risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: currency risk, interest rate risk and other
price risk.
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because
of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Stanlib fund invests in South African money market instruments,
bonds, fixed deposits, listed debentures, preference shares and other high yielding investments and funds
invested are not exposed to currency risk due to changes in foreign exchange rates.

Interest Rate Risk
The Council is not locked into long-term interest rates because cash and cash equivalents consist of short-term
investments held at registered banks with high credit ratings. Interest rate exposure is therefore low on Iziko’s
bank accounts. These deposits attract interest at rates linked directly to the prime overdraft rate.

Sensitivity Analysis: Cash and Cash Equivalents
The following tables illustrate the impact of a 1% increase and decrease in the interest rate on the Statement of
Financial Performance:
Interest received

Interest earned – External Investments
Interest rate

Effect of change in interest rate

1% decrease

Effect of change in interest rate

Rand value

Effect of change in interest rate

1% increase

Effect of change in interest rate

Rand value

2019
R

2018
R

9,900,278

8,598,685

7%

6%

6%

5%

(1,867,113)

(1,640,855)

8%

7%

809,762

1,142,277

Other price risk
Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk), whether
those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors
affecting all similar financial instruments traded in the market.
The Stanlib investment fund is exposed to general market risks such as interest rate fluctuations, inflation
uncertainty and duration risk if rates move in a direction contrary to what was expected.
The Fund is an interest-bearing portfolio, constructed and managed on a multi-managed basis. Other risks are
managed by investments in mainly shorter term bonds, fixed deposits and other short-term interest-earning
securities. It has been designed to be conservative, liquid and competitive in its category.

15.3 Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the entity if customers or counterparties to financial instruments fail
to meet their contractual obligations, and arises principally from the entity’s investments, receivables, and cash
and cash equivalents.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Iziko’s exposure to credit risk is mitigated by the fact that Iziko only deposits and invests surplus funds with
registered banking institutions of high credit standing. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting
date is the bank balances as disclosed in the Statement of Financial Performance

Trade and Other Receivables
Credit risk is mitigated through management’s assessment of the credit quality of debtors, taking into account
their financial position, payment history and track record.
The maximum exposure to credit risks at the reporting date is the fair value of trade and other receivables, as
disclosed in note 6. The amount presented in the Statement of Financial Position is net of provision for doubtful
debts, which is estimated based on prior experience and current economic conditions. Debtors arise from rental
of facilities and professional services rendered. Management is of the opinion that the debts are fully
recoverable.

16. Operating Leases
Iziko as Lessor
Operating leases relate to restaurants in buildings occupied by Iziko Museums of South Africa, with lease terms
of between 2 to 5 years, with an option to renew. All operating lease contracts contain market review clauses,
in the event that the lessee exercises its option to renew. The property rental income earned under operating
leases amounted to R1,043,808 (2018: R765,112).

Amounts Receivable Under Operating Leases
At the reporting date, the following minimum lease payments were receivable under non-cancellable operating
leases for property, plant and equipment, which are receivable as follows:

2019

2018

R

R

Up to 1 year

1,427,490

765,112

2 to 5 years

4,996,214

-

-

-

6,423,704

765,112

More than 5 years

The following restrictions have, inter alia, been imposed by Iziko in terms of the lease agreements:
i. The lessee shall not have the right to sublet cede or assign the whole or any portion of the premises let.
ii. The lessor or its duly authorised agent or representative shall have the right, at all reasonable times, to
inspect the premises let.
iii. The lessee shall use the premises let for the sole purpose prescribed in the agreement.
No contingent rental income was recognised as revenue in the reporting period.
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Iziko as Lessee
Operating Leases
The operating leases relate to rentals charged for vehicles, berthing fees, photocopiers, with lease terms of
between 2 to 5 years, with options to extend All operating lease contracts contain market review clauses, in the
event that the lessee exercises its option to renew. Payments under operating leases amounted to R1,132,242
(2018: R1,221,570).

Amounts Payable Under Operating Leases
At the reporting date, the total future minimum lease payments are as follows:

2019

2018

R

R

Up to 1 year

1,126,400

938,299

2 to 5 years

757,299

797,650

1,883,699

1,735,949

The following restrictions have, inter alia, been imposed in terms of the lease agreements:
i. The lessee shall not have the right to sublet, cede or assign the whole or any portion of the property, vehicles
or equipment let.
ii. The lessor or its duly authorised agent or representative shall have the right, at all reasonable times, to
inspect the property, vehicles or equipment let.
iii. The lessee shall use the property, vehicles or equipment for the sole purpose prescribed in the agreement.
No contingent rent expenses were recognised in the reporting period.

Property Owned by Third Parties
Eleven sites occupied by Iziko are owned by the Department of Public Works at no cost during the year. In
addition, spaces at one of the Iziko sites at Groot Constantia Estate, Groot Constantia are occupied free of
charge by Iziko. The lease of the buildings is open-ended with no lease term.

17. Emoluments of Council, Committee Members and Senior Management
17.1 Honorarium of Council Members

2019

2018

R

R

D Moopeloa (Chairman)

34,313

45,627

S Perumal

23,173

23,332

JE Leshabane

27,130

34,384

S Makhathini

7,812

-

TI Nemaheni (resigned)

-

24,560

17,818

39,758

T Wakashe

21,409

18,831

A Mooke

29,032

43,308

160,687

229,800

RP Solomons

17.2 Honorarium of Audit Committee Members
2019

2018

R

R

S Perumal

3,776

-

RP Solomons

1,240

-

A Mooke

1,240

-

A Dlamini

10,204

12,415

P Heeger

15,442

14,898

-

4,966

24,552

16,368

56,454

48,647

S Makhatini
N Nicholls (Chairman)

17.3 Remuneration of Senior Management
2019
R
Name

Job function

Salary

Bonus

Allowances

Employer
contribution

Total cost
to company

*Other

Ms RH Omar

Chief Executive
Officer

1,449,432

120,786

226,517

235,533

33,037

2,065,305

Dr BC Ndhlovu
(from 9 April 2018)

Executive Director
Core Functions

1,170,348

56,018

139,649

272,911

43,516

1,682,442

Ms D Crous

Executive Director
Operations

1,037,520

86,460

148,270

341,343

2,690

1,616,283

Ms SL Glanville (to
30 November 2018)

Director
Advancement

463,023

51,447

100,256

76,481

6,713

697,920

Mr HH Arnolds
(from 1 July 2018)

Director Education

405,936

15,035

81,234

65,965

21,976

590,146

Mr P Tichmann

Director Collections
and Digitisation

541,248

45,104

108,312

87,953

12,001

794,618

Ms F Johadien

Director Support
Services

536,832

44,736

108,312

101,635

3,106

794,621

Ms R Pedro

Chief Financial
Officer

536,832

44,736

114,312

101,022

3,106

800,008

Ms T Maqeda
(from 1 October 2018)

Director Human
Resources

228,150

3,169

54,156

44,274

1,673

331,422

Ms SL Glanville
(from 1 December 2018)

Director Research
and Exhibitions

192,641

-

39,157

44,464

1,333

277,595

6,561,962

467,491

1,120,175

1,371,581

129,151

9,650,360

Total

*Included under the category ‘Other’ is payments for subsistence and travel, performance bonus and 3G card costs
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2018
R
Name

Job function

Ms RH Omar

Chief Executive
Officer

Mr BC Ndhlovu
(to 31 October 2017)*

Salary

Bonus

Allowances

Employer
contribution

*Other

Total cost
to company

1,369,968

114,164

214,757

222,620

222,131

2,143,640

Executive Director
Core Functions

657,930

93,990

78,633

150,951

216,193

1,197,697

Ms D Crous

Executive Director
Operations

980,640

81,720

140,799

319,325

116,495

1,638,979

Dr WD Alexander
(to 31 December 2017)*

Director: Education

519,093

67,290

81,281

93,953

167,358

928,975

Ms R Pedro

Chief Financial
Officer

507,408

42,284

108,374

95,235

33,289

786,590

Ms SL Glanville-Zini

Director:
Advancement

583,524

48,627

198,728

109,223

100,291

1,040,393

Ms F Johadien

Director: Support
Services

507,408

42,284

102,374

96,854

32,892

781,812

Mr RC Human
(to 31 November 2017)*

Director: Human
Resources

338,272

45,808

72,250

54,969

59,311

570,610

Mr P Tichmann

Director: Collections
and Digitisation

511,572

42,631

102,374

83,130

2,690

742,397

Dr HG Robertson
(to 31 March 2018)*

Director: Research
and Exhibitions

692,124

57,677

114,374

269,430

83,011

1,216,616

6,667,939

636,475

1,213,944

1,495,690

1,033,661

11,047,709

Total

*Included under the category ‘Other’ is payments for subsistence and travel, performance bonus and 3G card costs

18. Related Parties
The controlling entity of Iziko is the Department of Arts and Culture (DAC), which provided a subsidy grant for
its operations. All public entities under the control of the DAC, as well as the Minister of Arts and Culture, are a
related party to Iziko. During the year under review, Iziko did not enter into transactions with any of the entities.

Department of Arts and Culture
During the prior year, the DAC provided a subsidy grant for its operations and also provided funding for special
projects. The amounts involved in the transactions are as follows:

2019

2018

R

R

77,779,000

75,556,000

Grant received – Municipal services

7,010,000

6,088,000

Grant received – Leases Grant

1,739,000

1,509,248

-

26,000,000

358,000

-

-

4,247,139

Grant received – Subsidy

Grant received – GRAP 103 Implementation Project
Grant received – Cost of Compliance
Payments on behalf of Iziko for property leases

Department of Public Works
The following Iziko sites, owned by the Department of Public Works (DPW), used as exhibition and storage
spaces and for administrative purposes are occupied free of charge by Iziko:
• SA Museum and Planetarium
• SA Museum Courtyard Wing
• Rust & Vreugd
• Slave Lodge
• Bo-Kaap
• SA National Gallery & Galley Annexe
• Old Townhouse
• Koopmans De Wet House
• Iziko Social History Centre
• Bertram House
• William Fehr
• Wingfield Hangar Storage
In addition, the Manor House, Orientation Centre and Jonkershuis Restaurant at Groot Constantia at Groot
Constantia Estate, Groot Constantia, are occupied free of charge by Iziko.
The buildings were inspected and the market value of the rentals have been fairly assessed at R52,685,671
(2018: R52,737,048). These amounts have been recognised as income and expenditure in the Statement of
Financial Performance.
During the prior year, R 4,247,139 was paid on behalf of the entity by the Department of Arts and Culture, directly
to the DPW in respect of lease costs and municipal service charges incurred on the buildings occupied by the
entity. During the current year payments for these costs were made directly to the service providers using the
grants by the DAC, as disclosed above.

Castle of Good Hope
The Iziko William Fehr Collection is housed at the Castle of Good Hope, and there is an agreement that Iziko will
receive one third (1/3) of the admission fees.

2019

2018

R

R

Opening Balance

1,367,754

-

Admission fees

1,438,081

1,367,754

2,805,835

1,367,754

-

1,360

Balance due to Iziko at year-end

Receipt of venue hire expenses recovered

Management and Council
The two major classes of Management are Iziko’s Senior Management, and its Council.
Iziko’s Senior Management consists of those persons responsible for planning, directing and controlling the
activities of the entity, and Iziko’s Council is charged with the governance of the entity, in accordance with
legislation. The remuneration of Management, as required by the PFMA, is disclosed in note 17.
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19. Other Employee Benefits
Pension Fund

Iziko operates pension funds that provide benefits on both defined benefit and defined contribution plans for all
indefinite employees. The Alexander Forbes Retirement Fund (an umbrella fund now incorporating the Iziko Retirement
Fund) and Museums Pension Fund are administered on behalf of Iziko by pension fund administrators, and are
governed by the Pension Funds Act (Act No 24 of 1956), as amended, while the Associated Institutions Pension
Fund Act (Act No 41 of 1963) governs the Associated Institutions.

Pension Fund
An independent Board of Trustees manages each fund.
The Museums Pension Fund is a multi-employer plan. The assets of the Museums Pension Fund, which is a defined
benefit plan fund, represented a funding position of 100%, and Iziko’s updated liability as at 1 April 2018 was nil.
The rules of the Museums Pension Fund were amended to include a defined contribution category, and states that
no new members are allowed to join the defined benefit category with effect from 1 April 2003. All new employees
appointed with effect from 1 April 2003 are required to join the defined contribution category, while the existing
participating employees have remained members of the defined benefit category of the Museums Pension Fund
at the existing contribution rate.

Contribution Rates
The following rates of contribution are applied:

Alexander Forbes Retirement Fund
Defined contribution category: Employee contribution is 7.5% of pensionable salary (basic salary plus annual bonus)
and the employer contributes 20.62%. In respect of all new employees appointed with effect from 1 July 2007
who join the Alexander Forbes Retirement Fund, the employer contributes 15%, while the contribution for
existing participating employees remains the same.

Museums Pension Fund
Defined benefit category: Employee contribution is 7.5% of pensionable salary (basic salary plus annual bonus)
and the employer contributes 20%. The employer contribution rates can fluctuate as a result of changes to the
insured benefit rate.
Defined contribution category: Employee contribution is 7.5% of pensionable salary (basic salary plus annual bonus)
and the employer contributes 15%.

Associated Institutions Pension Fund
Defined benefit category: Employee contribution is 7.5% of pensionable salary (basic salary only) and the employer
contributes 12%.

20. Statement of Comparison of Budget and Actual Amounts
Differences between the budget and actual amounts basis of preparation and presentation.
The amounts in the financial statements have been reclassified by functional classification to align them with
the basis on which the budget was prepared.

Explanation of material differences between budget and actual amounts
i. Own income is higher than anticipated mainly due to higher than expected interest income as well as an
increase in the post-retirements actuarial gain.
ii. Income from donations is higher than the budget due to heritage asset donations as well as higher cash 		
donations.
iii. Fundraising income represents income realised from funding received for specific projects from donors. 		
Expenditure on certain of these projects was lower than anticipated and will continue into the next year.
The funding for these projects have been deferred and will be applied as spending is incurred.
iv. Expenditure on compensation of employees is lower than expected due to vacancies that arose during the
realignment process, which are expected to be filled in the next financial year.
v. Expenditure on goods and services is higher than expected due to increased spending in operational
expenditure such as information technology and security, but also due to unexpected expenditure related
to the scrapping of the SAS Somerset shipping vessel incurred during the year under review.
vi. Savings were made on Museum core function activities due to delays in the implementation of certain 		
projects which resulted in lower than anticipated expenditure. The funding for these projects have been 		
deferred and will be applied as spending is incurred.

21. Contingent Liabilities

21.1 Post-retirement Medical Benefits
Five (5) staff members who joined the institution before 1 October 2004 qualify for the post-retirement medical
aid benefits, but have not yet elected to utilise this benefit. The estimated contingent liability is R4,004,849
(2018: R4,084,295).

21.2 Retention of Cash Surplus
In terms of Section 53(3) of the PFMA, public entities are required to obtain prior written approval from National
Treasury in order to retain cash surpluses that were realised in the current financial year. Based on a formula
prescribed by National Treasury, Iziko has calculated that in the current year a cash surplus amounting to
R74,603,145 has arisen. A written application for the above-mentioned amount to be retained, will be made to
National Treasury on or before the stipulated due date.

22. Capital Commitments
At the financial performance date Iziko had contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and
equipment as follows:

2019

2018

R

R

9,563

18,301

Equipment

838,902

1,568,961

Computers

1,267,769

-

-

28,023

2,116,234

1,615,285

Furniture

Intangible Assets
Total
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23. Prior Period Adjustments
23.1 Correction of Errors

Heritage assets amounting to, previously believed to be un-accessioned items, as well as certain items on loan
were not valued in the year before the prior year, which resulted in the revaluation reserve and the heritage
asset amounts being understated. It was also found that heritage assets in the Art Collection were duplicated in
the heritage asset register, which resulted in an overstatement of the heritage assets values and the Revaluation
Reserve. The effect of these misstatements was a net understatement of heritage assets and the Revaluation
Reserve in the amount of R54,130,203.
Expenses related to a project in the amount of R10,500 were incorrectly invoiced to a debtor which resulted in
operating expenses and accounts receivable having been overstated in the prior year.
It was found that an incorrect accrual amount of R79,461 for municipal service expenses was raised in the prior year,
which resulted in operating expenses and accounts payable having been overstated. It was also found that an
accrual of R4,893 related to entertainment expenses for an event was not raised in the prior year, which resulted
in operating expenses and accounts payable having been understated. An incorrect accrual related to overtime
costs of R4,486, resulted in personnel expenses and accounts payable having been overstated by R4,487. In
the year before a prior year an accrual was raised twice for an exhibitions expense, which resulted in retained
earnings and accounts payable having been overstated by R4,107 in the prior year. Catalogue sales of R14,850, due
to a third party had been incorrectly classified as Iziko’s income, which resulted in other income being overstated
and accounts payable being understated in the prior year. The effect of the misstatement has resulted in the
accounts payable having been overstated by a net amount of R68,311.
In the prior year income related to service in kind as well as the corresponding lease expense was recognised at an
amount of R5,149,355, which has been assessed as too low. The Service in Kind as well as other operating expense
account was therefore understated by R47,313,988 .
It was discovered that interest accrued was incorrectly classified as interest received in the cash flow, which
resulted in the cash flow statement which resulted in the cash receipts from customers and donors being
overstated and interest received having been understated by R1,405,310 in the previous financial year

23.2 Reclassification
Travel claims for the prior year amounting to R16,036 have been reclassified and grouped with subsistence and
travel expenditure under operating expenses instead of Personnel costs.
Certain expenditure amounting to R27,523 and previously classified as administrative, have been reassessed as
other operating expenditure and have been regrouped accordingly.
Presented below are those items contained in the statement of financial position, statement of financial
performance and cash flow statement that have been affected by the prior-year adjustment and reclassification.

2018
R
As previously
reported

Reclassification/
Corrections

Restated

Statement of Financial Position
Heritage assets
Trade and other receivables from exchange transactions		

2,453,775,685

54,130,203

2,507,905,888

8,946,882

(10,500)

8,936,382

12,666,446

(68,311)

12,598,135

2,447,548,306

54,130,202

2,501,678,508

32,103,736

53,702

32,157,438

-

-

-

Service in Kind – Property Leases

5,149,355

47,313,988

52,463,343

Other income

1,709,350

(14,850)

1,694,500

65,162,236

(20,522)

65,141,714

11,243,227

(27,523)

11,215,704

27,670,250

47,293,479

74,963,729

Trade and other payables from exchange transactions
Heritage Asset Valuation Reserve
Surplus/(Deficit)
Statement of Financial Performance

Personnel
Administrative
Other operating expenses
Statement of Changes in Net Assets

-

-

-

16,339,966

4,107

16,344,073

-

-

-

Cash receipts from customers and donors

132,883,716

1,405,310

134,289,026

Interest received

8,598,685

(1,405,309)

7,193,375.60

Retained Earnings/Accumulated Loss
Cash Flow Statement

24. Changes in Accounting Estimates
The annual review of the useful lives of assets resulted in a decrease in the depreciation charge of R 47,053
(2018: R107,038) and a decrease in the amortisation charge of R10,886 (2018: R48,267) to the statement of
financial performance. It is impracticable to estimate the effect of these changes on future periods.

25. Deviations from Internal Procedures
During the financial year, 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019, expenditure amounting to R4,503,035.28 (2018: R919,942)
incurred, represented deviations from Iziko’s internal procedures. These expenditures are deviations from the
Supply Chain Management (SCM) Policy and procedures with regard to procurement of goods and services.
Due to the conditions prevailing at the time, and the nature of the special services required, it would have been
impracticable to follow the prescripts of the SCM regulations and internal policies and procedures. It can be
confirmed that these deviations were not as a result of fraudulent, corrupt or criminal activities or actions that
deprived the state of value for money that may result in the state instituting a civil claim against a third party.
No amounts need be recovered from any official because no one is liable in law, and the amounts remain as a
debit against the relevant programme/expenditure item.
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26. Fruitless and Wasteful Expenditure

Opening balance
Fruitless and wasteful expenditure relating to prior year
Fruitless and wasteful expenditure relating to current year
Less amounts to be recovered from the relevant staff members or service
provider
Less amount condoned by the accounting authority
Balance submitted to accounting authority for condonation

2019

2018

R

R

12,978

12,978

-

-

13,120

507

(13,120)

(507)

-

-

12,978

12,978

During the current year a penalty of R700 was incurred due to the late payment of a traffic fine. The fine was
not received by Iziko on time and only discovered when the Iziko representative investigated the matter. Upon
investigation, it was found that the fine was not received by Iziko and that there was no intentional transgression
by any staff member of relevant laws and regulations. It was out of the control of Management or any individual
due to the conditions and circumstances under which this expenditure was incurred. The amount has been removed
as a debit against the relevant programme/expenditure item and will be recovered from the relevant staff members.
In addition, Iziko incurred expenditure of R12,420 for the removal of a spill boom in the current year, which is
regarded as fruitless and wasteful. A service provider was appointed to place a spill boom in a project related to
the scrapping of a shipping vessel owned by Iziko. The start date of debunkering operations was dependent on
asbestos being removed from the vessel and an asbestos clearance certificate issued noting that it was safe to
access the areas. On the day the asbestos removal was due to be completed, the service provider had already
placed the spill boom as scheduled. However, the boom had to be removed as the asbestos removal was not
completed and the clearance certificate was not issued, which meant that it was not safe to access the vessel.
The fact that the service provider responsible for the asbestos removal did not inform Iziko in time that the vessel
could not be accessed resulted in the additional expenditure required. The amount spent on the removal of the
boom could have been prevented and has resulted in fruitless and wasteful expenditure of R12,420. The amount
has been removed as a debit against the relevant programme/expenditure item and will be recovered from the
relevant service provider.
During the prior year amounts regarded as fruitless and wasteful expenditure, as defined by the Public Finance
Management Act, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999) (PFMA), being expenditure in respect of a prepayment where the
service was not delivered, till shortages and a deduction in respect of pension fund not recovered from a staff
member who has since left Iziko’s employ in prior years amounting to R12,978, which could have been avoided
had sufficient care been taken. Will be submitted for condonation by Council and approval from National
Treasury.
Amounts regarded as fruitless and wasteful expenditure, as defined by the Public Finance Management Act.

27. Irregular Expenditure
2019

2018

R

R

19,970,461

10,340,074

Irregular expenditure relating to prior year

-

-

Irregular expenditure relating to current year

-

9,630,387

Less amount condoned by the Accounting Authority/National Treasury

-

-

19,970,461

19,970,461

Opening Balance

During prior years expenditure amounting to R19,871,956 was incurred in contravention of regulation 14 of the
Preferential Procurement Regulations and paragraph 22 of Treasury Instruction note 3 of 2014 – 15, which require
that public entities must ensure that foreign suppliers are tax compliant at the date of submission and award of
the bids Although all attempts were made to assist the suppliers with obtaining the tax clearance certificates,
suppliers were not able to secure tax clearance certificates due to the fact that they did not have business operations
in South Africa. Notification of compliance was received from the South African Revenue Services (SARS) after
the date of the tender award, and the amounts paid to the suppliers are therefore regarded as irregular expenditure,
as defined.
In addition, during the prior year, irregular expenditure amounting to R98,505 was incurred in contravention of
regulations. In terms of the Preferential Procurement Regulations 2017 8(2), the required SBD 6.2 form which
is a declaration certificate for local production and content for designated sectors was not obtained at the time
of requesting quotes for the purchase of furniture in the amount of R45,551. Furthermore, an award was made
for services in the amount of R52,954 to a service provider that did not score the highest points for B-BBEE, as
required by Preferential Procurement Regulations 10(1).

28. Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999) (PFMA)
Section 55 (2)
No material losses through criminal conduct were incurred during the year Fruitless and wasteful expenditure has
been disclosed in note 25.

Section 53 (3)
The Council may not accumulate surpluses unless prior written approval by the National Treasury has been obtained.
Application was made to the National Treasury, via the Department of Arts and Culture, to be exempted from
investing Iziko’s surplus funds with the Corporation for Public Deposits, as prescribed in Treasury Regulation 31.
In terms of guidelines from the Treasury, the surplus arrears are to be related to accumulated surplus, as per
the Statement of Financial Position at the time of application. Iziko had an accumulated cash surplus, and approval
was therefore sought to retain the cash surplus as at 31 March 2019.

Section 54 (2)
In terms of the PFMA and National Treasury Regulations 2815, the Council has developed and agreed to a framework
of acceptable levels of materiality and significance.

29. Events after Reporting Date
At the time of preparing and submitting the consolidated annual financial statements, there were no subsequent
events to disclose.
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6|A
 PPENDICES
Earthenware vessel, turned body and curved neck, made by Siyabonga Fani, 2018,
acquired with Rowland and Leta Hill Trust funding.
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Nellive Adler, Courtyard Project architect; Thembelani (Thulas) Nxesi, Minister of the Department of
Public Works and Rooksana Omar, CEO Iziko, taking a tour of the newly renovated building known as
the Courtyard Project.

6.1 Facilities Management
6.1.1 Conservation and
Maintenance Plan

The Department of Arts and Culture (DAC) allocated
R9.51m to appoint the services of Consultants to
develop a five-year Conservation and Maintenance
Plan (CMP) for the nine, state-owned heritage
buildings where Iziko manages the maintenance of
the buildings. The project was completed on 31 March
2019 when the Architects completed the following
documents for each building:
• As-built drawings
• Existing Building Condition Report (EBCR)
• Conservation Management Plan (CMP)
• Five-year Conservation and Maintenance Plan
The Architects also submitted for approval the fiveyear CMP for each of the nine buildings to Heritage
Western Cape (HWC), the provincial heritage resources
authority that manages the conservation of heritage
buildings. These documents identify the urgent as
well as long-term maintenance and repairs required to
conserve and preserve the historical fabric of
the buildings.

6.1.2 Capital Projects
The following capital projects are funded by the DAC
and are in the process of being implemented:

6.1.2.1 Courtyard Project
The DAC has provided substantial funding to upgrade
the Iziko South African Museum (ISAM). The existing
four–storied research space is being renovated into a
seven storied facility that will not only house collections
according to international museum standards, the public
will also be able to view collections in storage and
Specimen Preparators at work. The building will also
house office spaces and a conference centre. The project
implementation is managed by the Department of
Public Works (DPW) and the final project completion
date is set for 14 May 2019.

6.1.2.2 Installation of a Fire
Suppression System at the Iziko South
African National Gallery (ISANG)
As Iziko staff must now perform the duties previously
performed by the DPW, the custodians of state-owned
buildings as legislated, Iziko does not have the expertise
to assess specifications developed by Consultants. A
Consultant specialising in the design of fire suppression
systems thus had to be appointed to review the initial
fire suppression design for the Iziko SA National Gallery
(ISANG) and ISANG Annexe. The Consultants concluded
that the initial specification was not complete and that
a detailed integrated fire suppression design must be
commissioned. The services of a certified professional
specialising in fire suppression are being procured.

The Red Springbok emblem on the funnel of the
SAS Somerset. Once a feature on the Naval ships of
the apartheid era South African Navy.

Guest at the opening of Under Cover of Darkness at the Iziko Slave
Lodge. Ramps at all Iziko sites ensure wheelchair access.

6.1.2.3 Maintenance of Iziko Museums

• DST-NRF Centre of Excellence in Palaeosciences –
Operational Support for Research
• HCI Foundation – Internship/co-operative education
programme
• HCI Foundation – Funding for the in_herit Festival
Programme 2018
• Lidderdale Trust – Funding for Bertram House
• National Research Foundation (NRF) – Various
projects
• The Egyptian Society of South Africa – upgrade of
the Egyptian Gallery
• South African National Biodiversity Institute (SANBI) –
Natural sciences collections facility; Seakeys Project
and Post Doc traveling and running expenses, K. Gopal
• US Ambassador Fund São José Slave ship project –
conservation and environment
• US Consulate – Smithsonian H2O Today exhibition
• University of Witwatersrand COE Research: Paleo
Operational Support: R Smith and R Govender

The DAC allocated funding for the maintenance of
museums so in January 2018 Iziko submitted a request
to Heritage Western Cape (HWC) to issue permits to
paint the façade of some buildings and to repair a ceiling
that had collapsed in the Iziko Old Town House. HWC
later advised that a Built Fabric analysis was required
so the services of an Architect was procured to provide
the analysis which reduced the maintenance funding
by R176,000. Even though permit approvals were received
on 30 January 2019, HWC has stipulated additional
conditions in the permit which requires the procurement
of an Architect with heritage expertise to monitor the
work before implementation can commence.

6.2 Donors
Iziko gratefully acknowledges the generous contributions
over the past year of various donors who have assisted
to supplement our subsidy from the Department of Arts
and Culture (DAC), thereby making key exhibitions,
educational programmes, research and training possible.
Donor income banked totalled R7,870,064,35 this is an
increase of 16% or R 1,103,075.90 compared to the
total annual income 2017/18 of R6,766,988.45.
• Abe Bailey Trust, artwork conservation
• Culture, Arts, Tourism, Hospitality and Sport Sector
Education and Training Authority (CATHSSETA) –
Graduate Internship Programme
• DAC – Funding for facilities management
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Ms Rooksana Omar, CEO: Iziko Museums at the in_herit Festival
media launch in the Iziko Planetarium and Digital Dome.

6.3 Partners
During 2018/19, 67 long-term partners3 continued to
contribute in diverse ways to the successful delivery
of our strategic objectives. It is noted that although
not all these relationships have been formalised via
MOUs they are acknowledged herein as an ongoing
relationship that supported Iziko’s ongoing productivity
and delivery in 2018/19.
These include:
• Ambassade van het Koninkrijk der Nederland
in Zuid-Afrika/ Embassy of the Kingdom of the
Netherlands
• Andrew W. Mellon Foundation
• Art Africa Magazine
• British Council | South Africa
• British Museum: International Training Programme
• Brown University: Centre for the Study of Slavery
and Justice
• Cape Peninsula University of Technology (CPUT)
• Cape Town Festival
• Cape Town Partnership
• Cape Town Tourism
• Castle Control Board
• Ceramics Southern Africa Western Cape
• City of Cape Town
• Consulado-General do Brasil na Cidade do Cabo
Endereҫ o/ Consulate General of Brazil in Cape Town

1.

• Consulat général de France au Cap/French Consulate
General in Cape Town1
• Culture, Arts, Tourism, Hospitality and Sport Sector
Education and Training Authority (CATHSSETA)
• Department of Public Works (DPW)
• Department of Science and Technology (DST)
• DST-NRF Centre of Excellence in Palaeosciences
• Freedom Park
• Friends of the Iziko Michaelis Collection
• Friends of the Iziko South African Museum
• Friends of the Iziko South African National Gallery
• GeoGenetics Centre, University of Copenhagen
• George Washington University
• Global Biodiversity Information Facility (GBIF)
• Global Curatorial Project on Slavery
• Golden Arrow Bus Services
• Groot Constantia Trust
• HCI Foundation
• Human Evolution Research Institute (HERI)
• Institute for Creative Arts (ICA)
• International Committee of Museums (ICOM)
• Inyathelo: The South African Institute for
Advancement
• Lidderdale Trust Fund
• Michaelis School of Fine Art, University of Cape Town
• National Heritage Council of South Africa (NHC)
• National Library of South Africa

The term ‘long-term partner’ is used by Iziko to denote relationships that add value and enable Iziko’s productivity and
delivery over a period of more than one year, and are not linked to a single project but multiple initiatives. Although some
of these partners may also be acknowledged donors during the reporting as they provided banked donor income to the
institution, they also continued to act as ongoing supporters and enablers.

Partnership with The Thursdays Projects, created greater access for
new audiences through events such as Museum Night.

From LTR: Olivier Buchbinder, Attache for Cooperation and Cultural
Affairs; Rooksana Omar, CEO: Iziko; Jean Naude, CEO Groot
Constantia Trust; Laurent Amar, Consul General of France in Cape
Town; Dr Bongani Ndhlovu, Executive Director: Core Functions, Iziko.

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Project Partnerships 2017/18

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

National Lotteries Commission (NLC)
National Research Foundation (NRF)
Nature’s Best Photography Africa
Palaeontological and Scientific Trust
Peninsula Beverages
Rhodes University (RU)
Robben Island Museum
Slave Wrecks Project
Smithsonian Institution – National Museum of
African American History and Culture (NMAAHC)
South African Astronomical Observatory (SAAO)
South African Heritage Resources Agency (SAHRA)
South African Institute of Aquatic Biodiversity (SAIAB)
South African National Biodiversity Institute (SANBI)
Standard Bank of South Africa Limited
Stanford University
The Abe Bailey Trust
The Rowland and Leta Hill Trust
Thursdays Projects
University of Cape Town (UCT)
University of Stellenbosch (SUN)
University of the Western Cape (UWC)
University of the Witwatersrand (WIts)
US Consulate General in Cape Town
US Embassy in South Africa
West Coast Fossil Park Trust
Western Cape Government; Cultural Affairs & Sport
(DCAS)
Western Cape Government; Education Department
(WCED)

During 2018/19, a number of strategic partnerships
were forged in support of specific exhibitions, education
and research projects. A total of 16 project partnerships
were formalised via MOA/MOU. In addition, a further
49 partnerships were forged in support of the projects
and initiatives of our Education department.
The following project partners supported various Iziko
projects and programmes:
• HCI Foundation: An education partnership with the
HCI Foundation providing assistance with the hiring
of buses to transport rural communities to Iziko
museums during the new financial year.
• Africa Arts Group NPC: A collaborate partnership
with Africa Arts Group NPC on Africa Day through
a gala event to pay tribute to Nelson Mandela. The
evening promotes the cultural and historic bonds
between the Western Cape and Africa, celebrating
African unity through the diverse musical traditions
of our continent.
• Groot Constantia Trust: A partnership in support of
Iziko hospitality through provision of wine for the
Iziko Planetarium and Digital Dome opening at the
Iziko South African Museum (ISAM), on 26 May 2017.
• Western Cape Education Department (WCED): An
Education partnership with the WCED to showcase
learners’ work. The works were selected from 96
artworks from the Foundation Phase, Intermediate
Phase, and Senior Phase in the Western Cape.
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Visitors to the Iziko Slave Lodge, in the Still figuring what it means to be a man
exhibition hall on the International Museum Day.

• Standard Bank of South Africa Limited: An annual
exhibition partnership with Standard Bank to
present exhibitions by Standard Bank Young Artist
Award winners. Igshaan Adams: When Dust Settles.
• HCI Foundation: Iziko’s Advancement department
negotiated a partnership linked to the Iziko in_herit
Festival, to assist with the provision of buses for
seven community groups.
• Peoples Post: Iziko’s Advancement department
negotiated a media partnership linked to the Iziko
in_herit Festival Programme 2018 that provided
significant coverage on this promotional campaign.
• Thursdays Projects: A collaborate partnership with
Thursdays Projects to stage the Museum Night in and
around the V&A Waterfront in Cape Town during June
and October 2018. Iziko is a founding partner in this
initiative.
• Thursdays Projects: A collaborate partnership with
thursdays Projects that started in 2015, to stage
an annual Museum Night in Cape Town. As an extension
of this successful project, the concept of Thursday
Late has been developed and was piloted twice in 2016
with great success. This initiative serves to further
develop younger and diverse audiences, contributing
to audience development, and to compliment this
annual event with quarterly activation, specifically
at the ISANG. Thursday Late entails the ISANG being
open late, with free entrance and a supporting programme
of walkabouts, performance and music.

• Nature’s Best Photography Africa: An exhibition
partnership to present Nature’s Best Photography
2018, an exhibition of photographs presented at the
ISAM, from 8 November 2017 to 4 March 2018.
• Groot Constantia: A partnership in support of Iziko
hospitality through provision of wine for the opening
of the El Anatsui exhibition at the ISANG, on 28
February 2018.
• Groot Constantia: A partnership in support of Iziko
hospitality through provision of wine for the opening
of, interseXion at the ISANG, on 15 March 2018.
• Tommaso Fiscaletti and Nic Grobler: An exhibition
partnership to showcase, Hemelliggaam or The
Attempt To Be Here Now, an exhibition of printed
photographs and videos linked to the National
Research Foundation’s History of Astronomy
Roadmap. The focus of the project is on
communities, landscape, astronomical sites and
objects within the Western and Northern Cape,
where there is a special connection with the sky.
• 1000 Women Trust: An exhibition partnership to
showcase, Enough is Enough! aims to create awareness
of the escalation and seriousness of gender-based
and sexual violence against women – and the girl
child in particular. Enough is Enough! zooms in on
the individual stories of women and their personal
experiences with abuse through the “1000 Women,
1 Voice” campaign. It invites people to engage with
some of the people behind these statistics.

Guests at the opening event of the exhibition: Effendis of 71 Wale
Street, at the Iziko Bo-Kaap Museum.

Visual Artist, Thabo Pitso (Pretoria) formed part of the group show:
Still Life, a moment in Captured or Preserved? showcased at the Iziko
South African National Gallery Annexe.

.
• Antonia Porter: An exhibition partnership to showcase,
Still figuring Out What It Means To Be a Man – a multimedia exhibition that arose against a backdrop
of increasing gender-based and sexual violence
perpetrated by men in South African society, that
has prompted a growing focus on masculinity.
Taking an empathetic view of individual men, but a
critical one of the oppressive system of patriarchy,
this project considers various aspects of manhood
and masculinity in today’s South Africa.
• The Sex Workers Education and Advocavy Taskforce:
An exhibition partnership to showcase I Am What
I Am, Places, Faces, and Spaces. This exhibition 		
enters into conversation on the legalisation of
sex workers; the history of the Slave Lodge as an
unofficial “slave brothel”; and an insertion of 		
outcasts and marginalised bodies into spaces of
institutional memory.
In addition to the strategic partnerships noted above,
our Education department and Planetarium and Digital
Dome benefit from the following, often ongoing
relationships that enhance our sustained del
ivery in this high priority focus area:
• !Khwattu: A Khoisan community promoting social
history awareness.
• Bonteheuwel Police Forum programmes on social
justice and youth voices.
• Cape Argus: Jellybean Journal, promoting astronomy
and advertising our children shows at the Planetarium

• Cape College Tourism: Students from the college are
mentored as part of their work-based learning.
• Cape Peninsula University of Technology (CPUT):
Students from the University are mentored as
interns, while also assisting with public events. Also
a Planetarium Digital Upgrade partner.
• Cape Town Festival: Collaborative Human Rights Day
programme showcasing different forms of art and
culture.
• Cape Youth Desk: Partnership for youth programmes.
• Centre for Conservation: An education institution
supporting museum education programmes.
• City of Cape Town offers support to our public
programmes.
• Collegians RFC partner youth development on
historical and cultural diversity.
• Community Chest of the Western Cape offers
support to our public programmes.
• Department of Basic Education offers support on
curriculum matters, programmes and resources.
• Department of Science & Technology interacts with
the Education department in terms of science and
technology programmes. Also a Planetarium Digital
Upgrade partner.
• Design Academy of Fashion: Partnership programme
for first year design students.
• Desmond Tutu HIV Foundation: Collaborative HIV
Awareness programme delivered on International
HIV/AIDS Day.
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Anupam Sah. Head of Art Conservation, Research, and Training, CSMVS Museum
Art Conservation Centre, Mumbai, India, facilitator of the Specialist Conservation
week July 2018, with students including UCT CCA Honours in Curatorship and
Iziko Museums.

• Elizabeth Galloway Academy of Fashion Design:
Sponsorship for social history education design
programmes.
• False Bay College Tourism: Students from the college
are mentored as part of their work-based learning.
• Friendship Force Seminary group from England:
Partner in religious research and learning of the
introduction of Christianity in South Africa.
• Golden Arrow Bus Services transports schools to our
museums as part of the HCI Community Transport
Programme.
• Institute for Creative Arts (ICA): Offers arts and culture
programmes at the Museum.
• Groot Constantia Estate: Partnership in programmes
for farm workers and children from the farm.
• HCI Foundation supports our education transport
project through their Community Transport
Support Programme.
• Institute for Justice and Reconciliation (IJR): Partner
with programmes around social justice and social
cohesion.
• Indonesian and Malay Cultural Forum: Partnership
for research and educational programmes.
• Infecting The City offers arts and culture public
programmes at our museums.
• Lotus River Community association partnership for
youth programmes on social justice.
Madrassa Tul Madina: Partnership for youth and
adult programmes.

• Maitland Library circuit partner on variety of
programmes at libraries and museums for adults and
children, concentrating on diaspora.
• Mary Harding – working with learners with special
needs in the field of art and natural history.
• Meaningful Access Project (MAP): Art making
project, with a focus on people with special needs.
• National Research Foundation (NRF): Partner in the
Planetarium Digital Upgrade project.
• Naval Hill Planetarium: Drawing on their expertise
and consulting regarding show production.
• Northlink College Tourism: Students from the college
are mentored as part of their work-based learning.
• SAICOM Foundation: Partnership for programmes
on social cohesion.
• Shikaya: Social justice and human rights history projects.
• South African Astronomical Observatory (SAAO):
Expertise offered to the Planetarium.
• South African National Biodiversity Institute (SANBI):
Support offered to our natural history programmes.
• St Mary’s Primary: After-school art club for learners,
held at the Annexe.
• Tiervlei Arts: Partner for all learning programmes,
including art.
• University of Cape Town (UCT): Partner in the
Planetarium Digital Upgrade project.
• University of Stellenbosch (US): Part of Planetarium
conceptual plan regarding research and development
plan for Planetarium.

Young Iziko volunteer assisting visitors making art during the
in_herit Festival, on Heritage Day.

Artist Richard, Mudariki, speaking with the Honours in Curatorship
students about his materials and techniques, including a discussion
of his work which was recently acquired for Iziko.

• University of the Western Cape (UWC): Collaborative
public programmes conducted, and a partner in the
Planetarium Digital Upgrade project.
• UWC student representative council and other political
student bodies partnered for social justice and social
cohesion.
• Wildlife and Environment Society of South Africa
(WESSA): Collaborative environment education
programmes conducted.
• Western Cape Education Department exhibition in
the Annexe.
• Western Cape Government; Cultural Affairs & Sport:
Collaborative arts and culture programmes presented.
• Western Cape Government; Education Department:
Collaborative education programmes presented.
• Western Cape Museum Educators Forum: Community
of museum educators, where museum education
programmes are presented.

Friends of the Iziko South African National
Gallery

Friends Organisations
Iziko’s three Friends organisations add value through
their public programmes, financial support and their
enthusiasm for specific museums and collections.

2018 saw the Friends of the Iziko South African National
Gallery celebrating the milestone 50th anniversary. As
such it was a time for reflection and redirection to the
next years on the Friends’ mission of support for the
Iziko SA National Gallery, in acquisitions, conservation
and education.
The key celebration was the exhibition Friends’ 50,
in collaboration with the Iziko SANG, celebrating
the acquisition over these decades of more than 300
artworks for the national collection, through the Friends
full and partial financial support. Highlights include
very early prints by William Kentridge, that point to
themes he would go on to develop in his mature works,
Mary Sibande’s The Reign and crowd-favourite
E-Munkishi by Maurice Mbikayi.
The exhibition also featured the Friends growing area of
support in art conservation. Many art media, such as
paper, are inherently fragile. Friends’ 50 was an opportunity
to fund the permanent framing of 20 Cecil Skotnes
prints from the Assassination of Shaka portfolio and 19
frames that can be reused. The amount, recorded in
the Friends’ Annual Report 2018/19 under “Works of
Art acquired or conserved”, totals just under R72,000.
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Judge Albie Sachs, delivering the key note address as the opening of the
exhibition: Unshackled History - the wreck of the slave ship São José 1794.

The Friends were also pleased to participate in enabling
El Anatsui’s exhibition Meyina, the artist’s first solo
show in South Africa. The Friends were equal partners
with the Goodman Gallery and Iziko SA Museums,
contributing R40,000 towards bringing Bisi Silva to
Cape Town. Silva, a longtime collaborator of El Anatsui,
was the curator of the exhibition, and an important
Africa-based curator in her own right. Sadly Bisi passed
away in February 2019. The Friends are grateful for
the opportunity to have worked with such an
inspiring talent.
Successes were achieved in broadening the third
prong of the Friends’ mission, education. Organised
by the Friends’ and supported by a private donor and
long-time member, funding was arranged for teacher
training and school visits on the occasion of the
exhibition Print Promises. A children’s print workshop
was run in collaboration with David Krut Projects.
Today, on the (revamped) Friends’ wall in the National
Gallery foyer, one can find family-friendly activity
sheets, focusing on creativity, fun and play, to help
develop our young friends’ visual intelligence
and curiosity.
Plans to modernise were reported on in Iziko’s last
annual report, and the Friends’ website and Instagram
page launched in 2018. Together with the Friends’ Facebook
presence and What’s On emails, we communicate actively
and regularly with existing members and succeed in

reaching new generations of art lovers. In 2019 the
Friends’ goal is to enhance governance.
Trust in our nation’s leaders and all institutions should
be taken seriously by everyone, therefore we ensure
that our process is transparent and based on best practice.
At the same time, relationships must be maintained
and bureaucratic burdens diminished, where possible.
The challenge is worthwhile in order to continue the
support of the work of the National Gallery in collecting
and making art more accessible and relevant to a
wider audience.

Friends of the Iziko South African Museum
The Friends of the Iziko South African Museum is a
non-profit organisation supported by a committee
of eight members: Rosemary Smythe, Munro Bloch,
Medeé Rall, Kathy Jay, Brian Davey, Dr CP Van der
Merwe, Maxine Davies and Charlotte Honiball who
are committed to promoting the Iziko South African
Museum (ISAM), especially the research and work of
its world-rated scientists. This is achieved through
a programme of monthly lectures, field trips and
day outings, reflecting the culture of the Iziko South
African Museum.
The Friends of the Iziko South African Museum is open
to people of all ages who are interested in learning
and exploring the natural and social history of our
country. Membership currently stands at approximately
350 people.

Learners participating in the Marine Week art activity in
the Whale Well at ISAM.

Heritage Day visitors to ISANG, discovering
the Friends’ 50 exhibition.

With the use of social media, we have been able to reach
a wider and more diverse audience for our lectures
and activities. These included a walking tour of the Bo Kaap
with a visit to the Bo Kaap museum and a mosque, a
tour of the Freemason Lodge, visits to Arderne Gardens,
Stellenbosch University Garden and Kirstenbosch nursery
and greenhouses, a walkabout of the Tata Madiba exhibition
with the curator, tour of Elsenburg College of Agriculture,
tour of the Green Point stadium and visits to many other
places of interest.

Friends of the Iziko Michaelis Collection

The Friends field trips took us to Beaufort West for
the annual fossil trip with Prof Roger Smith, Mossel
Bay, Wilderness and Sedgefield for a marine geological
trip, Villiersdorp renosterveld region to see fynbos
and the annual Robben Island geological tour with
Dr John Rogers, accommodation in the Medium
Security Prison.

While the Iziko Old Town House has now remained
closed for renovation and repair for three-and-a-half
calendar years since December 2015, the Friends of
the Michaelis Collection has unfortunately been unable
to continue their activities in support of the building
and the Collection. The Friends have however committed
a substantial contribution of R150,000 from their
reserves towards the acquisition of Gwelo Goodman’s
painting The Old Town House, Greenmarket Square
(1918) (Oil on canvas) which was purchased at auction
for R546,240 at auction on 18 March 2019. Additional
funds were made available for this purchase from
the Rowland and Leta Hill Trust. The Goodman painting
is the first substantial purchase of a painting for the
Michaelis Collection since 1982, and will be formally
accessioned into the Collection in May 2019.

The monthly lecture programme continues with
interesting talks by specialists and experts in different
fields, such as astronomers, botanists, palaeontologists,
entomologists, historians and zoologists, and always
attracts large audiences. Attendance of these lectures
continues to increase each month.
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Iziko Art educator, Yentl Kohler,facilitating an art workshop during Marine Week at ISAM.

6.4 Exhibitions
• Friends’ 50, Friends of Iziko South African National
Gallery, ISANG, 19 April 2018 to 3 November 2019.
• After Life, by artist Kali van der Merwe, ISAM,
12 May 2018 to 15 October 2018.
• Print Promises, curated by Andrea Lewis, ISANG,
17 May 208 to 30 September 2018.
• Matts Leiderstam’s ‘The Power and Pleasure of
Breeding’ (Interrogating Abraham Cooper’s The Day
Family in the Sir Abe Bailey Collection), curated by
Hayden Proud, ISANG, 14 June 2018 – ongoing.
• Tata Madiba – Father of our Democracy; Father of
our Nation, ISAM, 18 July 2018 - ongoing.
• Under the Cover of Darkness, in partnership with
Centre for Curating the Archive, University of Cape
Town – Josie Grindrod and Carine Zaayman, ISL,
26 September 2018 – ongoing.
• Not the Usual Suspects, curated by Ingrid Masondo,
ISANG, 4 October 2018 to 5 May 2019.
• When Dust Settles, by artist Igshaan Adams,
Standard Bank Young Artist 2018, in partnership
with Standard Bank, ISANG, 19 October 2018 to
27 January 2018.
• Objects Ecologies, in partnership with Centre for
Curating the Archive at the University of Cape Town –
Pippa Skotnes and Fritha Langerman, ISAM,
3 November 2018 to 31 July 2019.
• STILL LIFE and LIFE DRAWINGS: A Moment Captured
or Preserved?, in partnership with Comcap
Commerciale Unternehmensberatungs GmbH, ISANG
Annexe, 23 November 2018 to 07 December 2018.

• Inter-RESTING Times, curated by Annelize Kotze,
Iziko at the Castle of Good Hope, 25 November
2018 to 6 January 2019.
• H20 Today, in partnership with the U.S. Consulate
Cape Town and Ulambile Consulting (Pty) Ltd, ISAM,
28 November 2018 – 31 July 2019.
• Kemet: Life in Ancient Egypt, an Augmented Reality
game developed in partnership with Friends of
Design: Academy of Digital Arts, and exhibition
upgrade by Esther Esmyol and Amy Sephton with
content advisor Dr Jessica Nitschke, ISL,
2 December 2018 – ongoing.
• Nature’s Best Photography Africa, in partnership
with Nature’s Best Photography Africa, ISAM,
5 December 2018 to 3 March 2019.
• Unshackled History: The Wreck of the Slave Ship,
São José, 1794, curated by Jaco Boshoff in partnership
with the Smithsonian National Museum of African
American History and Culture (NMAAHC), ISL,
11 December 2018 – ongoing.
• Filling in the Gaps, curated by Andrea Lewis, ISANG,
16 February 2019 to 6 October 2019.
• Wine of Exile, The Wine of Napoleon on St. Helena,
in partnership with the French Consulate in Cape
Town 22 February 2019 to 21 June 2019.
• The Effendis of 71 Wale Street Bo-Kaap, in partnership
with Turkish researcher Halim Gencoglu 30 March
2019 – ongoing.
• Tribute, curated by Y Kohler and P Coleman,
13 March 2019 – December 2019.

Guests at the opening of the Exhibition: Not the Usual Suspects
at ISANG.

Bevil Spence, leading a drumming activity in the Rock art gallery on
Heritage Day.

Travelling Exhibitions

• Ofentse Letebele, Conference: International Symposium
on Electronic Arts (ISEA), 23 June – 30 June 2018.
• Claire Browning, Lecture to the Friends of the South
African Museum on current research project in the
Cedarberg “440 Million years ago in the Cedarberg:
fossils, extinctions and climatic shifts”, 27 June 2018.
• Theo Ferreira, Lecture, International Planetarium
social biennale, 01 – 06 July 2018.
• Claire Browning, Lecture, at the PSSA (Palaeontological
Society of South Africa) Conference 2018, “Detailed
sedimentology of the Soom Lagerstatte”, 5 July 2018.
• Claire Browning, Careers workshop for scholars on
working with fossils, 9 July 2018.
• Lungile Gadezweni and Laetitia Swanepoel, Refresher
session on copyright law, Iziko, 18 July 2018.
• Laetitia Swanepoel, Materialising Slavery and
Transforming Museum Practice, Iziko, 23, 25, 26 July 2018.
• Shanaaz Galant, Lecture “Enslaved Knowledges:
Expanding the History of Slavery at the Cape
through the Global Curatorial Project” presented as
part of the Materialising Slavery and Transforming
Museum Practice workshop organised in partnership
with the Smithsonian National Museum of African
American History and Culture, 23 – 26 July 2018.
• Jaco Boshoff, Workshop on the São José Conservation
as part of the Materialising Slavery and Transforming
Museum Practice workshop , 23 – 26 July 2018.
• Esther Esmyol, Seminar Rethinking the William Fehr
Collection, part of Materialising Slavery and Transforming
Museum Practice workshop, 23 July 2018.

• Uniqueness and Convergence, curated by Dr. Wendy
Black, special exhibition of BRICS Alliance of Art
Museums and Galleries, National Art Museum of
China (NAMOC), Beijing, 10 April – 23 April 2019.

6.5 Workshops and
Conferences
• Hayden Proud, Lecture: The Westminster and
Thornham Parva Retables, Honours in Curatorship/
UCT, 5 April 2018.
• Ernestine White, Lecture, to Bildmuseet Museum in
Umea Sweden to reignite the partnership between the
National Gallery and Bildmuseet, University of Umea,
9 – 16 April 2018.
• Jaco Boshoff, Lecture, Wreck of the São José,
Clifton Bungalow Owners Association, 16 April 2018.
• Jaco Boshoff, Lecture: Wreck of the São José,
Mountain Club SA, 4 May 2018.
• Jaco Boshoff, Lecture: Wreck of the São José,
Camp’s Bay Rate Payers Association, 7 May 2018.
• Romala Govender, Lecture to the UCT Department
of Biological Sciences Honours students on
Langebaanweg, Mio-Pliocene marine mammals from
South Africa’s west coast, 15 May 2018.
• Jaco Boshoff, Lecture: Wreck of the São José, Simon
Van Der Stel Foundation, 9 June 2018.
• Jaco Boshoff, Lecture: Wreck of the São José, South
African Archaeological Society, 12 June 2018.
• Simon van Noort, Workshop: Chalcidoidea workshop
in Prague, 22 – 26 June 2018.
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Iziko Council member, Adv. Rod Solomans at the Nature’s Best Photography Africa opening event.

• Nokuthula Nhleko, Conference: International Society of
Hymenopterists conference, Japan, 23 – 27 July 2018.
• Wendy Black, Seminar, Re-presenting Archaeology in
a New, Digital South Africa as part of the Museums,
Memory and Media Symposium, 4 August 2018.
• Wendy Black, Lecture: Migrations, mixing and
misrepresentations: genetics in the service of
archaeology and social justice, Archaeological
Society One Day Lecture Series, Stellenbosch,
26 August, 2018.
• Shanaaz Galant, Lecture: UCT Honours in Curatorship,
People’s stories in relation to museum collections
and exhibitions, July 31 – August 14 2018.
• Lynn Abrahams, Lecture: UCT Honours in Curatorship,
Museum objects and the National Estate, July 31 –
August 14 2018.
• Wendy Black (replaced by Wilhelmina Seconna),
Lecture, UCT Honours in Curatorship, Human remains
in museum collections, July 31 - August 14 2018.
• Dylan Clarke, Lecture: Defining the Spatial location
of objects, UCT, 07 August 2018.
• Romala Govender, Lecture: UCT Department of
Biological Sciences, BIO2011S students on Evolution
of reptiles; archosaur radiation crocodiles and
dinosaurs; evolution of birds; evolution of mammals,
6 – 10 August 2018.
• Charlene Janion-Scheepers, Lecture: The use of
Collembola as bio-indicators, Biodiversity Information
Management Forum, Challenges and progress with
mobilising biodiversity data in the Iziko South African
Museum entomology collection, 13 – 16 August 2018.

• Keshni Gopal, Lecture: Southern African Marine Mammal
database: assessment and review of national museum
collections, with the goal to consolidate existing
specimen data, facilitate access to research collections
and standardise curation, Biodiversity Information
Management Forum, Challenges and progress
with mobilising biodiversity data in the Iziko South
African Museum entomology collection,
13 – 16 August 2018.
• Simon van Noort, Lecture: Biodiversity Information
Management Forum, Challenges and progress
with mobilising biodiversity data in the Iziko South
African Museum entomology collection, 13 – 16 August
2018.
• Esther Esmyol, Lecture: UCT Honours in Curatorship
on Museum objects in historical time, UCT Curatorship
students, Social History Centre, 14 August 2018.
• Thys van der Merwe, Lecture: UCT Honours in
Curatorship, The materiality of objects, 14 – 28
August 2018.
• Claire Browning, Lecture: UCT Honours in Curatorship,
Karoo Palaeontology at Iziko, 14 – 28 August 2018.
• Jaco Boshoff, Lecture: UCT Honours in Curatorship,
Slave shipwrecks – the objects they yield and the
stories they tell, 14 – 28 August 2018.
• Jaco Boshoff, Lecture: UCT Honours in Curatorship,
Slave shipwrecks – the objects they yield and the stories
they tell, 14 – 28 August 2018.
• Thalassa Matthews, Lecture: Defining the spatial
dimensions of objects, UCT, 18 August 2018.

Ovoid shaped English Regency style decanter with restrained
cutting and three neck rings, c. 1810. Iziko Museums of South Africa.
Showcased as part of the exhibition, Wine in Exile: The wine of
Napoleon on St Helena, at Groot Constantia

Ms Bonita Bennett, Director: District Six Museum, delivering the key
note address at the opening of: Under the Cover of Darkness, at the
Iziko Slave Lodge.

• Sally Macfarlane, International Astronomical Union
General Assembly, 20 – 31 August 2018.
Laetitia Swanepoel, Verantwoordelike gebruik van
Sosaile, SAOU, 22 August 2018.
• Albe Bosman, SPNHC and TDWG conference, Dunedin
New Zealand, 25 August 2018.
• Amy Sephton, Workshop: Pilot testing: Create the
best visitor experience possible, Center for Curating
the Archive (CCA) Honours students, 05 September
2018.
• Eugene Bergh, Workshop: Fossil – Evolution, Bloemhof
HMS, 11 September 2018.
• Eugene Bergh, Lecture: UCT Honours in Curatorship,
on museum objects as records of environmental
change, 14 September 2018.
• Eugene Bergh, Lecture: UCT Honours in Curatorship,
on museum objects as records of environmental
change, 14 September 2018.
• All Iziko Educators, CAPS Workshop: Helen Joannides,
17 September 2018.
• Charlene Janion-Scheepers, Lecture: 28th Soilborne
Plant Diseases Symposium, Vredenburg Research
Centre, Stellenbosch, South Africa on the role of
soil biodiversity on human health: a South African
perspective, 19 September 2018.
• Jaco Boshoff, Workshop: “From the Depths” – a
Handheld XRF Spectoscopy Workshop with
Applications for Archaeological and Heritage
Conservation, 26 – 28 September 2018.
• Denise Hamerton, Lecture: UCT Honours in
Curatorship, on ethical concerns in museum
natural history collections, 21 September 2018.

• Wayne Florence, Work: Scanning Electron Microscopy
of Natural History Specimen; It’s the little things that
count, XRF Workshop TH Barry, 27 September 2018.
• Yentle Kohler & Phillipa Coleman, WCED Life skills
Conference, 01 & 02 October 2018.
• Simon van Noort, Lecture: UCT Honours in Curatorship:
Biological classification, 04 October 2018.
• Nokuthula Nhleko, Lecture: UCT Honours in Curatorship:
The genetics of museum objects, 04 October 2018.
• Laetitia Swanepoel & Hayley Hayes-Roberts, Western
Cape Educators Group Workshop, 18 October 2018.
• Wendy Black, Seminar: A brief history of the SA
archaeological record Iziko-OTS Night at the Museum
Day, 18 October 2018.
• Claire Browning, Lecture: UCT Honours in Curatorship,
on the Iziko-OTS Night at the Museum Day on
Palaeonotolgy – A South African Perspective,
18 October 2018.
• Charlene Janion-Scheepers, Lecture: Iziko South
African Museum workshop and sleepover on the
collections and research at the Iziko South African
Museum, 18 October 2018.
• Wayne Florence, Lecture: UCT Honours in Curatorship:
Representivity of Natural History Collections,
18 October 2018.
• Romala Govender, UCT Honours in Curatorship
Lecture: Fossil collections: What are we missing?
UCT, 18 October 2018.
• Eugene Bergh, Fossil – Evolution Workshop:
• Harry Gwala HS, 19 October 2018.
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The People’s Art Project, showcasing an artwork by Mmakgabo Mapula Helen Sebidi,
from the Iziko art collection, on the Orms’ Roeland Street shopfront

• Romala Govender, Seminar: Discussion was around
how my work looks at things like climate change,
Students: The ACCESS Habitable Planet Programme,
24 October 2018.
• Eugene Bergh, Fossil – Evolution Workshop:
Charlie Hofmeyer HS, 24 October 2018.
• Yentle Kohler & Phillipa Coleman, WCED valued
partner awards, 29 November 2018.
• Roger Smith, Lecture: UCT Summer School on the
End-Permian mass extinction: new evidence from
South Africa and Antarctica, 17 January 2019.
• Roger Smith, Lecture: UCT Summer School on the
End-Permian mass extinction: new evidence from
South Africa and Antarctica, 18 January 2019.
• Hayden Proud, Lecture: highlights of the Stephan
Welz auction on 4 February, looking at the work of
the painter L.S Lowry; abstraction in the later work
of Alexis Preller; stained glass conservation and
rural realism in English and French painting of the
period 1850 – 1920, 03 February 2019.
• Hayden Proud, Lecture: on the work of Kevin Atkinson
and tour of late artist’s studio for Grade, 12 students,
Diocesan College (Bishops), 08 February 2019.
• Hayden Proud, Seminar: Zeitz MOCAA public panel
discussion around the ‘Five Bhobh’ publication with
other Zimbabwe-born authors/ contributors,
15 February 2019.
• Andrea Lewis, Lecture: UCT Honours in Curatorship,
on art classification within ISANG, 21 February 2019.

• Charlene Janion-Scheepers, Lecture: 4th Year
Entomology students (Department of Conservation
and Entomology) about the group of insects that are
wingless, the Apterygota, 13 February 2019.
• Eugene Bergh, Workshop: on evolution through
examples from the fossil record for learners from
New Eisleben High School. Exhibition tour of the
Stone Bones and African Dinosaur exhibitions,
28 February 2019.
• Dylan Clarke, Lecture: UCT Honours in Curatorship,
on the spatial location of biodiversity related objects
through space and time, 28 February 2019
• Eugene Bergh, Lecture: UCT Honours in
Curatorship, on how museum objects and specimens,
particularly science specimens at museums, can aid
in understanding environmental change over time
through research, education and exhibitions,
07 March 2019.
• Claire Browning, Lecture: UCT Honours in
Curatorship, on how museum objects and specimens,
particularly science specimens at museums, can aid
in understanding deep time, 07 March 2019.
• Thalassa Matthews, Lecture: ‘Of Mice, Men and
Frogs’ to Friends of ISAM which highlighted past and
present research, 12 March 2019.
• Hayden Proud, Lecture: UCT Honours in Curatorship,
on the notion of authenticity in works of art. Part
of Working with Museum Collections compulsory
course for UCT Students, 14 March 2019.

Art supplies for an education public programme

DJ Cross Colours, a strictly vinyl selector and co-founder of wellknown brand Vinyl Digz established in Cape Town in 2011, shares her
eclectic musical tastes and potent energy during her epic 5-hour set
during Museum Night 2019 at ISANG.

• Wayne Florence, Lecture: ISAM Marine Biodiversity
Collections; 200 years of natural science information
and knowledge as part of the Organisation for Tropical
Studies (OTS) South African Museum Sleepover,
29 March 2019.
• Claire Browning, Workshop: Teach the teacher
workshop organised in conjunction with Iziko
Education. Aided to augment curriculum especially
on subjects of palaeontology, geology and climate
change, 29 March 2019.
• Claire Browning, Seminar: Fossils of the Karoo and
South Africa, the Organisation for Tropical Studies
students, 29 March 2019.
• Hylton Arnolds, 28 December 2018 – 13 January
2019 Trip to the Science museum in UAE and Science
museum in Europe.
• Laetitia Swanepoel attended the SAOU, L/S Panorama,
24 January 2019 - The Identification and Support of
Leaners with Barriers to Learning in the Inclusive
Classroom.
• Philippa Coleman WCED Philippa Coleman attended
the Western Cape Education Department Subject
Committee Meeting at the METRO EAST Education
District, 12 March 2019. The meeting aimed to give
an understanding of the WCED strategic plan going
forward for 2019.
• Najumoeniesa Damon attended a Book Launch,
14 March 2019 on the book by Tuang Guru by Shafiek
Morton.

• Ofentse Letebele, Johannes Stegmaan Art Gallery
Workshop, 28 – 31 March 2019. The project is part of
the University of Vrystaat Art Festivals programme,
for innovation in Artform development.
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Iziko Conservation Team members, Fatima February and Mary Cornelus, deinstalling and preparing
the Eqyptian Gallery for a new exhibition: Kemet.

6.6 Acquisitions (key
purchases/bequests and
donations to collections)
and Loans
Purchases
• Mongezi Ncaphayi (b. 1983, Benoni, South Africa,
works on paper, 2018, Untitles 1, Indian Ink and
Watercolour on Cotton Paper, 140 x 99.5 cm.
• Andries Gouws (born 1952), Durban Bathroom with
Reflection in Mirror (2017), oil on canvas, 300 x 450 mm.
• Alfred Richard Martin (1874 - 1939), Self Portrait
(1919), Oil on panel 74 x 59 cm.
• Kufa Makwavarara (b. 1983), Choir (2015),
Oil on canvas, 89 x 122 cm.
• John Koenakeefe Mohl (1903 – 1985), Serowe, Botswana
(1954), Oil on canvas laid down on board 34 x 44 cm.
• Moses Tladi (1903 – 1959), Farm Cottage, Driefontein,
Johannesburg, (1939), Oil on board, 14 x 18 cm.
• Moses Tladi (1903 – 1959), Mountain Landscape,
(Mont-aux-Sources), Oil on board, 33.5 x 44.5 cm.
• Sally Shorkend (b. 1959) – Winnie Nomzamo Madikizela
Mandela (2003), Framed photograph, 66.7 x 69 cm.
• Brenda Fassie (1992), Unframed Photograph, 71 x 50 cm.
• Lauren Mulligan (b.1984), Visiting Gayle Short film
(16:46 mins).
• Michelle Loukidis (b. 1960s), Selection of 5 images
from the Sudan series (2015 – 6) Unframed Photographs,
67 x 67cm (except Palace of Youth & Children –
100 x 100 cm).

• Blessings Ngobeni (b. 1985), Land Exchange (2018)
Acryllic and Collage on canvas, 233 x 161 cm.
• Zyma Amien, Collective, (2019) Calico, gauze, thread,
button and metal rings, 120 x 500 cm.
• Zyma Amien, The toilers (Series 2) Silk, thread,
dressmakers pins (stainless steel) and Hahnemule
paper, 42,5 X 59 cm (unframed), 1 X 72 cm framed
• Zyma Amien, Thread Monotype on Hahnemule paper,
39 x 53 cm (unframed) 50 x 64 cm.
• Kudzanai Chiurai (b. 1981), Genesis [Je n’isi isi] VII
(2016) Pigment ink on fibre paper, Image: 47.2 x 70.9
inches (work: 56.1 x 60 inches), edition of 10.
• Buhlebezwe Siwani, AmaHubo (2018), Digital 4K
video, three-channel projection with sound, 13 mins
1 sec, edition 1 of 5.
• Sam Nhlengthwa (b.1995), Tribute to Marlene Dumas
(2008), Lithograph on paper (edition of 50),
57 x 76.5 cm (paper size); 67.5 x 86 cm (frame).
• Patrick Bongoy (b. 1980) Graft (2019), Recycled
rubber on board, 268 x 248 mm.
• Rowan Smith (b.1983), Untitled (2013), sculpture,
cane and maple wood veneer, 141 x 112 x 107cm,
Purchase R 41 400.
• Jewellery box, decorated leather, made by Issaw,
Timbuktu, Mali, West Africa, 2008.
• Pair of silver earrings, Tuareg, Timbuktu, Mali, West
Africa, 2008.
• Silver pendant on black beaded chain, Tuareg,
Timbuktu, Mali, West Africa, 2008.

Fabric painting by Igshaan Adams, acquired for the Iziko art
collection on show in the exhibition: Filling in the Gaps.

A child discovering the treasures of the drawers at the AfterLife
exhibition opening.

• Heavy silver pendant on black beaded chain, Tuareg,
Timbuktu, Mali, West Africa, 2008.
• Silver bracelet with black inlay, Tuareg, Timbuktu,
Mali, West Africa, 2008.
• Pair of wooden earrings with mother-of-pearl inlay,
Tuareg, Timbuktu, Mali, West Africa, 2008.
• Bracelet with mother-of-pearl inlay, Tuareg,
Timbuktu, Mali, West Africa, 2008.
• Ceramic Plate, by Ruan Hoffmann with the inscription
‘Trying to Live’, Purchased from Collector David Bellamy.
• Ceramic Plate, by Ruan Hoffmann with the inscription
‘Clinging to the Wreckage’, Purchased from Collector
David Bellamy.
• Ceramic Plate, by Ruan Hoffmann with the inscription
‘You/Me’, Purchased from Collector David Bellamy.
• Vase, yellow and turquoise, Rand Ceramics
Industries, Johannesburg (c. 1920s – 1955).
• Vase, turquoise with ornamental handles, Rand
Ceramics Industries, Johannesburg (c. 1920s – 1955).
• Vase, slip trailed decoration, brown on honey
coloured ground, Hamburger’s Pottery, Grahamstown
(1947 – 1986).
• Vase, slip trailed decoration, white on chestnut ground,
Hamburger’s Pottery, Grahamstown (1947 – 1986).
• Vase, decorative dots on turquoise ground,
Hamburger’s Pottery, Grahamstown (1947 – 1986).
• Vase, decorative dots on yellow ground,
Hamburger’s Pottery, Grahamstown (1947 – 1986).
• Vase, incised decoration on terracotta ground,
Hamburger’s Pottery, Grahamstown (1947 – 1986).

• Vase, yellow glaze with wax resist, Hamburger’s
Pottery, Grahamstown (1947 – 1986).
• Vase, turquoise glaze with wax resist, Hamburger’s
Pottery, Grahamstown (1947 – 1986).
• Plate, plate with slip-trailed & sgraffito decoration,
Hamburger’s Pottery, Grahamstown (1947 – 1986).
• Plate, plate with slip-trailed & sgraffito decoration,
Hamburger’s Pottery, Grahamstown (1947 – 1986).
• Plate, decorated by France Marot, ‘Swazi Princess’
design, Grahamstown Pottery, Drostdy Ware
(1948 – 1965, 1968 – 1985).
• Charger, decorated by France Marot, ‘Zulu Woman’
design, Grahamstown Pottery, Drostdy Ware
(1948 – 1965, 1968 – 1985).
• Charger, decorated by Kay Duncan, ‘Springbok’
design, Grahamstown Pottery, Drostdy Ware
(1948 – 1965, 1968 – 1985).
• Charger, marked STOX, decorated with a pair
of zebra, Grahamstown Pottery, Drostdy Ware
(1948 – 1965, 1968 – 1985)
• Plate, decorated with stylized leaf pattern,
Grahamstown Pottery, Drostdy Ware
(1948 – 1965, 1968 – 1985).
• Charger, decorated by France Marot, ‘Old Dutch
Homestead’ design, Grahamstown Pottery, Drostdy
Ware (1948 – 1965, 1968 – 1985).
• Charger, decorated by France Marot, ‘SA Wild Flowers’
design, Grahamstown Pottery, Drostdy Ware
(1948 – 1965, 1968 – 1985).
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Ms Rooksana Omar, CEO: Iziko, Dr Bongani Ndhlovu, Executive Director Core
Functions and Prof Mamokgethi Phakeng Vice Chancellor, University of Cape
Town at the exhibition opening of Object Ecologies.

• Mug, turquoise glaze, stylized leaf design,
Grahamstown Pottery, Drostdy Ware
(1948 – 1965, 1968 – 1985).
• Mug, light brown glaze, stylized leaf design,
Grahamstown Pottery, Drostdy Ware
(1948 – 1965, 1968 – 1985).
• Vase, incised designs, Crescent Potteries,
Luipaardsvlei, Krugersdorp (1952 – 1992).
• Vase, incised designs, Crescent Potteries,
Luipaardsvlei, Krugersdorp (1952 – 1992).
• Wall plaque, decorated with figures, Crescent
Potteries, Luipaardsvlei, Krugersdorp (1952 – 1992).
• Wall mask, Crescent Potteries, Luipaardsvlei,
Krugersdorp (1952 – 1992).
• Wall mask, Dykor Ceramic Studio, Pretoria
(1952 – 1959).
• Wall plaque, Dykor Ceramic Studio, Pretoria
(1952 – 1959).
• Small Bowl, Dykor Ceramic Studio, Pretoria
(1952 – 1959).
• Wall ornament, rickshaw-shaped, Flora Ann,
Robertsham, Johannesburg (1951 – 1972).
• Vase, shape of a horse head, Flora Ann,
Robertsham, Johannesburg (1951 – 1972).
• Vase, elongated, blue glaze, Flora Ann,
Robertsham, Johannesburg (1951 – 1972).
• Vase, elongated, green glaze, Flora Ann,
Robertsham, Johannesburg (1951 – 1972).
• Vase, elongated, mottled glaze, Flora Ann,
Robertsham, Johannesburg (1951 – 1972).

• Vase, elongated, red glaze, Flora Ann, Robertsham,
Johannesburg (1951 – 1972).
• Rectangular vase, in a form of a tissue box, Flora Ann,
Robertsham, Johannesburg (1951 – 1972).
• Pocket wall vase, Flora Ann, Robertsham,
Johannesburg (1951 – 1972).
• Small jug with handle, green glaze, Flora Ann,
Robertsham, Johannesburg (1951 – 1972).
• Larger jug with handle, blue glaze, Flora Ann,
Robertsham, Johannesburg (1951 – 1972).
• Small jug with handle, Alicia Ware
• Vase, Silwood Ceramics, Johannesburg
(1950 – 1962).
• Vase, Silwood Ceramics, Johannesburg
(1950 – 1962).
• Jug, the Old Jar Pottery, Benoni (1953 – 1984).

Donations/Presentations
Donation from Mr Martin J Fennell
• Bambanani Bowl, a ceramic bowl encircled by six
women holding hands, made by Yolisa Booi, 2003.

Donation from Mr Joe de Beer
• Medium-sized vessel, decorated with bird motifs, by
Buzephi Magwaza, Nkandla, KwaZulu-Natal, 2014.
• Small decorated vessel by Lindumusa Mabaso
(b. 1956), Rorke’s Drift, KwaZulu-Natal, 2008.
• Medium-sized plain burnished vessel by Molelekoa
Simon Masilo (1936-2018), Katlehong Art
Centre, Johannesburg.

Heritage Day visitors to the Iziko Bo-Kaap Museum.

Learner from St Mary’s Primary school during a World Refugee Day
art making workshop.

• Medium-sized vessel with applied decoration by
Molelekoa Simon Masilo (1936 – 2018), Katlehong Art
Centre, Johannesburg.

• Barbara Tyrrell (1912 – 2015), Ricksha BoyMixed
media on paper 37,5 x 27 cm excl. frame,
53 x 42 x 3.5cm incl. frame.
• Barbara Tyrrell (1912 – 2015), Pondo Mixed media
on paper 37,5 x 27cm excl. frame, 53 x 42 x 3.5cm
incl. frame.
• Barbara Tyrrell (1912 – 2015), Basutho Mixed media
on paper 37,5 x 27cm excl. frame, 53 x 42 x 3.5 cm
incl. frame.

Donations by Rowland and Leta Hill Trust
• Earthenware vessel, turned body and curved neck,
made by Siyabonga Fani, 2018, acquired with Rowland
and Leta Hill Trust funding.
• Earthenware vessel, tall with curved neck and
carved decorative designs, made by Madoda Fani,
2017, acquired with Rowland and Leta Hill Trust
funding.
• Earthenware vessel, tall with architecturally inspired
decoration, made by Chuma Maweni, 2017, acquired
with Rowland and Leta Hill Trust funding.

Donation by Diane Victor and Atelier le
Grand Village
• Diane Victor (b. 1964), Leaving the Raft, VI/IIX, 2015,
Stone lithograph on paper, paper size 53 x 66 cm.

Donations by Mr Max Leipold
Donations by Frank and Lizelle Kilbourn
• Barbara Tyrrell (1912 – 2015), Swazi Mixed media on
paper, 37,5 x 27 cm excl. frame, 53 x 42 x 3.5 cm
incl. frame.
• Barbara Tyrrell (1912 – 2015), Zulu Mixed media on
paper 37,5 x 27 cm excl. frame, 53 x 42 x 3.5 cm
incl. frame.
• Barbara Tyrrell (1912 – 2015), Ndebele Mixed media
on paper 37,5 x 27 cm excl. frame, 53 x 42 x 3.5 cm
incl. frame.
• Barbara Tyrrell (1912 – 2015), Tal-Baca Mixed media
and assemblage on paper 37,5 x 27 cm excl. frame,
53 x 42 x 3.5 cm incl. frame.

• Unknown maker/Ivory Coast /Dan people Ceremonial
mask/(Feminine guardian of the initiation camp)
Wood, pigment (Mid-20th century) 25 cm x 14 cm.
• Unknown maker/Ivory Coast/Ghana/Baule people
Ceremonial mask after the original (The Baule
carved for tourist trade since 1900, as they were
renowned as excellent sculptors) Wood, red
pigments (Mid-20th century) 30 x 14,5 cm.
• Unknown maker/Ivory Coast /Dan people Ceremonial
mask (Fire guardian mask, used to alert community
of danger of fire), (Fire guardian mask, used to alert
community of danger of fire), Wood, metal (nails)
(Mid-20th century) 24 x 14 cm.
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Learners at the Iziko South African Museum during Marine week.

• Unknown maker /Ivory Coast / Dan/Guere people
Ceremonial mask (Feminine mask used in
entertainment) Wood, pigment (Mid-20th century)
23 x 14 cm.
• Unknown maker Maliian / possibly Baule Ceremonial
mask after the original with Baule features.
(The Baule carved for tourist trade since 1900, as
they were renowned as excellent sculptors). Wood,
pigment (Mid-20th century) 42cm x 16 cm.
• Unknown maker/Ivory Coast /Dan people Ceremonial
mask (Bird or beak mask used at ritual events)
Wood, metal, feathers, raphia palm fibre (Mid-20th
century) 34 x 16 cm.
• Unknown maker/Ivory Coast /Dan (Guro) people
Ceremonial mask (Made after the original in the
continuing tradition of Ivoirian wood carvers) Wood,
red pigments (Mid-20th century) 44 x 11 cm.
• Unknown maker/Ivory Coast /Dan people (N’Guere or
Bete ) Ceremonial mask (Bugle style) (Continues to
be used in ceremonial dances) Wood, pigment, metal
(nails) (Mid-20th century) 23 x 15 cm.
• Unknown maker/Kanyoke Mask (DRC) (Rare only 5 or 6
Known specimens) Wood, pigment (Mid-20th century).
• Unknown maker/Senufo Mask (Ivory Coast) Wood,
pigment (Mid-20th century).

Donations by Nicolette Duckham
• Desiree Picton-Seymour, (b. 1923 – d. 1991) Long
Street, Cape Town (1983), Etching on Paper

• Desiree Picton-Seymour, (b. 1923 – d. 1991) Long
Street, Cape Town (Not dated), Etching on Paper
• Desiree Picton-Seymour, (b. 1923 – d.1991) Glass
Theatre Undated, Etching on Paper.
• Desiree Picton-Seymour, (b. 1923 – d. 1991) Salt
River Shop 1984, Etching on Paper.
• Desiree Picton-Seymour, (b. 1923 – d. 1991) Untitled
• Undated, Scraperboard on paper.

Donations by Mr Lloyd Pollak
• Sheila Nowers (b. 1942), Portrait of Lloyd seated
on his sofa in his pyjamas reading (1997), [based
on Olympia (1863) by Edouard Manet], Miniature,
Watercolour and gouache on paper, 151 x 21 cm.
• Portrait of Lloyd Pollak in the nude lying on a sofa
(1998), [based on Mademoiselle O’Murphy (1751)
by Francois Boucher]Miniature, Watercolour
and gouache on paper 16.2 x 20.1 cm [sight
measurements].
• Portrait of Lloyd sorting slides for a lecture in his
Claremont home garden (2006), Miniature,
Watercolour and gouache on paper 20.7 x 15.4 cm
[sight measurements].
• The Critic’s Pen (Portrait of Lloyd standing before
a painting by Deborah Poynton at the Michael
Stevenson Gallery (2004) Miniature, Watercolour.
and gouache on paper 18.7 x 20.5 cm
[sight measurements].

Iziko Planetarium and Digital Dome show.

Iziko staff facilitating a group during the Easter Holiday Programme
at ISAM.

• Portrait of Principessa seated on a table with
ornaments (2011) Miniature,Watercolour and gouache
on paper 12.7 x 17.8 cm [sight measurements]
• Prelude to a Siesta (1983) Miniature, watercolour
and gouache on paper 9.4 x 6.8 cm [sight
measurements.

Social History Collections

Donation by Douglas Van Der Horst
• Tiny ceramic jug with handle, made at Flora Ann,
Robertsham, Johannesburg (1951 – 1972).

Natural History Acquisitions
Due to the large number of Natural History specimens
acquired they cannot be listed – a total of 6,318 natural
history specimens was acquired. 17 items were separately
acquired towards the end of the first quarter.

Loans
Outgoing loans
Art Collections
• Norval Foundation, Helen Sebidi artwork, material
and size description.
• Standard Bank Art Gallery, 8 Christo Coetzee
artworks, material and size description.
• Goodman Gallery of the Gerald Machona artwork
installation, Uri Afronaut.
• Wits Art Museum of 3 Albert Adams artworks,
Cape Town Harbour, Portrait of an Afghan Student
and Celebration.
• UCT Irma Stern Museum of a Self-Portrait by
Francois Roux.

• National Art Museum of China for the exhibition:
“Special exhibition of BRICS Alliance of art museums
and galleries”. The loan, administered by Social
History Collections, comprised 14 social history
collection objects and 12 art collections objects.
• UCT’s Centre for Curating the Archives student,
Ndeenda Shivute: Loaned 6 cameras and 1 video
recorder for her final Exams on the subject:
Exhibitions at, as part of her final exam, from 16 – 19
November 2018.
• University of the Witwatersrand, 5 Klasies River
Mouth bone artefacts to Prof. Sarah Wurz.
• University of Johannesburg, fauna artefacts from
the Archaeological site Bryneskop, Die Kelders,
Elands Bay cave and Nelson Bay cave to Dr Justin
Bradfield.
• !Khwa ttu San Heritage Centre, archaeological
material.
• West Coast Fossil Park, archaeological material.
• Prof. Sarah Wurz of University of Witwatersrand,
5 Klasies River Mouth bone artefacts, archaeological
sites Bryneskop, Die Kelders, Elands Bay cave and
Nelson Bay Cave, fauna artefacts.
• Ms Annelize Kotze, selection of Archaeological
material from the Teaching Collection.
• Ms Annelize Kotze, Sara Baartman crate.
• Prof Sarah Wurz, Klasies River Mouth archaeological
material.
• Ms Petro Keene of University of Witwatersrand,
Blombos cave material and Klasies River
Mouth material.
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Natural History Collections
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

University of Alicante
University of Split
Centre for Biodiversity Genomics
University of California
Agricultural Research for Development (CIRAD)
University of California
Charles University
Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada
National Museum of Natural History
Universidade Federal do Espirito Santo
Přírodovědecká fakulta Univerzity
South African Institute for Aquatic Biodiversity (SAIAB)
German Centre for Marine Biodiversity Research
Simon’s Town Museum
West Coast Fossil Park
Cape Nature
Ditsong National Museum of Natural History
Kirstenbosch
Smithsonian Natural Museum of Natural History
Smithsonian Institution
National Museum of Natural History
Smithsonian Institution
DAFF
Iziko
Australian Museum
NHM
Council for Geoscience
FFCLRP University de Sao Paulo
West Coast Fossil Park
Fraserburg Museum
Evolutionary Studies Institute
Iziko Museums of South Africa
University of Alicante
University of Split
Centre for Biodiversity Genomics
University of California
Agricultural Research for Development (CIRAD)
University of California
Charles University
Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada
National Museum of Natural History
Universidade Federal do Espirito Santo
Kirstenbosch
Smithsonian Natural Museum of Natural History
Smithsonian Institution
National Museum of Natural History
Smithsonian Institution

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Agricultural Research for Development (CIRAD)
FFCLRP University de Sao Paulo
AfriBugs cc
Tel Aviv University
California Academy of Sciences
University of Novi Sad
Louisiana State University
South African Institute for Aquatic Biodiversity
(SAIAB)
Australian Museum
Council for Geoscience
German Centre for Marine Biodiversity Research
DAFF
NHM
Simon’s Town Museum
Cape Nature
UCT

Incoming loans
Art Collections
• 70 artworks in the form of photographic prints,
digital images, a video and installation, were
borrowed from 20 lenders for the exhibition Not the
Usual Suspects (Photo Market Workshop, Afronova
Gallery and Lebohang Kganye, Kresiah Mukwazhi,
Claire Rousell, Ruth Seopedi, Monique Pelser,
Kgorapetse Mosimane, Sally Shorkend, Cora Portals,
Davina Jogi, Golden Dean, Gulshan Khan, Keran
Ruth Elah, Jenny Gordon, Lauren Mulligan, Michelle
Loukidis, Nidaa Husain, Nina Bekink, Bongiwe
Mchunu, Jody Brand).
• Standard Bank Art Gallery, 13 Igshaan Adams
artworks.

Social History Collections
None

Natural History Collections
None

6.7 Peer-reviewed
Publications
• Govender R. (2018). Extension of the geographic range
of Homiphoca into Northern Cape Province, South
Africa, with comments on the possible feeding
strategies used by Homiphoca. Journal of Vertebrate
Paleontology. DOI:10.1080/02724634.2018.1463536

• Marusik Y.M. & Larsen N. (2018). A synopsis of African
Metellina (Aranei, Tetragnathidae, Metainae) with
description of a new species from South Africa. Vestnik
zoologii, 52(3): 553–556 DOI:10.2478/vzoo-2018-0021.
• Quicke D.L. J, Koch F., Broad G.R., Bennett A.M.R.,van
Noort S., Hebert P.D.N., Butcher B.A. (2018). A new
species of Rhytimorpha Szépligeti (Hymenoptera:
Braconidae: Braconinae) from Israel. Zoology in the
Middle East. DOI:10.1080/09397140.2018.1470301
• Azevedo C.O., van Noort S. & Notton D.G. (2018).
Rediscovery of Disepyris semiruber (Kieffer) comb.
nov. (Hymenoptera: Bethylidae) in Southern Africa,
with first description of its male. Journal of Natural
History 52:23-24, 1537-1549, DOI:10.1080/00222933.2
018.1478997
• Cooper J., Boshoff J., Harboe-Ree C. & Van Niekerk T.
(2018). The wreck of the Norwegian sealer Solglimt
on sub-Antarctic Marion Island: an ongoing archaeological
and historical investigation. In: Historical Antarctic
sealing industry. Proceedings of an international
conference in Cambridge 16 – 21 September 2016”.
Cambridge: Scott Polar Research Institute, Occasional
Publication Series. pp 95 – 100. 224 ISBN: 978-0901021-26-7
• Mbanyana N., Garcia F.H., Robertson H.G., Le Roux J.J.
2018). A taxonomic revision of seed harvester ants
of the Tetramorium solidum group (Hymenoptera:
Formicidae) in southern Africa. European Journal of
Taxonomy, 454: 1 - 59n. DOI:10.5852/ejt.2018.454.
• Klinghardt G.P. (2018). Sacred heritage and the
politics of similarity. Studia Historicae Ecclesiasticae.
DOI:10.25159/2412-4265/4138
• van Noort S. & Triapitsyn S.V. (2018). Revision of the
Polynema dikobraz species-group (Hymenoptera,
Chalcidoidea, Mymaridae) with description of a
remarkable new species from South Africa. ZooKeys
783: 67-84. DOI: 10.3897/zookeys.783.26872
• Owen C.A., Coetzee J.A., van Noort S. & Compton S.
(2018). Nest site choice by the intertidal spider Desis
formidabilis (Araneae: Desidae) and nest utilisation
by its unusual hymenopteran egg parasitoid. Ecological
Entomology DOI:10.1111/een.12675
• Cohen B.F. & Kibii, J.M. (2018). Taphonomy of a novel
small carnivore: experimental analysis of honey badger
(Mellivora capensis) modifications on leporid prey.
Archaeological and Anthropological Sciences,
pp 1 – 19. DOI:10.1007/s12520-018-0673-z

• Valenciano A., Abella J., Alba D.M., Robles J.M.,
Álvarez-Sierra M.A. & Morales J. (2018). New Early
Miocene Material of Iberictis, the Oldest Member
of the Wolverine Lineage (Carnivora, Mustelidae,
Guloninae). Journal of Mammalian Evolution, pp 1 21.
DOI:10.1007/s10914-018-9445-x
• Matthew V. & Mtshali S. (2018). Assessing the
Durability of Oldowan Stone Tools in South Africa:
Implications for Quartz Selectivity and Use in South
Africa. Lithic Technology, Volume 43, 2018. DOI:10.10
80/01977261.2018.1516721
• Klinger H.C. (2018). The name Stoliczkaia NEUMAYR,
1875 (Cephalopoda: Ammonoidea). Neues Jahrbuch
für Geologie und Paläontologie-Abhandlungen,
289(3), 349-350. DOI:10.1127/njgpa/2018/0785
• Buffington M.L., Copeland R.S., van Noort S. (2018).
Revision of Afroserphus Masner (Hymenoptera:
Proctotrupidae) with the description of two new
species. Proceedings of the Entomological Society of
Washington. DOI:10.4289/0013-8797.120.4.687
• Santos B.F., Alvarado M., Sääksjärvi I.E., van Noort S.,
Villemant C. & Brady S.G. (2018). Molecular phylogeny
of Ateleutinae (Hymenoptera: Ichneumonidae):
systematics and biogeography of a widespread
parasitoid wasp lineage. Zoological Journal of the
Linnaean Society. DOI:10.1093/zoolinnean/zly072
• Davison P. (2018). The Politics and Poetics of the
Bushman Diorama at the South African Museum.
ICOFOM Study Series, (46), pp 81 – 97. https://
journals.openedition.org/iss/921
• Bam J., Van Sitters B. & Ndhlovu B. (2018). Considerations
towards establishing equitable stakeholder partnerships
for transformation in higher education in South
Africa: A review of the challenges, constraints and
possibilities in working on pre-colonial history.
Whose History Counts? Decolonising Pre-Colonial
Historiography. African Sun Media. Chapter 9,
pp 155 – 179. DOI:10.18820/9781928314127
• da Costa L.T., Powell C., van Noort S., Costa C., Sinno M.,
Caleca V., Rhode C., Kennedy R.J., van Staden M., van
Asch B. (2018). The complete mitochondrial genome
of Bactrocera biguttula (Bezzi) (Diptera: Tephritidae)
and phylogenetic relationships with other Dacini.
International Journal of Biological Macromolecules.
DOI:10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2018.12.186
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Rainbow Academy performing in the Whale Well at ISAM on International Museum Day.

• Rubidge B.S., Govender R. & Romano M. (2019). The
postcranial skeleton of the basal tapinocephalid
dinocephalian Tapinocaninus pamelae (Synapsida:
Therapsida) from the South African Karoo
Supergroup, Journal of Systematic Palaeontology.
DOI:10.1080/14772019.2018.1559244
• van den Bosch K., van Noort S. & Cron G.V. (2019).
Predation of fruit and seed of Aloe pretoriensis – a
little known effect on reproductive output. Austral
Ecology. DOI:10.1111/aec.12705.
• Govender R. (2019). Fossil cetaceans from Duinefontein
(Koeberg) an early Pliocene site on the southwestern
Cape, South Africa. Palaeontologia Electronica.
DOI:10.26879/673
• Boshoff J. (2019). Maritime Archaeology in South Africa.
Springer, The Encyclopedia of Global Archaeology.
DOI:10.1007/978-3-319-51726-1_593-2
• Antonites A., Bhebhe S., Copeland A., Chaterera F.,
Chigwada J.P., Chiparausha B., Ghilardi R., Kalusopa
T., Keakopa S.M., Khumalo N.B., Law M.Z., Mafube
A.M., Massi R.M., Maturure R., Moahi K.H., Mosweu
O., Mosweu T.L., Mukwevho J., Ndhlovu B.C., Nel J.,
Ngoepe M., Ngulube B., Ngulube P., Piancatelli C.,
Rodrigues A., Saurombe N., Saidi U., Yoon A., Zibani P.
(2019). Handbook of Research on Advocacy, Promotion,
and Public Programming for Memory Institutions,
Advances in Public Policy and Administration (APPA)
Book Series, ISBN: 978152257430. DOI:10.4018/978-15225-7429-3

• Peecook B.R., Smith R.M.H., Sidor C.A. (2019). A novel
archosauromorph from Antarctica and an updated
review of a high-latitude vertebrate assemblage
in the wake of the end-Permian mass extinction.
Journal of Vertebrate Paleontology. DOI:10.1080/027
24634.2018.1536664
• Morales J., Mayda S., Valenciano A., DeMiguel D. and
Kaya T. (2019). A new Lophocyonidae Izmirictis cani
gen. nov. et sp. nov. (Carnivora, Mammalia) from
the Lower Miocene of Turkey. Journal of Systematic
Palaeontology. DOI:10.1080/14772019.2018.15290001
0.1080/14772019.2018.1529000
• Black W., Cole C.C., Thebele W., Mosothwane
M.N., Omar R. & Silvester J. (2019). “Who Were
They? Repatriation and the Rehumanisation of
Human Remains in Museums in Southern Africa”. In
Museums and Communities: Diversity, Dialogue and
Collaborationin an Age of Migrations, pp 308 – 321,
edited by Viv Golding and Jen Walklate, Cambridge
Scholars Publishing, Newcastle upon Tyne.
• Cohen B.F., O’Regan H.F., Steininger C.M. (2019).
Mongoose Manor: Herpestidae remains from the
Early Pleistocene Cooper’s D locality in the Cradle of
Humankind, Gauteng, South Africa http://wiredspace.
wits.ac.za/handle/10539/26300
• Valenciano A., Mayda S. & Alpagut B. (2019). First record
of Lartetictis (Carnivora, Mustelidae, Lutrinae) in
Turkey from the middle Miocene hominoid locality of
Paşalar. Historical Biology DOI:10.1080/08912963.201
9.1588894

Plantearium show Polaris.

Assistant Educator, Anton van Wyk, facilitating active play in
the Discovery Room during the December holiday programme.

6.8 Other Research
Publications, Brochures

6.9 Education

• Lubkemann C.C., Boshoff J., and Gardullo P. ‘The
Shipwrecked Slaver’ in Dig into History Magazine
May – June 2018.
• Al-Khalaf A.A., van Noort S., Compton S.G. (2018).
Fig wasps and fig trees in Saudi Arabia. King Saud
University Press, Riyadh, 75 pp
ISBN: 978-603-02-7432-1
• Proud H. 2018. ‘Bridges to the Present: Zimbabwean
Painting at the Crossroads’, in (eds. Sven Christian
and Tandazani Dhlakama) Five Bhobh: Painting at
the End of an Era, Zeitz Museum of Contemporary
Art Africa: Cape Town, pp 88 – 105.
ISBN: 978-0-6399610-0-2.
• Liu, W.P.A. & Janion-Scheepers C. (2018). Discovering
the Giants under our feet. Rostrum, December 2018.
Entomological Society of Southern Africa. Van Noort
S. Sasol First Field Guide to Butterflies and Moths
of Southern Africa. Struik Nature, Cape Town, 57 pp
ISBN 9781775846970
• Proud H. Stanley Pinker’s ‘Somewhere in Cloud Cuckoo
Land’. Aspire Auctions sale catalogue, March 2019,
pp 48 – 49.
• Proud H. Kevin Atkinson’s ‘Golden Seven’ (1976 – 77),
Aspire auctions sale catalogue, March 2019, pp 28 – 29.

Education Brochures/ Worksheets/
Resource Packs
EPP produced 82 resources in the form of worksheets,
lesson plans, activity sheets, and awareness material
for schools and the public. Museums as sites of learning
add value to classroom practice and offer the general
public heritage awareness through its art, history, science,
astronomy, technology programmes; commemorative
day celebrations and summer school programmes. All
our school materials are aligned to the Department
of Education’s curriculum, and address various topics
and themes.

Art
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Gallery Worksheet
Intersexion Education Resource
Print Promises Learner Guide;
Gallery Hunt Practical Worksheet
Gallery Hunt Theory Worksheet
Worksheet Foundation phase 1
Worksheet Foundation phase 2
Worksheet Foundation phase 3
Not the Usual Suspects learner Resource
Grade 4 - 5 Worksheets
Grade 6 - 7 Worksheets
TRIBUTE learner booklet
Gallery Hunt (Holiday Programme)
GRADE 4 - 5 WORKSHEET
GRADE 6 - 7 WORKSHEET
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Iziko curator, Hayden Proud, addressing guests at the African Masks update to the exhibition:
Hidden Treasures.

Natural History
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Vertebrates and Invertebrates
Penguin activities for Penguin Workshop
Penguin sheet with info for Penguin Workshop
Horns, Tusks and Antlers
Horns, Tusks and Antlers Activity and Worksheet
General Tour Worksheet
Vertebrates and Invertebrates
Heritage Week Activity Sheet
Rocks and Mineral Worksheet
Dinosaur Posters

Social History
• Word Game: 10 Questions – Memo, Grade
5 - ANCIENT EGYPT
• Word Game: 10 Questions – Memo, Grade 4 – CASTLE
• The firing of a canon – Memo, Grade 5 – CASTLE
• 4 The Mat House – Memo, Grade 4 – KHOIKHOI
• Vocabulary, True & False, Grade 5-KHOIKHOI
• Word Game: 10 Questions – Memo, Grade 4 and
5 – PLACES OF WORSHIP
• Word Game: 10 Questions Memo, Grade 7 – SLAVERY
• Blokraai & Memo, Graad 7 – SLAWERNY
• Gedigte, Graad 7 – SLAWERNY
• Slawename, Memo, Graad 7 – SLAWERNY
• Edward de Bono hat theory & Golden Ratio worksheet
• Renaming of Slaves Memo grade 7
• Activity grade 4
• Communication – Word Game

• Algemeene Toer for grad 5, Historical Walk,
Archaeology, History of Medicine, Communication,
Ancient Egypt, Slavery, Slaverny
• Worksheet – Communication, Slavery, Democracy
Historical Walk
• Worksheet – Historical Walk
• Historical Walk
• Slavery at the Cape
• Khoikhoi
• Historical Walk x 5
• Slavery at the Cape x 2
• Khoikhoi x 1
• Ancient Egypt x 2
• Then and Now x 1
• Slawerny aan die Kaap x 1
• Slavery at the Cape 5 x
• Historical Walk x 6
• Rural Slavery at the Cape: Groot Constantia 1685 x 1
• Iziko What’s On brochure Jan-March 2019 x 1
• Art and craft skills Easter holiday workshop:
Theme: Glitter bunnies & clay craft x1
• AFRIKAANS AS INDIGENOUS LANGUAGE

Presentation
• Heritage Investigative Grade 10 task; Slavery in
Cape Town 1658 – 1804
• Erfenis Taak Graad 10; Stedelike Kaapse Slawerny
1658 – 1804
• Urban Slavery in Cape Town
• Koopmans De Wet Heritage Task
• Kaapse Afrikaans

Musical perfromance in the Whale Well at ISAM
on Africa Day

Young members of the public marveling at the wonders of the
ocean on Heritage Day at ISAM.

Planetarium
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Monthly Sky Map April 2018
Monthly Sky Map May 2018
Monthly Sky Map June 2018
Holiday workshop – Sirius about Rockets
Sky Map July 2018
Holiday workshop – Sirius about Rockets
Sky Map August 2018
Sky Map September 2018
Sky Map October 2018
Sky Map November 2018
Sky Map December 2018
Holiday Workshop – Sirius about Rockets
Kaloucka’ hina – slide show
Life of trees – slide show
Kaloucka’ hina – worksheet
Life of trees – worksheet
Sky Map January 2019
Sky Map February 2019
Sky Map March 2019
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Sandra Eastwood assists adults with visual impairments on a tactile walkabout
of the Standard Bank Young Artist of the Year exhibition.

6.10 Visitor Statistics
Museums

2018/19

Bertram House

Closed

Bo-Kaap Museum

20,433

Groot Constantia

51,724

Koopmans-de Wet House

641

Michaelis Collection

Closed

Rust en Vreugd

822

Maritime Centre

4,844

South African Museum

131,224

South African National Gallery

36,549

Slave Lodge

40,419

William Fehr Collection

115,795

Planetarium school shows

34,722

Planetarium public shows

45,497

EPP

45,739

TOTAL VISITORS

528,409

Exploration of the Social History Centre Archive
as part of the Behind the Scence Career Workshop.

Learners discovering the Marine Biology Collection on
International Museum Day.

Visitors

2017/18

2018/19

Paying visitors (including Planetarium public and school shows)

408,253

38,0207

Education school groups

43,251

45,739

Free Commemorative Days

45,257

31,493

Special Events: Museum Night

13,879

Concessions (as per prior approval)

13,641

19,541

Children 5 and under

10,777

13,361

Students on designated free day (Friday)

3,436

3,519

Pensioners on designated free day (Friday)

1,009

864

Friends organisations

441

330

ICOM/SAMA cardholders

150

97

Tour guides accompanying tourists

7,053

4,984

Functions

1,880

933

Media

101

66

Educators

708

1,254

Courtyard Project Concessions to ISANG

4,924

6,689

Planetarium free Adult

313

269

Planetarium free Child

99

228

Venue hire

3,877

4,562

Restaurant

106

394

SUBTOTAL

545,669

528,409

Mobile Museum and other outreach

19,180

17,208

TOTAL

564,849

545,617

Outreach
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Website activity

Visitors 2018/19

Page Views 2018/19

Iziko website

244,591

244,591

Figweb website

35,548

93,243

Waspweb website

38,732

108,542

*Biodiversity Explorer website

n/a

n/a

* Biodiversity Explorer is currently on-line, and hosted as part of the Iziko web maintenance contract. The statistical tracking on the website
however, has not yet been updated therefore there is no current information about the number of website visitors or page views.

Online Visitor Footprint

2017/18

2018/19

Iziko website

242,346

244,591

Iziko Facebook fans

9,031

11,487

Iziko Twitter followers

4,711

5,886

6.11 Materiality and Significance Framework for the
2018/2019 Financial Year
Definitions and standards
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Audited financial statements: 2018/2019 (AFS)
Approved annual budget: 2018/2019 (AAB)
Approved strategic plan: 2015/2016 to 2019/2020 (ASP)
Event: An activity that has the elements of income and expenditure
Trading venture: An activity that has the elements of buying and selling of products and/or services
Total income: Total income excluding the income from events and trading ventures
Total expenditure: Total expenditure excluding event and trading venture expenditure

Applicable sections of the PFMA
•
•
•
•

Section
Section
Section
Section

50(1)
55(2)
54(2)
66(1)

Treasury regulation
• 28.1.5

Framework
4.1 Section 50: Fiduciary Duties of the
Accounting Authority

Value (Quantitative)

Nature of Event (Qualitative)

(a) Any unbudgeted transaction of
which the amount exceeds 1% of the
total value of assets per AFS

(a) Any unplanned event that
affects the core purpose or
mandate of entity per the ASP

(b) Any budgeted event where
income is a legitimate expectation,
where the actual income is less than
5% of the total expenditure

(b) Any activity that is outside the
parameters of each public entity’s
enabling legislation

(1) Accounting authority must:
(c) on request, disclose to the Executive
Authority responsible, all material facts which
in any way may influence the decisions or
actions of the Executive Authority

(c) Any trading venture where
income is exceeded by expenditure
by more than 0,5% of income
(d) Total actual income is less than
budgeted income by more than
0,5% of budgeted income
(e) Total actual expenditure is more
than budgeted income by more than
5% of budgeted expenditure

4.2 Section 54: Information to be
Submitted by the Accounting Authority

Value (Quantitative)

Nature of Event (Qualitative)

(b) participation in a significant partnership,
trust, unincorporated joint venture or similar
arrangement

N/A

Any unplanned event, per the ASP,
that may affect the core purpose
or mandate of the entity

(c) acquisition of disposal of a significant
shareholding in a company

N/A

Any unplanned event, per the ASP,
that may affect the core purpose
or mandate of the entity

(d) acquisition or disposal of a significant asset

Any transaction of which the
amount exceeds 1% of the total
value of assets per AFS

Any unplanned event, per the ASP,
that may affect the core purpose
or mandate of the entity

(e) commencement or cessation of a significant
business activity

Any transaction of which the
amount exceeds 1% of the total
value of assets per AFS

Any unplanned event, per the ASP,
that may affect the core purpose
or mandate of the entity

(2) before a public entity concludes any of
the following transactions, the Accounting
Authority for the entity must promptly, and
in writing, inform the relevant treasury of the
transaction and submit relevant particulars of
the transaction to its Executive Authority for
approval of the transaction:
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4.3 Section 55: Annual Report and Annual
Financial Statements

Value (Quantitative)

Nature of Event (Qualitative)

(a) Any loss of which the amount
exceeds 1% of the total value of
assets per AFS

Any unplanned loss, per the ASP,
that may affect the core purpose
or mandate of the entity

(3) the annual report and financial statements
must:
(b) include particulars of:
(i) any material losses through criminal conduct
and,

(b) Any loss of a National Estate as
defined in section 3 of the National
Heritage Resources Act, 1999 (Act
No. 25 of 1999)
any irregular expenditure and fruitless and
wasteful expenditure that occurred during the
year

All

All

(iii) any losses recovered or written off

All

All

4.4 Section 66: Restrictions on
Borrowing, Guarantees and Other
Commitments

Value (Quantitative)

Nature of Event (Qualitative)

Iziko may not enter into any financial
commitment beyond its approved budgets and
its accumulated reserves

N/A

N/A
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Abbreviations/ Acronyms
ABET Adult Basic Education and Training
AC Art Collections
AFCP Ambassador’s Fund for Cultural Preservation
AFS Annual Financial Statements
A-G Auditor-General
AGSA Auditor-General of South Africa
ASB Accounting Standards Board
ASP Approved Strategic plan
AVE Advertising Value Equivalent
BASA Business and Arts South Africa
CAM Commonwealth Association of Museums
CATHSSETA Culture, Arts, Tourism, Hospitality and Sport
Sector Education & Training Authority
CCMA Commission for Conciliation, Mediation and
Arbitration
CCTV Closed Circuit Television
CEO Chief Executive Officer
CFO Chief Financial Officer
CMS Content Management System
COE Centre of Excellence in Palaeosciences
CPI Consumer Price Index
CPUT Cape Peninsula University of Technology
CSD Central Supplier Database
DAC Department of Arts and Culture
DCAS Western Cape Government; Department of Cultural
Affairs and Sport
DoE Western Cape Government; Department of Education
DPW Department of Public Works
DST Department of Science and Technology
EAP Employee Assistance Programme
EBCR Existing Building Condition Report
EECF Employment Equity Consultative Forum
Exco Corporate Governance and Compliance Committee
FET Further Education and Training
GAAP Generally Accepted Accounting Practice
GET General Education and Training
GRAP Generally Recognised Accounting Practice
HTML Hypertext Markup Language
HR Human Resources (department)
IAS International Accounting Standard
IBH Iziko Bertram House
IBKM Iziko Bo-Kaap Museum
ICA Institute for Creative Arts (previously GIPCA)
ICOM-SA International Council of Museums, South Africa
ICT Information and Communication Technology
IKdW Iziko Koopmans-de Wet House
IKS Indigenous Knowledge Systems
IMC Iziko Maritime Centre
IMD International Museum Day
IMM Iziko Mobile Museum
IOTH Iziko Michaelis Collection at the Old Town House
IR&V Iziko Rust en Vreugd
ISAM Iziko South African Museum
ISANG Iziko South African National Gallery
ISHC Iziko Social History Centre

ISL Iziko Slave Lodge
IT Information Technology
IWFC Iziko William Fehr Collection
KZN Kwa-Zulu Natal
LSEN Learners with special education needs
MAP Meaningful Access Programme
MTEF Medium-term Expenditure Framework
M&E Monitoring and Evaluation
NH Natural History
NHC National Heritage Council
NHC Natural History Collections
NLC National Lotteries Commission
NMAAHC National Museum of African American History
and Culture
NPO Non-Profit Organisation
NRF National Research Foundation
NSF National Science Foundation
OBIS Ocean Biogeographic Information Systems
OH&S Occupational Health and Safety
PAA Public Audit Act
PAST Palaeontological Scientific Trust
PBO Public Benefit Organisation
PFMA Public Finance Management Act
PPPFA Preferential Procurement Policy Framework Act
POS Point of Sale
REF Risk Equalisation Fund
SAAO South African Astronomical Observatory
SAASTA South African Agency for Science and
Technology Advancement
SAASTEC South African Association of Science and
Technology Centres
SAIAB South African Institute for Aquatic Biodiversity
SABIF South African Biodiversity Information Facility
SAHRA South African Heritage Resources Agency
SAMA South African Museums Association
SANBI South African National Biodiversity Institute
SCM Supply Chain Management
SDA Skills Development Act
SFI Southern Flagship Institution
SH Social History
SHC Social History Collections
SITA State Information Technology Agency
SMAC Stellenbosch Modern and Contemporary Art
Gallery
SMT Senior Management Team
SRI Social Responsibility Initiatives
SS Support Services (department)
SUN University of Stellenbosch
UIF Unemployment Insurance Fund
UCT University of Cape Town
UWC University of the Western Cape
VOIP Voice Over Internet Protocol
WCA Workmen’s Compensation Assurance
WCED Western Cape Education Department
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“Sticks in a Bundle are Unbreakable.” – African proverb

Re-imagining Iziko Museums of South Africa
It is the vision of Iziko Museums of South Africa to be African Museums of Excellence and we are
continuously making every effort to achieve this outcome.
In post-colonial societies across the world, the call to decolonise museums and heritage sites, and to
remove national symbols of oppression like monuments and statues from public spaces is being answered.
Iziko has heeded the call to assess, transform and de-colonise our museums. We realise that there are no
quick-fix solutions to this critical process, and that we are not equipped to do it alone. We therefore value
active discussions and debates with all stakeholders and interested parties, and are open to re-imagining
our museum spaces in an inclusive manner. By changing the gaze, and offering content that emphasises
the value of Africanness, we are transforming our museums into spaces in which a diverse but unified
national heritage is located.
Though the subject matter of our exhibitions and programmes is sometimes controversial and often
deals withuncomfortable issues, we nonetheless push the boundaries, urging critical introspection.
In daring to re-imagine our Museum, we are promoting social cohesion, and helping to create a generation
of reflective and engaged citizens who are not afraid to challenge norms out of touch with a progressive,
democratic society, or to use their voices to expedite change.
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